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The main emphasis of the work at St Antony’s College,
Oxford, since its foundation in 1950 has been in the fields
of modern history and international affairs. The College
organizes a number of regular Seminars at which are read
papers produced by its members in the course of their
research or by visiting experts from other institutions. The
College further sponsors the delivery of lectures in Oxford
by scholars of international reputation in their respective
fields.

An appreciable volume of contribution to scholarship is
thus being produced under the auspices of St Antony’s,
and the present series has been started in order to preserve
and present a selection of this work. The series is not, how-
ever, confined to this material alone and includes contri-
butions from other places.

Three numbers a year are issued and each number is
devoted to a particular topic or a particular part of the
world.






GEORGE KATKOQOV
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THE KRONSTADT RISING






FOREWORD

This survey of the history of the Kronstadt uprising is based on
published material which, although not easily available to the
general public, is accessible to the historian in the West; a new
light on what happened in Kronstadt in March 1921 may be
thrown when and if the Soviet Archives are opened for impar-
tial historical investigation. The Kronstadt rising, or, as 1t is
called in the Soviet Union—with an innuendo—the Kronstadt
mutiny, started on March 2nd 1921. Sixteen days later it was
all over after a fierce and bloody battle on the ice of the Gulf of
Finland. It was crushed with considerable loss of life on both
sides by Red Army crack troops and Red Cadet Detachments
(Kursanty), whose morale was boosted by some three hundred
delegates to the Tenth Congress of the Communist Party (then
meeting in Moscow) who were specially dispatched to Petro-
grad. The records of the events of those fateful days are scanty,
and those that exist are often inaccurate. Indeed, they are
mostly lies, wicked lies and pious ones. The mere fact that these
lics are still repeated now, more than thirty years after the events,
both in textbooksof history and in serious monographs that claim
scholarly impartiality, shows that the occurrences of 1921 ha}ve
not yetlost their political significance and that the conflicts, which
called them into being, have not yet been resolved or outlived.

Testing the reliability of the reports on Kronstadt and the
soundness of the various interpretations of them, I have found
a relatively easy task. Much greater difficulties will beset the
historian inquisitive enough to enquire how deep and how per-
manent were the political and soplal conﬂ}cts which brought
about this eruption, how far reaching were 1ts consequences for
the political development of Soviet Russia.

In his The Bolshevik Revolution 1917-1923 E. H. Carr dismigges
the Kronstadt rising in one sentence. Speaking of the discop.-
tent with the régime, which in 1921 became widespread and
vocal for the first time outside political circles, and which
spread both to peasants and factory workers, he remarks that
“the Kronstadt mutiny of the beginning of March 1921 was jts
expression and its symbol”. A close study of what happened in
Kronstadt seems however to point towards something 5 great
deal more significant than this. The Kronstadt Tising was a mani-

festation of the struggle between on the one side a government
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which had set out to achieve political ends in opposition to the
will and interests of large revolutionary masses and, on the
other side, those masses to whose support, active and passive,
this government owed its existence. The fateful proceedings
of the Tenth Congress of the Communist Party in Moscow,
which took place during the time of the Kronstadt rising, show
that the desire to tame and ‘“‘educate” these masses into submis-
siveness was a major factor in the formulation of the policy of
the Communist rulers of Russia. The way that Soviet historians
and politicians have treated the Kronstadt rising clearly shows
that they consider it politically dangerous to interpret the
rising as the result of a conflict between the Communist Govern-
ment and the revolutionary masses. The official legend they
tried to establish is an early example of historical falsification
by Soviet historians intended to conceal and to gloss over the
Importance of that popular resistance of which, as Mr Carr
says, Kronstadt was ‘an expression and a symbol’.

In the case of Kronstadt their task of laying a smoke screen
has not been an easy one. The proceedings of the Tenth Con-
gress clearly show the sense of extreme danger which dominated
Lenin and his team at that moment. They show that the deci-
slons taken at that Congress were to a great extent dictated by
this sense of emergency. I shall show that Lenin introduced
some of the important measures inaugurated at that Congress
Just because he so clearly realized the real dangers of the situa-
tion, although the actual words he used about it were often
untrue and disingenuous. This brings us to a further lesson that
the Kronstadt rising could teach an unbiased historian. This is
that many Soviet measures and many of the twists of the Party

ne have been dictated, as in 1921, by the requirements of the
Unceasing struggle against the opposition of the Russian revolu-
?}?nal‘y masses to the programme of the Communist Party; and
e x?t’ €very time this has been the case, 2 Sata Morgana of non-
masgent dangers from imaginary enemies has been invoked and
COulg 3s plausible as the whole of the propaganda machine

Of tmake it in order to conceal the leadgrshlp’s real motives.

mnsta‘il"anogs accounts and interpretations of the events at
passages t particular mention should be made of the relevant
IS 2 s, lri Fedotqﬁ.'-White’s The Growth of the Red Army. This
tary asPeccrty exposition, and what I have to say about the ;r}lhi
side T haye of the conflict is largely based on it. On the politica
without wha special debt of gratitude to Mr Leonard Schapiro,
the material o advice and assistance in tracking down some of

- erial this study would never have been completed.
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I
THE RUSSIA OF 1921

1921 marked the end of the Civil War and of foreign interven-
tion in Russia. It is significant that the independent Menshevik
Government in Georgia embarked from the port of Batum for
its exile in the West on the very day when the final battle of
Kronstadt was fought. For the first time the Soviet Government
could claim virtual control over the whole territory of the
R.S.I".S.R. It could now take stock of its unique position as the
only Socialist government in the world, and begin to build up
its diplomatic relations. And yet for the new rul?rs of Russia
1921 was no time for jubilation or relaxation. Agnqultural and
industrial production had dropped to a mere fraction of what
it had been before the Revolution. Losses in human life had
been enormous under the combined cﬂ'ect of war, starvation
and epidemic. Transport was disorganized to an unheard-of
degree, and this in the winter of 1920/21 brought with it a
critical fuel shortage in the larger cities. The production of oil
had fallen to one third, of coal to one sixth, of cotton to one fifth,
of flax to one sixth, of sugar-beet to one quarter and of cast iron
to one twentieth of what it had been in 1916. The purchasing
power of the Petrograd workers’ pay packet was down to less
than one tenth of what it had been before World War I. Ungler
these conditions the depopulation of the towns was prgce?d}n
rapidly and on an enormous scale. P.etrograd,'_Wlth 1ts 23 million
inhabitants in 1917, was a town of just OVer 700,000 four yearg
later. . . .

Against this background of economic CTISIS social tensjgng
developed. The Civil War united the town proletariat led b
the Communist Party and large masses of otherwise Pohticall
disinterested peasants who were ready to fight the White armies
out of fear of losing the land they had seized in 1917, With the
end of the Civil War, this unity of peasants ?nsl‘ proletarig
to an end. As a contemporary author put it: “After the
over the White-Guardists, the peasantry ceased.to feel th
need for a proletarian state, which had been an importan

t came
Victo

€ acute

e t fact,
in the struggle against the militant landlords who were ﬁghgi r?r
to retain their grip on the land.” * All strata of Peasantry lmitecgl

1 Quoted by Pukhov (see Bibliographical note) from A. Shepkgy. Kr
Mpyatezh (Moskva-Leningrad 1924). onshtadysky

I3
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in opposing the wholesale requisition of their surplus produce
(prodrazverstka), which was an essential part of War Communism.
Within the ranks of the industrial proletariat itself tensions
and splits began to appear. The wages of industrial workers
were far below the living minimum, and had to be supple-
mented by distribution of food. Workers were divided into
groups and categories, some of whom received privileged
rations. This arrangement could and did lead to abuse and to
bitter feelings. Another serious grievance was the use by the
authorities of the Labour Army (Trudarmeitsi). This was an in-
vention of Trotsky, and consisted of labour detachments made
up of men ‘voluntarily’ drafted direct from the Red Army (now
that the Civil War was over); they were posted to plants where
workers’ discontent threatened to lead to strikes. They were
thus, in intention, strike breakers. Absenteeism had become
common in all the factories. This was caused partly by private
expeditions of workers into the country in order to buy or barter
from the peasants. On their way home these “sackbearers’”
(meshekniki) were liable to be stopped by “road-block detach-
ments” (zagraditelnye otryady) which would confiscate the food
on the grounds that it should have been delivered to the state,
and charge the workers with “speculation’. Resentment against
the “road-block detachments’ and their arbitrary ways found
expression in nearly all the resolutions passed by workers during
the Petrograd disturbances in late February 1921.
. The Communist Party itself, under the leadership of the ail-
ing Lenin, was far from united. Within the Party a group had
emerged under the leadership of Shlyapnikov and Madame
Kollontai, calling itself the ‘Workers Opposition’, which op-
posed the dictatorial methods of the leadership in enforcing
Party discipline. In Petrograd a kind of private undeclared war
Was in progress between Trotsky and Zinoviev and their respec-
tive henchmen over paramount influence in the naval bases and
shore establishments. The chain of authority was neither clearly
efined nor universally accepted. Zinoviev, as Chairman of the
Petrograq Soviet, desired the subordination to his Soviet of all
2arty and administrative organizations in that area, whether
Cvilian, naval or military. Trotsky insisted on his right, as
.Pe0p.1(?’s Commissar of Defence, to control Party organizations
In military and naval establishments. He had successfully reor-
ganized the Red Army in the struggle against the Whites and
f°¥elgn Intervention. He had abolished in the Army the com-
mittee system (under which orders were debated and voted on

In regimental Soviets). In its place he had introduced rigid dis-
14



THE KRONSTADT RISING

cipline, the enforcement of absolute obedience to the commands
of officers, and a strict control of these officers by political com-
missars. In 1920 he began to introduce similar measures into
the Navy. There was opposition from the sailors who were not
used to such regimentation and saw no object in it now that the
fighting was over; and also, surreptitiously, from Zinoviev who
feared the increase in Trotsky’s influence in the area.

Strong dissatisfaction with the activities of the Political
Administration of the Baltic Fleet (Pubalt) was voiced not long
after Trotsky’s appointments of Raskolnikov and Baltis as its
chiefs in 1921. On February 15th 1921 the second Communist
Conference of the Baltic Fleet passed a resolution condemning
the work of the Pubalt, accusing it of “losing contact with the
masses” and of causing large-scale defections in the rank and
file of the Communist Party.2 The fall in membership of the
Party was, however, at that time not .restrlcted to the Navy, for,
according to contemporary reports, in the second half of 1920
alone, the number of Communists in Petrograd had fallen by
26-4 per cent. The majority of these had been purged, while a
quarter of them, nearly all workers, had left the Party volun-
tarily.

I1
THE PETROGRAD WORKERS

February 24th a meeting was called in Petrograd at the
'([‘)rrullbochny r\}"\701"}145, a large plg;;.nt taken over by the Admiralty,
In 1916-17 it had employed some 15,000 hands, mostly yp.
skilled workers. In 1921 the number of workers must have beep,
about three or four thousand. At this meeting the workers pro-
tested against their economic conditions and demandeq the
recall of the ‘Labour Army’ men. They then walked out in ro-
cession to enlist the support of other factories. They were met b
detachments of the Cadets from the Officer Tralmng Schools
(K ursanty) who attempted to prevent them from demonstrating.
There was no bloodshed although it 1s reported that some of the
Cadets were disarmed by the crowd. The next day the move.
ment spread to a number of other enterprises. The men of the

2 Gee Mett, Ida: La Commune de Cronstadt (Spartacus, Paris, |
rcsol:t?on is also quoted in Kornatovsky (see Bxbhographlcal’nogt‘g)’.)» P- 25. The
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large Baltiysky Works went on strike, and so did the Admiralty
establishment on Galerny Island, the State Bank Note Printing
Press, the George Borman Biscuit Factory, the Arsenal, and
the shoe factories “Skorokhod” and ‘“‘Pobeda’ and others. The
important power station in the Vyborg district stopped work.
The famous Putilovsky works went on strike on the 26th, when
more shipbuilding yards joined in it as well.
. The grievances and demands of the workers found expression
In resolutions passed at factory meetings and in leaflets which
were distributed all over the city during the last few days of
February. As far as the leaflets are concerned, they seem to have
been largely inspired, if not actually initiated, by local cells of
the opposition Socialist parties. Some bore the obvious mark of
the Socialist Revolutionaries, whose main slogan remained the
call for the Constituent Assembly, though it is not clear from
these leaflets whether they were now asking for elections to a
new Assembly or for a recall of that elected in late 1917, in
which they held an absolute majority. The Menshevik inspired
leaﬂf:’ts showed far less interest in the Constituent Assembly.
Their main demand was for so-called “free labour” (svobodny
trud). This was a portmanteau term which covered the right of
th§ worker to choose his job and the general application of the
principle of election (instead of appointment) to all responsible
Posts in the Trade Unions and in the Soviets. It also implied
the withdrawal of the trudarmeitsi (Labour Army men) and the
disbandment of the Communist armed detachments in the fac-
tories, which acted as bodyguards and enforcement squads for
the bosses of the factory Communist cells. Both Socialist Revo-
Utionaries and Mensheviks were at one in calling for freedom
of the Press, speech and public assembly, and for a drastic
Testriction of the powers of the Cheka, or at any rate of its
Powers to suppress Left Wing parties and to interfere with work-
10 class movements. .

Although the resolutions passed at workers’ meetings often
Includeq the same political demands as the leaflets, their main
CONCen was economic grievances, matters such as the system
of Privileged rations and the activities of the ‘‘road-block

€tachments, They were the expression of the workers’ exas-
Peration at the prolongation of War Communism. It is interest-
N8 10 note that aJ] these economic demands of the workers

Were in fact conceded by the Government while the Kronstadt

revolt was iy progress. . .
€ fermentation in the factories and the demonstrations in

the streets continued more or less uninterruptedly until the end
16
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of the month. The Soviet authorities took immediate counter-
measures. On the 24th a local Defence Committee (consisting
of Lashevich, Anzelovich and Avrov) was appointed with large
powers. A state of siege was proclaimed. A curfew was imposed
from 11 p.m. to dawn, and gatherings of people in the street
were strictly forbidden. A check on the workers in the various
factories, beginning with the Trubochny Works, was under-
taken by special committees. And in all factories three-man
defence committees, the so-called #roiki, were formed to fight
against “counter-revolutionary agitation” and to watch out for
possible disturbances. These troiki had under their orders the
factory Communist guards, manned by Party members among
the factory’s workers and provided with arms. Order in the
streets was enforced by the Cadets—Kursanty—who were placed
under the command of the Petrograd Defence Comrmgtee.

These measures were only partly successful, for during the
four days between February 25th and 28th new factories joined
the strike movement and all over the city meetings were held,
which passed resolutions of protest. In certain districts the
trudarmeitsi fraternized with the strikers. The Kursanty shoxyed

eat reluctance in using force against workers and on occasion
allowed themselves to be disarmed by the crowds.

The situation became ominous as the anmversary of the
February revolution approached. Indeed the dlstlél:bances were
rather similar to the bread riots and strikes preceding the over-
throw of the Tsarist régime in 1917. Hoyvcver,kPetflograd. was
not the same as it had been then. In 1921 1ts WOIXers ad neither
the numbers nor the vigour, nor the tanglble lngcrrlfflses oé" 1917,
The city’s shrunken population was terribly ulnf e de and there
was little booty to be found in the municipal 100 hﬁtﬁrfis. Also
the revolutionary movement lacked a cent.rici1 to :lv 1ch 1t could
gravitate, a Tauride Palace with its bcw1}D ere aenthusmstlc
and complacent Duma deputies who could be made ephemera]

rs of the rising. . )
lea'%ﬁe Kronstadt s§ilors kept in touch with the events in Petro.-
grad through groups of delegates who came into the city ang
attended factory meetings, took part in the demonstrationg and
listened attentively to the grievances of the workers. The dele.
gates were appointed by mass meetings of the naval units lyj,
icebound in Kronstadt harbour, and by the personnel of the
naval establishments on the island. These gatherings issyeq theiy
respective delegates with mandates authorizing them to enter
Petrograd factories and to organize meetings in the city, 1t Wwas a
firmly established privilege of the Kronstadt sailors to Participate

B
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in the revolutionary activities of the city in this way. When
the sailors’ delegates turned up at the Petrograd Soviet to have
their mandates confirmed, it would have been a departure from
revolutionary tradition to refuse them. But on arrival in the
factories the Kronstadt delegates came into conflict with the
apparatus for suppression set up by the Defence Committee.
Some of them are reported to have been arrested by the troiki.
After clarification of their mandates, however, they had to be
set free. The delegates returned almost daily to Kronstadt and
reported on events to their comrades. A Soviet historian tells us
that the Kronstadt delegates were disappointed at what they
found in Petrograd. They complained, he says, that the workers
hagi no political programme and were interested mainly in the
satisfaction of their economic demands. He adds that the Kron-
stadt delegates wanted the workers to clamour for a Constituent
Assembly. This last is difficult to believe. We shall see that the
demand for a Constituent Assembly was suggested to the Kron-
stadt sailors more than once, mainly by the S.R.s, and that it
was always emphatically and uncompromisingly rejected by
them. At the same time it is quite certain that the delegates
were critical of the political side of the Petrograd workers’ agi-
tation. Yet they were obviously aware of the potential political
Significance of what was going on. Petrichenko, one of the
leaders of the rising who afterwards managed to escape to F in-
land, records that one of the main reasons for the suspicion and
anger of the Kronstadt sailors was the discrepancy between
What their own delegates reported and the official Soviet com-
Muniqués and commentaries, in which both the Government
and the Party tried to play down the Petrograd riots and slur
Over their measures for suppressing them.

III
KRONSTADT ON THE EVE OF THE RISING

Ivfronstadt is a town and naval port compactly built at the

¢Stern end of the island of Kotlin, some 20 miles from Petro-

gr allfc.h Ve miles from the south coast, at the place where the

Eu narrows down and merges with the Neva estuary. It had

€€n strongly fortified since the beginning of the eighteenth
18
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century to cover the sea approaches to Petrograd and still is
the main base of the Russian Baltic Fleet. Apart from the naval
establishments proper, Kronstadt always possessed a military
garrison manning the forts spread out on rocks and islands
all round Kotlin. On the southern shore to the south-west the
line of fortifications of which Kronstadt was the centre was
flanked by an important town—Krasnaya Gorka. Due south
lay the town of Oranienbaum, an important military base. On
the northern coast of the Gulf Kronstadt is flanked by the forts
on Cape Lisy Nos, to the west of which, near the then Finnish
border, lies the town of Sestrovetsk. The waters round Kron-
stadt are ice-bound for three or four months every year, from
December to late March. Normally, for most of this period,
ice-breakers keep clear a channel between the lslapd anc! Petro-
grad. But communications with the mainland (including the
Finnish shore) are mostly maintained over the ice, which can
carry heavy vehicles. A common route to Petrograd is over the
ice to Oranienbaum and thence by train. B

In 1921 the total population of the town and the military
and naval base was about fifty thousand, of whom half were
soldiers and sailors and half civilians.. Apart from a few small
traders, the great majority of the civilians were artificers and
workers in the various naval shore establishments. Some of them
were married and had their wives and families with them,
Trade Unions mustered thirteen thqusand members on the
island, but adherents of the Communist Party were few~.653
members and 149 candidates—and their numbers were dwind-
ling. Of the garrison of twenty-five thousand men there were
rather more soldiers manning the forts than sailors Manning
the ice-bound ships. In commaqd were some fifteen hundreq
officers and commissars. Approximately 5 PEr cent of the gar.
rison were regular members of .the Commums& Party.

Apart from Pubalt, authority in the town and port was vegteq
in the Kronstadt Soviet of Workers, Ratings and Soldierg’
Deputies, a Communist dominated body due for re-election iy,
early March. But, as we have seen, the mass meetings of the
soldiers and sailors influenced political activity and enjoyeq 5
degree of official recognition. o )

The armaments of Kronstadt cqmlsted rpalnly of arti]] ery—
the guns in the forts and the guns in the ships. There were two
battleships in the harbour, the Petropavlovsk and the Sevastopo]
both ice-bound and lying side by side, so close that each shin
masked the broadside of the other. In all there weye tWentyI:
four twelve-inch guns in Kronstadt and one hundred apg sixteen

19
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guns of smaller calibre. Stocks of small arms were compara-
tively low. The total number of rifles available to the garrison
is estimated at ten thousand.

The Russian Navy, whose main base in the Baltic was Kron-
stadt, had played a unique role in the fateful development of
the Russian revolutionary movement. Nowhere in the Russian
armed forces was the tension between the officers and the rank
and file so great as in the Navy and, in particular, in the
Baltic Fleet. Nowhere was revolutionary propaganda better
organized or conspiratorial techniques better developed, and
nowhere did mutinies achieve greater notoriety and greater
propaganda success. In the February days, the days of the
‘great bloodless revolution’, the Kronstadt sailors had showed
a spirit of vindictiveness and revolutionary radicalism which
went far beyond anything witnessed in the rest of the country
or in the Army. The Commanding Officer of the Baltic Fleet
and of Kronstadt and Nepepenin, Admiral Viren, was mur-
derqd, together with more than a hundred other officers. A
Soviet of ratings and soldiers was immediately set up which on
May 13th proclaimed itself the only supreme authority in
Kronstadt. It is there that the abortive Bolshevik rising was
hatched in July 1917. In a long telegram addressed to the
‘Krons‘tadt Soviet on July 7th, Kerensky accused the sailors of
stabbing the Revolution in the back’, of being counter-revolu-
tionaries. He demanded the handing over of all gang lecaders
and agitators and the reelection of the Central Committee of
the Soviet of the Baltic Navy. His plea was defiantly ignored,
and Kronstadt carried on as before. In the October days the
Central Committee of the Baltic Fleet dispatched the cruiser
Avrora to Petrograd. A few rounds of blank shot fired by this
Man-o’-war helped to break the last vestiges of resistance among
the troops defending the Winter Palace. Soon after the October
Coup the Kronstadt sailors were in the vanguard of those who

ed to assure and consolidate the social revolution by the
Physica] extermination of the upper classes. It is significant that
1t was 3 group of Kronstadt sailors who murdered two former
m‘mSte?S, the Kadets Kokoshkin and Shingarev, in their beds
?}11 hosp.ltal. Lenin found this somewhat excessive and dcmand.ed

aildehvery of those guilty of the outrage. The Kronstadt Soviet

Y refused, and Lenin desisted.® Again, in 1918, it was left
© 2 sailor of the Baltic Fleet, Zheleznyak, to help Chernov
somewhat roughly but quite determinedly out of the President’s
chair of the All Russian Constituent Assembly in that fateful

* Steinberg I: Als ich Volkscommissar war (Munich 1929)
20

t



THE KRONSTADT RISING

first and only meeting of the sole freely elected representative
political body in Russian history. All this and more fully justi-
fies Trotsky’s estimate in 1917 of the Kronstadt sailors as “‘the
pride and glory of the revolution”.

They earned this title not by the Marxist orthodoxy of their
political views, but by their ruthless insistence on extreme revo-
lutionary action. They maintained this reputation all through
the Civil War. The Kronstadt sailor became at that period a
familiar and dreaded figure wherever he appeared as Com-
missar, as head of a local Chcka or Special Branch in the Army,
as agitator or as organizer of ‘spontaneous’ action by the local
supporters of the Soviet régime against any manceuvres of
White-Guardists and counter-revolutionaries. Everywhere the
Kronstadt sailors enjoyed a privileged position as the guardians
of “revolutionary conscience”. This was in accordance with
Lenin’s tendency to allow the ‘revolutionary conscience” of
the extremists to decide the limits to which class struggle could
be carried. The sailors were the sans-culottes of the Russian
revolution. Between 1918 and 1921 they had been active on
every front where the Red armies were fighting. ’.I‘.hey had
taken part in the suppression of many internal uprisings and
mutinies. In the Gulf of Finland itself, the Baltic sailors had
permanently mobilized owing to the presence of a Bnus’h fleet
based on Reval. There had been a number of naval actions in
the course of which units on both sides had been sunk or
damaged. . b

By 1921, of course, a large proportion of the men who were
serving in 1917 had left Kronstadt. Their place had been takep,
by new recruits. Certain Soviet historians have tried to claim
that the Kronstadt sailors of 1921 had ceased to be the ‘pride
and glory of the Revolution’ and had bcc%me mere peasant
boys dressed in naval uniform. They called them Joanmoy,, (sea-
yokels), an abusive parody of Voenmory (sea Warriors). Statis.
tical arguments used by these authors are not convincing, They
show that the actual proportion of peasants serving in the Baltic
Navy in 1921 was at that time rat}}er smaller than the Propor-.
tion of peasants in the Red Army in the same year.
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THE BEGINNING OF THE RISING

Right up to February 26th 1921 there were no indications of
any political agitation in Kronstadt. When the Commissar of
the Baltic Fleet, Kuzmin, reported to the Petrograd Soviet late
in February on the morale of the Baltic Fleet, he said that
attempts at agitation among the sailors had been quite unsuc-
cessful. He was later accused of lack of vigilance, but no evi-
dence of seditious agitation in the Fleet at any previous date
has been produced. There was, however, as already mentioned,
much dissatisfaction with the activity of the commissars
appointed by the new masters of the Baltic Fleet, Raskolnikov
and Bal_tis. The leader of the insurgents, Petrichenko, claims in
his reminiscences that the movement in Kronstadt was set off
by the events in Petrograd and by the reports brought back to
Kronstadt by the delegates who had been present and had

taken part in these events. ‘
hese reports were made at meetings of the respective units
held on the decks of the men-of-war and in the various forts.
€ commissars claimed the right to permit or forbid such
meetings. This, however, was contrary to all Kronstadt tradi-
tions. Whatever the commissars might think or say, the men
assembled. When the sailors gathered for an unauthorized
meeting the commissars made no attempt to prevent it by
force, and even attended it themselves. This is what happened
%‘c the joint meeting of the First and Second Squadrons of the
altic Navy on board the Petropavlovsk on the 28th February
WI;CII the ships’ companies both of the Petropavlovsk and Sevasto-
gos ew_cre present. The meeting was presided over by Petrichenko
o tﬁor clerk on the Petropavlovsk. The only document available
'sto:i Proceedings is the resolution passed .by‘t‘he sailors. Soviet

terms ?I'IIS‘ speak of a resolution gouched in “Black H}mdreq

ferent hey claim that the original text was substantially dif-
ing in ﬁm the one that was put to the vote at the public meet-
hey ad chor Square in Kronstadt on the next day, March 1st.
ever be t{mt that no trace of the “Black Hundred” version could
Mmeetin SOUnd, but they assume that there must have been two
secon dg of the Petropavlovsk and Sevastopol crews and that the
Meeting modified and ‘camouflaged’ the “Black Hun-

4 .
Eg.s. Pukhov in Krasnaya Letopis No. 1 (40) 1931, P- 9
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dred” original version. There is no mention of two such meet-
ings by any of the insurgents. It is also difficult to imagine that
such a second meeting could have been called between the first
meeting, in the Petropavlovsk on February 28th, and the large
public gathering of March 1st in Anchor Square.

The fact is that in 1931, ten years after the events, when for
the first time comprehensive material concerning the Kronstadt
mutiny was published in the Soviet Press, it was decided to
quote the Petropavlovsk resolution in full as it had appeared in
the insurgents’ own paper. This text, which we shall discuss
below, could hardly be described as “Black Hundred” in-
spired. However, on the 2nd March 1921, in an Order of the
Day calling for the re-establishment of Soviet authority in Kron-
stadt by every means available to the Soviet Government,
Lenin and Trotsky mentioned an original “Black Hundred”
resolution passed by the battleships’ companies. Obviously,
Soviet historians had no choice but to claim that the resolution
which was published was an amended version of a “Black Hun-
dred” resolution (a copy of which could not be found in 1931)
and to invent a second meeting of the ships’ companies at which
the resolution was re-written.

The text of the resolution is:

Having heard the Report of the Representatives sent by the
General Meeting of Ships’ Crews to Petrograd to investigate the
situation there, Resolved: )
(1) In view of the fact that the present Soviets do not express the
will of the workers and the peasants, immediately to hold new
elections by secret ballot, and to carry out a free pre-election
campaign among workers and peasants;
(2) To give freedom of speech and press to workers and Peasants,
to Anarchists and left Socialist parties; )
(3) To secure freedom of assembly for trade unions and peasant
organizations;
(4) To call a non-partisan Conference of the workers, Red Arm
soldiers and sailors of Petrograd, Kronstadt, and of Petrogr d
Province, no later than March 10, 1921; gra
To liberate all political prisoners of Socialist parties, a5 1
as all workers, peasants, soldiers, and sailors imprisoned in we
nection with the labour and peasant movements; con-
(6) To elect a Commission to review the cases of those he] di
prisons and concentration camps; n
abolish all politotdeli (Political Educati ..
](gt): 'aI;c:ments) becalﬂe no arEy should be givenc:l and Agitation
P p Pecial Privileges
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in the propagation of its ideas or receive the financial support of
the State for such purposes. Instead educational and cultural com-

missions should be elected, which should be provided for financially
by the Government.

(8) To abolish immediately all ‘road-block detachments’.

(9) To equalize the rations of all working people, with the excep-
tion of those employed in trades detrimental to health;

(10) To abolish the Communist fighting detachments in all
branches of the Army, as well as the Communist guards kept on
duty in mills and factories. Should such guards or military de-
tachments be found necessary, they are to be appointed in the
f}rmy from the ranks, and in the factories at the workers’ discre-
ion.

(11) To give the peasants full freedom of action in regard to the
land, and also the right to keep cattle, on condition that thc
peasants manage with their own means; that is, without employ-
ing hired labour;

(12) T_O request all branches of the Army, as well as our comrades
the Military Commanders’ Training Corps, to concur in our
resolutions;

(13) 'I:o demand that the Press give the fullest publicity to our
resolutions;
(14) To appoint a Travelling Commission of Control;

(15) To permit free production by artisans who do not employ
hired labour,

Far from being “Black Hundred”, this resolution cannot even
be qualified as seditious when Communist standards of 1921
are applied. There was nothing that could be regarded as sub-
versive in the demand for the re-clection of Soviets. In Kron-
Stadt itself new elections could be regarded as a matter of course,
or the powers of the existing Kronstadt Soviet were due to
€Xpire on March 1st. The pretence of free electoral campaigns
:i’las t§t111 maintained by the Soviet Government. Demands for
re:is t?cfc%)m of the Press for lgft-wing parties, although in fact
sidered cgl the Government, in themselves co,uld not be con-
“Politica] uElg;r-reyolutlonary. ‘Thf: resBlutlon s att?.,ck Ocrll Eﬁe
supportin cation and Agitation Departments” an e
kind. Thg argumen’gs were of a §omewhat more .dangcr_ous
leadershy Ommunist Party’s .clalm to exclusive }deologlcal
the prolePt)aa’s the only unwavering defender of the interests of
pretation ofr‘jﬁ and as the only custodian of the correct inter-
and for a O arxism had already been clearly stated by Lenin;
hould b OMmunist it was a shocking idea that this thesis
should be doubted by honest supporters of the Soviet régime.
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And yet the allegation that the Communist Party had mono-
polized State funds for its propaganda obviously struck the
Communist ideologians of the time in a sensitive spot. In their
appeal to the Kronstadt insurgents, members of the Tenth
Communist Party Congress were obviously on the defensive on
this point. “You are alleging that we are forcing you to think
in the Communist way only. We do not coerce anybody to
think in the Communist way, you know that best yourselves,
but we are trying to spread as widely as possible the light of
Communist truth.” ® Thus the Communist Party avoided the
issue of monopolizing State power and funds for their propa-
ganda, and did not repeat the Leninist claim that they were
entitled to such monopoly by their status as the vanguard of
the Revolution. They knew too well that the sailors and Red
Army men of the Kronstadt garrison had themselves a widely
recognized claim to this status. . )

The economic demands of the resolution were; extremely
moderate and actually lagged far behind the measures that
Lenin had been hatching in secret before the Tenth Qongr.ess
took place and which were to become the New Economic Policy
of the Soviet State. All these demands were conceded almost
immediately after the outbreak of open sedition in Kronstadg.

Of greater importance was the sa}lors’ demand for the aboli-
tion of all special armed Communist detachments in military
units and in factories, and the proposal that if such guards or
special detachments proved to be necessary they s}iould not be
appointed from above by the Government bqt elected freely
and locally by the soldiers and workers of the unit or the factory
concerned. L.

But above all it must have been the orgamzatmnal Proposalg
of the resolution which showed the red light to the Petrograg
Communist authorities and forced them to Oppose 1t and tq
bring the crisis to a head. These prOPOSfﬂlls in effect amounted
to an attempt to organize the non-party SUpporters of the
Soviet régime into a political force which would compete wit},
the well-organized Communist minority and would depriye it
of its exclusive leading position. This, of course, was contray
to the Leninist conception of an a-political, semi-proletariap
mass which supports a Communist Government in recognition
of its ideological charisma and its unswerving consistency iy

ursuit of the revolutionary goal. B
The resolution proposed to mobilize the non-party workers

5 In Kornatovsky. The appeal from which this quotation is takep

a
never rcached the insurgents. PParently
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and servicemen by means of an early non-party conference.
The right of non-party proletarians to unite in political action
was a dangerous challenge to the monopolistic position held by
the Communist Party. And yet there can be little doubt that
this right was widely upheld even in Communist quarters at
that time, albeit hypocritically. It needed the unashamed cyni-
cism of Lenin to launch a frontal attack on the principle of
freedom of political action and association by non-party pro-
letarians. This he did sometime after the Kronstadt uprising,
in his memorandum Political Results and Conclusions: “We should
not make a fetish of non-party conferences,” he said. “They are
valuable when they provide an opportunity for closer contact
with the masses, with the strata of millions of working people
who have not yet been corrupted and have been hitherto
a-political, but they are harmful when they procure a platform
for the Mensheviks and S.R.s camouflaged as non-party men.”
In other words, non-party conferences should be tolerated, or
indeed, encouraged, only in so far as they can he held under
Communist Party sponsorship and can provide an opportunity
for Communist propaganda. The Kronstadt resolution leaves
no doubt that its promoters wanted the non-party conference
to become a political force independent of the Communist
Party. We shall examine the allegation that the anti-Commun-
Ist outlogk expressed in this demand, and in the Kronstadt
Insurrection in general, was inspired by Menshevik and S.R.
ideology. The resolution itself provides no evidence that this
Wwas the case. Indeed, it differs from many of the resolutions
Passed in the factories of Petrograd by the conspicuous absence
of any call for the Constituent Assembly, or indeed for any
Mmeasure of constitutional reform. Nor does it demand, as was
alleged by Lenin at the Tenth Congress, “free trade”. In its
attack on the Communist Party the resolution does not ask for
ltt}f dissolution but only for its relegation to the status of one of
;tri;'l‘)lutiOnary Soviet parties in a Soviet state. The legend
om e Kronstadt sailors ever demanded ‘““Soviets without
}rlmlmsts” was invented by the émigrés abroad.
First a(.:rlxldon the 28th February, at the general meeting of the
b Second Squadrons of the Baltic Fleet, the sailors—
oth Communjst 5 d —unanimously voted for this
resolution, }, nd non-party Y
resistance’ ey certainly expected that there would be some
indeed th to it on the part of the Political Commissars. And
€ only two abstensions when the resolution was passed
were those of the commissars of the Petropavlovsk and the Sevasto-
pol. But the sajjorg certainly did not regard their resolution as a
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counter-revolutionary act and certainly did not consider it to
be an appeal for an armed uprising.” In demanding that it
should be widely publicized in the Soviet Press the Kronstadt
sailors wanted to call the Communist bluff, and expose the
Communist claim to enjoy having non-party popular support
for their policy. The sailors did not for a moment think of break-
ing away from the Soviet Union and of establishing a border
Government similar to the counter-revolutionary governments
of the White generals. Should a conflict with the centra]
Government arise they were ready for it, and were ready to
handle it as they had handled their conflict with the Provi-
sional Government of Kecrensky in May 1917. They had
experience of independent local revolutionary sclf-gpvernment
and they hoped that the Petrograd workers and garrison would
follow their example and thus bring about a political change in
the whole of the R.S.F.S.R. They looked forward to the visit
of Kalinin, arranged for the 1st March, so as to present him
with a clear political programme. They considered themselves
to be a political pressure group and not conspirators, and acted
such. )

asTh?s is also what the Petrograd Defence Committee obvji.-
ously believed the initiators of the Kronstad_t movement to be.
Otherwise they would not have sent Kugmm, the Commissar
of the Baltic Fleet, and Kalinin, the-Chairman of the Centra]
Executive Committee, to talk to the sailors in Kronstadt op
March 1st; nor would Vasilyev, the Chairman of fhe: Kronstadt
Soviet, have presided at a meeting where this (r:lciﬁ ution was put
to the vote. Kalinin was a popular speaker an i e meeting wag
well attended. It is reported tha.t some sixteen tS ousand sall.or.s,
soldiers and workers gathered in the Anchorb %uare. Kal}nln
had made successful appearances a few dEiYS ¢lore at varigyg
meetings in Petrograd (in particular at 2 aagfc:l meeting of the
Petrograd Naval base, where he had succeeded in strengthen,.
ing the position of the local Defence Committee and inducip

the strikers to return to work). The situation in the Anchoy
Square was somewhat different from that in Petrogxfad.' Kalinin,
who was received with customary honour.s, found it dlfﬁcult to
make himself heard. He was frequently interrupted by shouts
of “Drop it, Kalinynch.” “Yqu manage to k‘eep warm your.
self.” “You have a number of jobs each carrying a njce round
salary.” Even so, the official Soviet historian prefeys t0 explajn
Kalinin’s failure not so much by the.host'lle attitude of the
crowd as by the wind which cz}rned his voice in the opposite
direction. Kuzmin, the Commissar of the Baltic Fleet, spoke
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after Kalinin, and his tone was most unfortunate. ‘“Tell us
about shooting every tenth man on the Northern front,”
shouted the multitude, referring to some incident during the
Civil War on the Archangel front. Kuzmin answered, “I cer-
tainly did, and will do so again with counter-revolutionaries.
You would have shot every fifth yourselves.” The latter
remark was meant to be complimentary but the threatening
undertone was unmistakable. Vasilyev, feeling that the meeting
might become more manageable if transferred from thc open
square to a closed hall, suggested an adjournment to the
Engineering School. His proposal was rejected. Then, the
Petropavlovsk resolution was put to the vote and was accepted
quasi-unanimously with Kalinin, Kuzmin and Vasilyev voting
ostentatiously against it. It was clear that thc Kronstadt
revolutionary masses’ were not going to follow the Pctrograd
leaders.. And yet there was nothing seditious in the fact that the
resolution was accepted. Following the votc on the resolution,
the meeting proceeded to debate the problem of the clections
to the Kronstadt Soviet, since the existing Soviet’s powers had
expired on that day. Vasilyev, the Chairman both of the meet-
Ing and of the Soviet, proposed the election of a delegates’ Com-
Mmittee which would prepare the clections to the Soviet. His
Proposal was adopted and it was decided that every factory,
and every naval and military unit would elect two delegates to
the delegates’ meeting which was convened for the following
ay. The general meeting then came to an end. Kuzmin
Temained in Kronstadt, while Kalinin left at once for Petro-
grad. There are conflicting reports about his departure, Soviet
historians claiming that he was detained for a short while at
the gates of Kronstadt. However he arrived safely that evening
In Petrograd.

€anwhile the situation in Kronstadt was becoming tense.
¢ ? of the most disturbing features, from the point of view of
bene -ty political leadership, was the defection of large num-
TS of Communist Party members who had not moved a finger
In sy L rarty ‘he: indeed

mOStI:)Ff"OI‘t of Kalinin at the Anchor Square meeting; 1ndee
tion Ththem voted with the others for the Petropavlovsk resolu-
to be th e I?nly ‘reliable’ Communist group 1n Kronstadt seemed
Watcheg arty School, numbering some 200 trainees. They were
some ay With suspicion by the sailors, who expected any moment
santy’s s;’flcd Intervention on their part, on th.e 11nf:s of the Kur-
PPression of the workers’ demonstrations in Petrograd.
ne Soviet historian, Pukhov, reports® an incident which he

® Pukhov in Krasnaya Lelol’sif No. 1 (40) 1931, p. 16
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alleges took place during the late evening of March 1st. A
telegram was dispatched along the wire from Kronstadt,
addressed to “‘all concerned” with the following wording: “In
view of the situation in Kronstadt at the present moment the
Communist Party is deprived of power and a Revolutionary
Committee is in command. Non-party comrades, we ask you
to take the administration into your hands and to look out
sharply for the Communists. (Signed) Yakolenko.”

This story should be viewed with some suspicion. The signa-
ture on the telegram is probably misprinted or misspelt and
presumably should read “Yakovenko”,? as this was the name
of one of the members of the Revolutionary Committee of
Kronstadt. But it is important to remember that no such com-
mittee was officially formed on the 1st March, and furthermore
that even if it had been established underground it would have
been unbelievably incautious for the reb&;ls to advertise its
formation before they had the situation in Kronstadt itself
firmly in their hands. The telegram has never been mentioned
in any document or by any writer on the insurgent side. It
could easily have been sent out twenty-four hours later, on
the 2nd March, when the rebellion had officially br.oken out.
In any case the evidence which Pukhov adduces for its having
been dispatched on the night of the 1st March is Inconclusive.

This does not mean that a committee Or SOMC Committees
were not alrcady formed in the various units and establish-
ments on March 1st. Delegates to thfa preparatory Committee
for the elections to the Kronstadt Soviet were to be nominated
for next morning, and certainly the men were getting together
and discussions were going on. No doubt the sailors of the
First and Second Squadrons were.determlned not to ,let the
Communists manipulate the elections. The delegates meet-
ing, which would determine electoral procedufe,fwould defllde
whether the Communists were to have control o the electiong

roper (as they already did evc::ywhere in Russm), or whether
this time secrecy and a free choice of caqdlde}tes would engyre
a majority for the supporters of the’ sailors’ resolution, The
choice of delegates to the delegates’ meeting was therefore
crucial. There was not much time for agitation or organization_
The Communists had the z}dvantage of an established electora]
machinery, whereas the sailors could rely only on more o less
spontaneous popular support. This V.vas,.however, made more
probable by their success at the meeting in the Anchor Square
The meetings for the elections of the delegates were helq in al]

7 Sometimes also spelled Yakimenko.
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the units concerned early on the morning of March 2nd.
From the report of one of these preliminary meetings, that of
the Artillery administration, it is clear that the Communists
met with organized resistance. Communist speakers were not
allowed to mount the rostrum freely, as they were accustomed;
the gathering as a whole was first asked whether it wanted to
hear them. It is significant that they were eventually allowed
to speak, although they were subjected to some interruptions.
It is surprising that even in this atmosphere of semi-rebellion
the proportion of Communists among the delegates finally
elected to the delegates’ meeting was about one third.

The elected delegates were to assemble on the Petropavlovsk
at 11 a.m. There was, however, some misunderstanding about
the place where the meeting was to be held, and two groups of

elegates waited for each other, one on the Petropavlovsk and the
other in the Engineers’ School in the town.

'hen the delegates’ meeting eventually opened (at the
ngineers’ School, after 2 p.m.) Vasilyev and Kuzmin adopted
€ same truculent attitude as at the previous meeting in the

chor_Square. There followed a discussion on procedural mat-
S which seems to have gone on for about three hours in an
wlr:cl)oilphere of complete disorder. In the end it was the sailors
chair ad charge of the meeting and Petrichenko became the
and imgn. Kuzmin appealqd to the patriotism of the meeting,
whe nsisted that no dissension could be tolerated at a moment

o :1 fhe Repubhp was still in danger of an attack from Poland.
a CCOS d the meeting flatly that the Communists would on no
Party nt surrender power or share it with another political
the . OF 8roup. This was naturally understood as a threat on
arp DTt of the Communists to crush the movement by force of
on the t was proposed to have Kuzmin and Vasilyev arrested
SumablsPOt’ and a resolution to that effect was accepted, pre-
sidere dy by acclamation. This, if anything, should be con-

OWCV:S Kronstadt’s first step towards active insubordination.
Spot by T, the practice of arresting speakers at meetings on the‘
since 2‘ ecision of those attending had been well established
PreViol?s 7- It had been successfully applied as recently as the
grad faq;v eek, by the Communists at meetings in t}.xe Petro-
ries (as reported by Pukhov himself); only in Petro-

grad L
arri;}olgsc arrested had been the emissaries of the Kronstadt

ter
at

Feel .
out intggs Were running high as the meeting proceeded to work
At th UCtions for g free and secret ballot to the local Soviet.

€ same time the sailors were closely watching the move-
30



THE KRONSTADT RISING

ments of the Party School trainees, who were believed to be
strongly on the side of the Communist commissars. Sud-
denly a rumour swept the meeting that carts carrying armed
men and ammunition were moving in the direction of the
Engineers’ School. Later the rumour proved to be unfounded.
The Party School trainees were in fact leaving their quarters
but they did not attempt to approach the Engineers’ School;
on the contrary, they were quitting Kronstadt and withdrawing
south-west across the ice of the Gulf of Finland to the fort of
Krasnaya Gorka on the mainland..Neverth'cless the flurry dis-
rupted the meeting, which was c!1ssolved in some confgsion,
leaving its presidium of five men in cl_large of all authority in
the town and fortress. Later this committee of five was enlarged
by a further ten men and the whole became known as the Pro-
visional Revolutionary Committee. There can be no doubt that
on the evening of March 2nd Kronstadt was in open rebellion
against what the rebels termed ‘“The Comrr&lmst Party usurpers
who have seized power in the Soviet State™. .

For the next sixteen days the internal situation changed little.
What went on in Kronstadt was probably in many respects very
similar to what went on, at about this time, in those other
districts of the R.S.F.S.R. where the authority of the central
government was replaced by local'l}f organized insurgent groups.
In many places these insurgent regimes emsteg for much longer
periods than in Kronstadt, and mvolved muc arg?r areas and
a much larger population. What makes the case o Kronstadt
outstanding among the innumerable insurrections against the
Soviet Government is the amount of reliable 1nforrqat10n we
have available on the ideology of the rebels, on then: tactics,
their internal organization, their hopes antil apprehensions and
finally on their attitude towards their fai 1}8. Unlike all the
other risings in Soviet Russia at that ltlm'cI‘ ; onstadt was not
completely cut off from the outer wor d.h g rebels published
a daily paper from March grd to Mabmili 16th. A number of
them escaped to Finland after the 11;«: eh on was crushed and
have provided gleta.ﬂed reports on w. 2}1:1 appened dunng those
fateful days. Finally, the record of the debates of the Tenth
Congress of the Communist Party, which took pla.ce in Moscow
while the Kronstadt rebellion was actually going on, often
reads like a running official commentary on the Kronstadt

nts. . .. .
ev(‘fN e now propose to consider the mlhﬂtary tactics of the rebels,
the evolution of their ideology as reflected in the I,ppis of
the Provisional Revolutionary ?ommlttee, the reaction of the
3
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Cor.nmunist rulers of Russia to the Kronstadt rebellion; and the
varlous interpretations of the events put forward, at the time
and later, by the various Russian parties.

v

THE MILITARY TACTICS OF
THE INSURGENTS AND THE
SUPPRESSION OF THE REBELLION

Eol;gf‘llors who seized power in Kronstadt on March 2nd were
e foll%us of leading a movement whl.ch, they expected, would
vince awcf d up by the whole population of the Petrograd pro-
at abouI; eventually by the whole of Russia. Their first move,
the Ora midnight of March 2nd-3rd, was to get in touch with
Comma ncienbaum garrison where the Air Squadron under the
view ofr;h of a certain Kolesov was known to share the point of
aum re e Kronstadt rebels. Delegates arriving from Oranien-
ad ex Ported that the Naval Air Squadron had held meetings,
eleqedp;essed approval of the Kronstadt resolution and had
soldier reVO,IUUOHE}ry committee of their own. No individual
S and airmen in Russian units at that time were allowed

Small arms, which were stored in a central depot. It is
r Squag of the mentality of the men concerned that the
baumq adron made no attempt to seize this depot in Oranien-
Mean;,vhﬂey merely posted a small guard on their barracks.
took hig ¢ the Commandant of the Oranienbaum garrison
2 detacp counter-measures. The Kronstadt insurgents sent out
When thement. across the ice to contact the Air Squadron. But
the sailoy arrived at Qranienbaum, before dawn on March 3rd,
Bslang o:s were met with fire and had to retreat to their
train I.El‘ess. At 5 a.m. on the same morning an armoured
Surrounge Ved in Oranienbaum from Petrograd. Kursanty
Tingleageys the Naval Air Squadron barracks, arrested all
€ same at’“ and forty-four men were mterrggated and shot
This vy atsern00n. The Oranienbaum rebellion was crushed.

aving f; €vere blow to the Kronstadt insurgents.

made ailed to establish a foothold in Oranienbaum, they
2 consig,
affected elep,

to keep
Charact

erable effort to get in touch with equally dis-
ents in other parts of the Petrograd province.
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During the following few days some two hundred delegates
were sent both to Petrograd and to the surrounding townships,
cach delegate supplied with 1000 leaflets. Ten of them managed
eventually to return to Kronstadt. From Soviet sources we
know that besides the men at Oranienbaum, other groups
actively supported the insurgents during the early days of the
rebellion in Petrograd itself and in particular in Peterhof,
There was a seditious movement on the ice-breaker Truvor in
Petrograd which, had it been successful, might have changed
the whole strategic situation of Kronstadt by freeing some of
the ice-bound warships. Delegates of the Kronstaglt garrison
carrying leaflets were arrested as far away as the station Dno on
the Petrograd—Moscovy railway. However, within two or three
days of the outbrcak.lp Kronst.adt, the repressive measures of
the Petrograd authorities were in full force and no open agita-
tion in support of Kronstadt was tolerated. Yet the telephone
between Kronstadt and Petrograd and between Kronstadt.and
Krasnaya Gorka continued to functlon,. The .Krons:tadt sallgrs
tried to get into touch with personal frlen'ds 1n various official
positions and to acquaint them with their demands and the
situation in general. On the other hand, the Communists
attempted to ring up the leaders of the rebellion and to per-
suade them of the hopelessness of their position. 'I:hese.parleys
went on up until about the 6th of March, by which time the
situation had grown considerably tenser. It then became known
in Kronstadt that on the order of Trotsky the Petrograd Soviet
had arrested all families of Kronstadt workers, Red Army men
and sailors as hostages for Commumstg arrested in Kronstadt.,
The Provisional Revolutionary Committee sent a telegram of
protest branding this decision as a shameful and wicked man-
ceuvre, ‘‘unheard of in history”. On the Slilime day, the 6th, a
telegram was received from Petrograd, asking V\fh@ther a fact-
finding delegation of the Petrograd Soviet, consisting of Part
and non-party representatives, could visit Kronstad't. The
Provisional Revolutionary Committee replied by radiq that
«jt did not trust the non-Party character of the non-Party dele-
ates” of the Petrograd Soviet. In a counter-progqsal (which
they must have known was not acceptable) the Provisiona] Com-
mittee suggested that non-party representatives should be elected
by factories and army _and naval units and sent to Kronstadt
together with an additional 15 per cent of Communists to be
appointed by the Petrograd Soviet. The elections of the delegates
were to take place in the presence of delega_tes from the Kron-
stadt garrison. This counter-proposal remained unanswered.
o 33
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Besides these more or less direct negotiations, propaganda
and counter-propaganda went on by radio throughout the
whole period. On March 5th lcaflets were dropped over Kron-
stadt by aircraft. The Provisional Committee’s answer to this
propaganda was to give space in their daily paper to reproduc-
ing these appeals. They reprinted not only the leaflet dropped
on March 5th (in Jzvestia on March 6th) but also broadcasts
from the transmitters ‘“Novaya Gollandiya” and Radio
Moscow. In doing so, they obviously hoped to justify their own
demands for the publication of the Kronstadt resolution and
their o:cher appeals in the Soviet Press; and also to make known
to their followers from first-hand sources the fantastic and
slanderous accusations raised against Kronstadt by Com-
munist propaganda. This propaganda repeatedly alleged that
Kronstadt was in the grip of a White-Guardist gang under the
command of the head of the artillery service of the Kronstadt
fortress, Colonel Kozlovsky. These allegations, however fan-
tastic, provided for the sailors a partial explanation for the

sappointing inaction of the Petrograd proletariat, whom the
Sronstadt sailors had been expecting confidently to join them
In the rising.

The failure of the rebellion to spread to the mainland must
Aave SCCOmC obvious to the Kronstadt leaders on March grd.

ﬁ‘rne Suppression by selected Red Army troops loomed
ahcad. On that same day a Defence Committee was formed
under the chairmanship of the chairman of the Provisional
KZV‘I)IUUOHZIW Committee, Petrichenko. It appears that Colonel
S SV.SkY did not take part in the meeting on March 3rd, but
Joimed it later in his capacity as head of the artillery of the fort-
tacst.ic t 1s reported that he was in favour of more aggressive

v thf: all{ld Ofa.march on Petrograd, but that this was rqegtqd

ifficult evolutionary Committee. However this may be, it is
that py to find fault with the decision not to make a sortie at
in Pftrfflse moment. The whole movement which had starFed
in Kro 8rad and which took the shape of an open rebellion
28tadt, was relying on the support of the unorganized

r .
rgg?lll‘;??;?ry masses and not on the military strength of such
Possessed ;ts as the insurgents could muster. True, Kronstadt
Sevastopol BUmque force in the battleships Petropaviovsk and
could rea:so utblt hese were, at the moment, l.cc-bound and it
fortnight Orna Yy be hoped by the rebels that in the course of a
land would ?'nferllt(:)nthdat the utmost, the ice on the Gulf of Fin-
giving th and the fleet could move on Petrograd, thus

€ necessary military support to renewed workers’
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demonstrations in the former capital. A sortie over the ice
would have involved the Kronstadt garrison in a battle with
Communist crack troops who were better armed, superior in
numbers and better trained for that kind of fighting. The in-
evitable result would have been military disaster. So the
Defence Committee decided to prepare for a short siege and to
start tentative negotiations in order to secure supplies for the
Kronstadt base in case of a prolonged conflict. Thus from the
beginnings, Kronstadt’s military tactics were defensive and
passive. .

The Soviet Government’s attack on Kronstadt was carried
out in two stages. It was authorized by a decision qf t.he Polit-
bureau. The original plan was first to attempt negotiations with
Kronstadt, then to present the insurgeqts with an ulpmatum,
and finally to storm the fortress and mutinous battlesh1p§ across
the ice of the Gulf of Finland. The first stage never materialized,
unless the private parleys with individuals can be regarded as
“negotiations”. The ultimatum, written in a most violent man-
ner, was delivered on the 5th March and was signed by Trotsky.

By that time Tukhachevsky, then Commander of the 7th
Army, had been put in charge of the military operations. The
first attempt to storm the fortress was launched on March 8th.
It began by artillery preparation on March 7th which was fol-
lowed on March 8th by an infantry attack on Kronstadt. Most
of the troops concerned were drawn from the Petrograd gar-
rison. The attack was a complete failure. The Government
troops showed no fighting spirit, and on some sectors of the
battlefront fighting was interrupted tgy parleys and agitation.
Both sides allege misuse of the White Flag gnd both sideg
claimed to have captured prisoners and collected defectors. The
official Soviet military historian reports heavy losses on the
Government side in casualties and prisoners.

The Kronstadt Jzvestia published on the gth March a cop,.
muniqué claiming that the enemy's attempts to laqnch an
offensive from North and Sout}‘1‘ had been repelled with con-
siderable losses to the enemy. There were no losses op our
side.” The only fort which the Government troops succeedeq
in capturing on the first day of the attack had to be abandoneq
by them the day following. The number of prisoners (or defec-
tors?) was considerable. Five huqdred men of the so-called
Kronstadt Infantry Regiment (which was on garrisop duty in
Petrograd) were reported to hz.we surrender?d, Later the
Izvestia of the Provisional Revolutionary Committee published
lists of prisoners who asked to join the rebel force,
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Tukhachevsky reacted to this first set-back by taking immedi-
ate measures to build up a new attacking force out of units
brought from all parts of the country. The urgency of thesc
measures was due to the fact that the ice on the Gulf of Finland
was liable to break at any time. It had held so far only because
of the exceptionally cold weather that winter. The low morale
of the Government troops which had been so noticeable during
the attack on March 8th was a matter of particular concern
both to the Government and to Tukhachevsky. Seasoned and
well-trained troops were brought from the Polish front, and
whole battalions of Red Army cadets were included in the new

attaqking force. Three hundred members of the Tenth Co.m-
IXumst Party Congress were put in charge of various units.
mon

g them were such warriors of the Civil War as Dybenko
the Baltic sailor, Fedko and S. Uritsky.®

Incidentally, the disorganization resulting from the depar-

tﬁre for the front of so many members helped Lenin to make
:he Tump of the Congress accept certain resolutions aiming at

1 € Suppression of the so-called ‘“Workers Opposition”. Ideo-
toglﬁan}’ the “Workers Opposition” was probably much closer
t?ctl € mentality of the Kronstadt rebels than any of the poli-
‘ 2", 8roups with which Lenin and subsequent historians tried
© identify the insurgents. This affinity was pointed out by the
lemmst majority at the Congress and must more than anything
else ha_we frightened the leaders of the labour opposition. They
;Nrere Just as eager to disclaim any inclination to appeal to
w med rebellion in order to achieve their political aims as Lenin
a5 to saddle them with the responsibility of having provoked
resouélgglrllsctous and sem.i-consiclzigus masses into open cmiﬁt%rl-
Y propagating their programme among them.

‘ghen Mme Kollzgltgi, oie of the leaders of the Workers
PPosition, claimed from the tribune of the Congress that the

0 . M
I:posmomsts were the first to volunteer for fighting on the
Ina

in 1957 limbhcati(m of the Central State Archives of the Red Army of the U.S.'S.R.

the Red 2 the documents relating to the award of orders and medals to units of

were mengi Y; the following Red Commanders Training Corps establishments

Th loned ag having taken part in the suppression of the Kronstadt Rebellion:
€ Thirq g

e molensky Infantry School
The 3:]? Smolensky Infantryr)éommandcr Course
The ot Peterhof y
The .econd MOSCOW 44 ” ”

. Tl-:)cth Petrograd : : : ”
The 4.5:}?}{(1)-1{ Military Railway School (Document 56, p. 133)
The Milit ltebsk Infantry Commander Courses (Document 58, p. 136)
The Petroggfgg.meers’ School (Document 79, p. 168)

2, p. 140) istrict Courses of Sport and Pre-Military Training (Document
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Kronstadt front she was severely reprimanded by the chairman,
who said that it was unseemly for Communists to boast of having
performed their duty.

- In their propaganda to the troops the Political Commissars of
the Government stuck to the legend that the rebels were White-
Guardists. Petrichenko reports that according to his informa-
tion certain Kronstadt rebels who were taken prisoner were
subsequently dressed up in Tsarist uniforms with gold shoulder-
straps and paraded in front of Government troops. Meanwhile
steps were taken to ensure that none of the Kronstadt propa-
ganda material should reach the troops selected for the repres-
sion of the rebellion. On the other hand, as we have seen, the
Kronstadt Provisional Revolutionary Committee published in
Kronstadt the propaganda material, including Trotsky’s ulti-
matum, addressed to the rebels by the Government.

Besides_the regular troops, which included two Brigades of
the 27th Infantry Division (the 167th and the 32nd Brigades)
and a composite division consisting largely. of Red Cac}ets, the
attacking force included Artillery and Air Force units. The
troops were assembled on both north and south shores of the
Gulf of Finland facing the island. The command of the Nor-
thern Group was entrusted to Kazansky and the Southern
Group was led by Sedyakin, both former Tsarist officers.

In spite of all efforts the morale of the troops does not seem
to have been entirely satisfactory. There is abundant evidence
that many of the Communists who went to fight on the ice of
the Gulf of Finland were in secret sympathY.WIth the rebels and
felt ashamed at shooting at fellow-proletarians. The legend of
the White-Guardist plot found little credit with many of them_
Communist students from Moscow University who were }}%Stlly
dispatched to the Kronstadt front spoke later of their milita
exploit with shame, but at that time sho’wed a des;perate deter-
mination to support the Governments action.’ There are,
however, also reports of an attempt to wreck the military opera-
tions against Kronstadt. Victor Serge reports that some officers
of a regiment which had been brought from the Polish frop¢ 1,
Oranienbaum and incorporated in the Southern Group of the
Assault Force were organizing a revolt and intended to join
the Kronstadt sailors. Other reports go as far as to say that this
unit intended to march on Petrograd. The plot was discovered
by the Secretary of the Pctrograc.l Defence pommlttee, Zorin
who arrested the officer commanding the regiment ang shot him
together with a number of other officers.

9 See Barmine: One Who Survived (New York 1945), PP. 9498
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On March 15th Tukhachevsky and Peremytov signed the
orders for the attack. These orders laid down that a preliminary
bombardment by all available artillery was to start by 2 p.m.
on the 16th; the Northern column was to launch its attack
across the ice at g a.m. on the 17th; and the Southern at 4 a.m.
The troops were to advance in close formation dressed in white
camouflage overalls. Special measures were taken to supply
the troops with sufficient arms and ammunition and to have
them. well fed and dressed, which must have been a formidable
task in such a short preparatory period and in the conditions
then prevailing in Russia.

It is difficult to say how far this attack took the rebels by
surprise. Doubtless information about the concentration of
troops on both sides of the Gulf must have reached them. But
the ease of their victory on the 8th March might have lulled
them into a sense of false security. Their experience of the
Government’s first attempt to dislodge them would have given
them no reason to foresce the fanatical determination of the
special formations sent to the assault on March 17th. This time
the attacking troops were not ready to parley or defect. Pos-
sibly the knowledge of the real character of the rebellion which
had by now seeped through to the Communists in the Govern-
ment ranks was even helpful to the Government. It is unlikely
that any well-informed Communist believed the allegation of
?- hlte'-Guardist rising. But the maintenance of Communist
cadership was first and foremostin their minds; and they believed

€nin when he told them that a Tsarist restoration was the only
alternative to the dictatorship of the Communist Party. Inanycase
¢ Jovernment troops fought with a fanatical determination.

o o € Preliminary bombardment of March 16th lasted from
OfPt.}l:Ill. 10 6 p.m. when darkness fell. It was answered by the guns
Smoke Kronstadt forts and battleships, and by the emission of
their ‘;SC{eens. The rebel battleshlps were at a disadvantage in
were rtillery duel with the batteries of Krasnaya Gorka, which
Sltuated on high ground and had an advantage of range
earlya}r:gle over the Kronstadt guns. Between 6 p-m. and the
only b ours of the 1yth there was an uncanny lull, interrupted
The K3; 2 bombing raid by Government planes on the fortress.
movem :nstadt garrison endeavoured to keep a watch on any
ul se arcﬁfis on the mainland coast and on the ice, using power-
Accordip ghts, However, there was a heavy fog over the Gulf.
debouchegd to the official Government report, assault troops who
coast aft on the ice in the early hours werc out of sight of the
€r a few hundred yards. Their objective was the town
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of Kronstadt itself; only those forts were to be captured which
blocked the way to the Petrograd gate at the eastern extremity
of Kotlin Island. The advance in close formation necessarily
involved heavy losses, but was ordered to maintain pressure and
keep the movement of the units under control. Each unit was
headed by a group of volunteer shock troopers.

Contact was made at 5 a.m. on the 17th and immediately
all guns of the besieged fortress opened fire. The main attack
was launched from the southern shore of the Gulf of Finland
in two groups, each of which advanced in two columns. The
two columns of the first group started from a point east of
Oranienbaum and made for the castern coast of the Kotlin
Island and the Petrograd gate of Kronstadt. Part of the 32nd
Brigade and the g5th and g6th Regiments succeeded in cros-
sing the ancient fortress moat at about 5 a.m. and street-
fighting began. The 187th Rifle Brigade and the Kursanty under
the command of Fedko gave them support and overcame
the resistance at the Petrograd gate. The second group of the
Southern force started from a point west of Oranienbaum and
aimed at the southern coast of Kotlin: the 79th Brigade also
succeeded in entering the town in the early hours, but was
ejected by the defenders and thrown back on the ice. _

The Northern force seems to have been greatly inferior in
strength. The official history has it that a group consisting of
two companies launched an attack on Fort Totleben. They
were caught in a minefield laid in the ice, and in the subsequent
explosion many of them were dro.wned. Accor ding to the oﬁi(:,lal
history, only eighteen men remained alive of the 2nd Battahpn
of the 2nd Regiment. Fort Totleben did not fall before mid-

ight on March 18th.
mgig the meantime, all through the day of the 17th, the battle
was swaying in the streets of Kronstadt itself. The operations of
the Government troops were controlled from the mainland
with the help of telephone lines laid across the ice, which main-
tained contact in spite of artillery fire from the fortl_'ess (which
seems to have been intense, but, as far as one can judge from
reports from both sides, rather hapl}azard). The. fire slackened
in the course of the afternoon, mainly, as Petrichenko stateq
later, because the guns of the shore batteries and of the ships
became overheated. By 4 p.m. the defenders mounted a deter-
mined counter-attack which at one point threatened to throw
the Government troops out of K.ronstadt town. However, the
situation was restored by the arrival of ren}forcemem—s includ-
ing the 27th Cavalry Regiment and special detachments of
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Petrograd Communists (Piterskiye Kommynary). But it was not
until the attackers had managed—after the fall of darkness—
to bring up light artillery into the streets that the issue was
decided. By that time the defenders were in complete confusion
although we must accept with some scepticism an official report
that an internecine struggle had broken out among them. The
defenders began to surrender in the early hours of the 18th,
after the flight of many of their leaders over the ice towards the
Finnish coast. The battleships were not seized by Government
troops until 11 a.m. on the 18th. The official report has it that
they only just managed to prevent the ships being scuttled.

The casualties of the Government troops and the insurgents
are given separately in the official report. It states that on the
Government side there were 700 dead and missing and somec
2,500 wounded. The rebels are said to have suffered 6oo dead
and 1,000 wounded. It is likely that the total casualties werc
considerably heavier than this. Presumably the official figures
do not include those on the rebel side who werc summarily
executed on the spot and were thus not classified as “fallen in
battle”. The fighting, especially the street-fighting in the last
stages, must have been savage and there have been reports from
both sides of wholesale massacres of groups of defenders.?

Several hundred of the Kronstadt rebels including members
of the Provisional Revolutionary Committee and its chairman
Petrichenko made their way across the ice in the darkness to
the Finnish mainland where they were interned. So did the
unfortunate Kozlovsky, whom historical falsification has singled
out as the leader of the rebellion.

VI

THE POLITICAL THEORY AND PRACTICE
OF THE KRONSTADT REBELS

.Il-lﬁhf:lf eé’?tfl:ﬁv:k resolution remained unaltered throughout the
gents yHow er ebf:lhol} as the political manifesto of the insur-
Tution ﬁver, the military emergency gave it a more revo-

lonary Character than it had originally possessed. In itself
the resolution of March 1st was not an appeal to overthrow the

10 See, for exa . . .
J},tad“k),’ Myatezh:lg?l;’,? report of the fighting published in Kornatovsky: Kron-
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existing régime by force. If the resolution had been discussed
by local Soviets on the mainland, or, perhaps, supported by
the Workers Opposition of the Communist Party, then it
would have remained a political programme fighting for
acceptance by perfectly legitimate methods, and one which
might have gained mass support. Because it was suppressed,
it became revolutionary.

The Kronstadt insurgents were just a small fraction of the
Russian revolutionary masses who, although without experi-
enced political leadership, nevertheless succeeded in tempor-
arily freeing themselves from the dictatorship of the Central
Communist Government, owing to the peculiar geographical
position of their island. They were, and remained throughout,
supporters of Soviet rule. They were ‘class conscious’ and their
liberalism never went so far as to recognize equal rights for
members of the former ruling classes. But they refused to recog-
nize the leadership of the Communist Party as the exclusive
political authority of the Soviet State. In the Communist
leaders they saw merely another clique of oppressors who were
ready to sacrifice the interests of the masses for the sake of
maintaining their political power. Speaking of Trotsky, the
Izvestia of the Provisional Revolutionary Committee wrote on
March 7th 1921: “He, this dictator of Soviet Russia which is
being raped by the Communists, cares little about what is to
become of the labouring masses, provided power remains in the
hands of the Russian Communist Party. . . . The ninth wave
of the revolution of the toilers is rising and will sweep away t}le
pase slanderers and bullies from the face of Soviet Russia,
vhich they have disfigured.” .

) However, the nextgday the ninth wave had become in the
florid style of the Izvestia leader-writer ~2 N€W great revolu-
tionary landslide” and “the foundation stone of the third reyo.
Jution”. This “third revolution” was to give at last to the
labouring masses the chance to have their own freely electeq
Soviets, to function free from violent pressure from any par
and to reform the official tra}dc unions into free associationg of
workers, peasants and working 1qtell}gent51§1.

The slogan of a “Third Revolut{or}’ 1s an important develop-
ment in the Kronstadt rising. It is in sharp contrast with the
aims and slogans of traditional reactionary anti-Commuypjg;
movements. In the hands of a skilful political Propaganda
machine it might very possibly have become at that time and
indeed, even much later a powerful political weapon, 1¢ im.
plies that the social and economical conflicts which arige within
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the Soviet State cannot be overcome merely by reforms inside
the Communist controlled régime, but that remedies have to
be found and enforced by the masses themselves, if necessary
by recourse to arms. The opponents of the Soviet régime in
1921 were not ready to accept the idea of a “Third Revolu-
tion”. They were still all committed to the old abandoned
political programmes of 1917. By proclaiming themselves the
vanguard of the “Third Revolution” the Kronstadt sailors
drew a clear line between themselves and those who wanted a
return to the principles of the February Revolution. In par-
ticular they did not endorse the Socialist Revolutionary de-
mand for the recall or even the re-election of the Constituent
Assembly. When the Chairman of that body, Victor Chernov,
sent them a radiotelegram proposing to come to Kronstadt
personally and offered ‘all his resources and all his authority
for the struggle under the banner of the Liberation of the
People in the name of the Constituent Assembly’, the Chair-
man of the Provisional Revolutionary Committee, Petrichenko,
t}-lanl.‘e:d Chernov for his good wishes but asked him to postpone
f}’u § VIsit, at any rate until the situation was clearer.!* This re-
Slilsiil Eo adopt the slogan of the Constituent Assembly was con-
th nt with the sailors’ political doctrines. They considered
at the.S'ovmt constitution provided them with all the ncces-
SCary political means for getting rid of the dictatorship of the
Sh%mn(liumSt ?arty (and indeed of any party), provided they
th wed sufficient determination to use these means. There was,
t}y .beheVQd, no need either for a Constituent Assembly or for
E(i ltical alliances with parties which had compromised them-
clves in the eyes of the masses in 1917 and during the Civil
m:sl; The Communists could be ousted from power if the
Sovs :ts could stop their tampering with the elections to the
Sailorssilw}uCh was a violation of the existing constitution. The
the rolad no quarrel with the principle of the dictatorship of
0r£mue§anat, but they did not accept the leadership of the
its ex rm?t Party. This is the political platform Vyhu,:’h found
suc EaCSs_lon in the slogan of the “Third Revolution and in
Soviets Ptions in the Kronstadt Izvestia as: “All power to the
the 1a ;‘&R.i not to the parties”; “Soviet authority will liberate

The K ring peasantry from the yoke of the Communists™.
of their r?madt. rebels were ‘clearly conscious of the opgma‘hty
tions a 1;9 ltical ideas. They jealously safeguarded their aspira-
loi §ainst all attempts of other anti-Communist parties to
exploit them for political aims which were different from theirs.

11 Mett, Ida, op. cit. pp. 64 ff.
42



THE KRONSTADT RISING

A significant leading article entitled “Gentlemen and Com-
rades” appearing in the Kronstadt Izvestia on March 6th pro-
claimed: “You comrades are now celebrating the triumph of a
bloodless and great victory over the Communist dictatorship,
but your enemies are also triumphant. However, your joy and
their joy are based on irreconcilable motives. ¥ou are inspired
by the burning desire to restore the real power of the Soviets
and by the noble hope of providing the worker with free condi-
tions of work and the peasant with the right to dispose at his
free will of his land and the products of his labour; they are
inspired with the hope of restoring the Tsarist rule of the whip
and the privileges of the officer class. Your interests differ,
and therefore they are no fellow-travellers of yours. You desired
the overthrow of the rule of the Communists for the purpose
of peaceful reconstruction and creative work, they wanted it for
the enslavement of the workers and peasants. You are seeking
freedom, they seek to shackle you once more. Be watchful. Do
not let the wolves in sheeps’ clothing approach the captain’s
bridge.” . )
The question of the support of the organized proletariat
abroad was very present in their minds. On the 8th of March
the Provisional Revolutionary Committee sent 2 radio message
to proletarians of all countries, reprinted in the Izzestia on
March 1oth, in which they stated: “We solemnly declare to the
face of the proletariat of the whole world that we are not led
by White-Guardist generals of any kind, and that there have
not been and could not have been any negotiations with Fin-
land on the subject of military support anc{ food supplies. We
are in possession of sufficient stocks of material a;I’ld food for the
time required to overthrow the Communists. .]‘3‘ut the last
assurance was qualified and the message went on: “Should our
struggle be prolonged, we might be forced flo apply for help to
rovide food for our wounded heroes, for the children and for
the civil population.” In fact, negotiations were alre:ady goin
on with the Finnish Red Cross about food supplies, and 5
representative of this organization, 2 Captain Wilken, came op
skis from Finland to supervise their distribution. This episoqe
was seized on by the Communist propaganda machine ang
much has been made of the report that Captain Wilken was
formerly an officer of the‘In}penal Russian Na.wy. Various
Socialist Revolutionary émigrés—Chernov, Zenzinov, Keren-
sky and others—were also active in preparing the dispatch of
supplies for Kronstadt, should these be needed. Soviet Intelli-
gence agents intercepted some of the correspondence between

43



ST ANTONY’S PAPERS No. 6

the various groups on this subject, and it was published by the
Soviet Government. But in fact no help whatever from émigré
quarters ever reached Kronstadt.

_ The Kronstadt Izvestia also reflects the policy of the Provi-
stonal Committee vis-d-vis the rank and file of the Communist
Party. We have seen that the first act of insubordination had
bCCr_l the arrest of the Chairman of the outgoing Kronstadt
Soviet, Vasilyev, and of the Political Commissar Kuzmin. A
number of other Communists were also arrested, including the
head of Pubalt, Baetis!? (Izvestia, March 5th).

By March 16th some 300 Communists were detained in the

ronstadt prison.1® Their fate was a matter of ‘great concern
to the Soviet Government. The families of Kronstadt sailors
living in Petrograd were seized as hostages and the Kronstadt
garnson was warned that these would be shot if only a hair
fell from the head of an arrested Communist. Particular anxiety
Wtr:ls felt over Vasilyev and Kuzmin. Rumours were spread
about the cruel treatment to which the arrested were subjected
1nhpnson, and later some of them published gruesome reports

Z\; nlcél also contained boasts about their heroic resistance. There
ened : I;lo doubt that the Kronstadt Communists were fright-
Chekan expegted to be treated in the. same way as their own
lish 1 treated its prisoners. Thereforg it is important to estab-
an e, ¢ truth on this point, in particular as it demonstrates
the Izentlal dlﬁerenC§ between the anti-Communist tactics of
Moy ronstadt rebellion and those of other anti-Communist
w er:ments. The fact is that no Communists were shot, none
mittcCOIIIIrt-martlallegl, and the Provisional Revolutionary Com-
met Ig showed no vindictiveness. Victor Serge reports that h,c

orces uzmin a few days after his liberation by Tukhachevsky’s
compl and expressed his astonishment at the freshness of his
abolﬂiﬁlon In view of all the articles in the l?etrograd Press
min o e extremp hardships he had undergone in prison. Kuz-
effect tﬁuggegl his shoulders and answered something to the
to be 'ﬁtl things Wwere sometimes not so bad as they were said
scious of tl: P rovisional Revolutionary Committeec were con-
from the beu: responsibility in dealing with Communists right
arrested QO ¢ginning. On March 4th they announced that the
three re rommurpsts would not be molested; and they allowed
stadt orp es.entfltlves of the Provisional Bureau of the Krop—

ganization of the Communist Party, Ilyin, Pervushin

12 Or Batis.

13 See N. Komatovsky,

. a where reminiscences of some of the arrested Communists
in Kronstadt arc ignored.
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and Kabanov, to visit them. On March 7th the Kronstadt
Izvestia wrote: “The prolonged oppression of the labouring
masses by the Communist dictatorship naturally provoked their
indignation. As a result of this in several places [in Kronstadt]
relatives of Communists have been boycotted and have been
dismissed from public service. This should not happen. We
wield no vengeance; we only protect our interests as workers.
We must act with circumspection and remove only those who
use sabotage and libellous agitation in attempting to hinder
the re-establishment of the government and of the rights of the
toiling masses.” o

On March 6th a number of Communists in the Krasno-
armeisky fort attempted to follow the example of the trainees
of the Party Political School. They made their way out of the
fort and tried to escape over the ice to Oranienbaum. But they
were intercepted and arrested. After this incident the revolu-
tionary masters of Kronstadt adopted a rather stiffer attitude
towards their political enemies inside the fortress. On March
roth an order of the Acting Commandant of Kronstadt required
all Communists tosurrender their arms. On F ;xday, March 11th,
Izvestia gave details of the scale of food rations to be allotted
to arrested Communists. In the same issue it was announced
that the arrested men had been deprived of their footwear (in
all, 280 pairs of shoes and boots), which were to beélangled over
to the fighting forces. The prisoners were 1ssueN with bark
shoes. On March 1gth in the order of the daYh li) 6—when
military operations were already in full sw1n§---t e Frovisional
Revolutionary Committee announced that Communists who
remain in freedom have abused the trust of the Pr0v1s10n;}1
Revolutionary Committee and have atternpte‘{1 to communi-
cate by light signals with the enemy. The Prollesmnal Revolu-
tionary Committee enjoins on all citizens to eeﬁ) a watchful
eye on all enemies of the people and to arr:::lstl;c ose guilty of
such action.” Traitors and spies were warned that they would
be dealt with on the spot without trial acg?rdmg to the laws
which are required by the present moment. At the delegates’
meeting on March 11th Petrichenko reported that some of the
Communists who had remained in freedom were continuip
to carry on Communist agitation ?nd that Ilyin (one of those
who visited the arrested Communists on March_ 4th) had haq
the effrontery to telephone to Krasnaya Gorka in order to iy,
form the Government troops of the situation in Kr.onstadt,

There is however ample evidence that the conditions ypder
which the arrested were held were on the whole very tolerable,
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As a matter of fact the prisoners continued to act as a body and
they even held general meetings, the minutes of which were
sent to the Provisional Revolutionary Committee. In one of
these they asked the Committee to allow the arrested Commis-
sar of the battleship squadron, Zosimov, to go to Moscow ‘“‘in
order to explain to the All-Russian Executive Committee the
true situation in Kronstadt”. The Provisional Revolutionary
Committee discussed this proposal and decided that no action
should be taken as the situation must be well known to the
Government of the R.S.F.S.R. from the radio messages of Kron-
stadt broadcasting station, messages which the Government had
withheld from the people. Also liberation of Zosimov might be
interpreted as a sign of weakness on the part of the Provisional
Revolutionary Committee.

During the final assault on March 16th, when the first wave
of the attacking forces reached the wall of the prison building
near the naval harbour, they passed arms and ammunition to
the inmates through the windows. The prisoners turned on their
warders, broke out and took part in the last stages of the fighting.

owever, the arrested Communists were only a minority of
the total number of Party members. Most of them were left in
freedom. They established early in March a Provisional Bureau
pf the Kronstadt organization of the Communist Party and
1ssued an appeal to all the Communists in the forces. The
appeal was published in the Kronstadt Izvestia on March 4th.
In it the Provisional Bureau urged all Party members and can-
idates to carry on with their regular work. “Do not believe’’,
the appeal went on, “nonsensical rumours spread by provoca-
teurs who want to bring about bloodshed, that responsible
Ommunists are being shot and that Communists are preparing
an armed rising inside Kronstadt . . . The Communist Party
ave never betrayed and will never betray the workers, and
will fight with arms in hand against all those overt and secret
of “}C-Guardists who seek to destroy the power of the Soviets
mu orkers and Peasants. The Provisional Bureau of the Com-
o st Party recognizes the necessity for the re-clection of the
re_:11°t> and appeals to all Party Members to take part in this
¢ €Ction. They appeal to all Party Members not to oppose
€ Implementation of measures on which the Provisional
evolutionary Committee has decided.”

s document was later denounced by Communist writers
as proof of the degeneracy of the local Kronstadt Communist
organization. The support that it offered to the Provisional

evolutionary Committee was, however, non-committal, and
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the good faith of its signatories is open to doubt. At any rate,
one of them was that same Ilyin who, as we have seen, was
shortly to try to pass information on the dispositions in Kron-
stadt to the Government authorities on the mainland. It seems
almost certain that the main motive of the local Communists
who wrote the appeal was to play for time. At the moment
they wrote it it was quite impossible for anyone in Kronstadt
to judge whether the Soviet Government would decide to sup-
press the movement by force of arms.

After this first appeal the files of the Kronstadt Izvestia show
no trace of any further activity on the part of the local “Pro-
visional Bureau of the Communist Party’’. However, the paper
continued to publish letters from Party members and candidates
announcing their resignations. These letters were obviously
spontancous and are remarkable for the wide variety of views
they express. Some of them, after accepting the resolution of
March 1st, go on specifically to renounce the Communist
principles formerly held. This did not mean that the writers
were renouncing revolutionary Marxism; they merely refused
to recognize the exclusive authority of the Communist Party
and its exclusive leadership of the Soviet State. Others, without
expressly defecting from the Party, denounced the Communist
bureaucracy as provocations which were leading to blOOdSheﬁl,
and declared that “true Communists should not force their
ideas upon others, but should go hand in hand with the labour-
ing masses”. They pledged allegiance to the Provmgnal Revo-
Jutionary Committee. The freedom of expression and variety of
opinion in the letters is impressive. Next to the deJectgd lett?r of
a telephonist from Fort Shants, who asks hlsC comrades to for-’-
give his involuntary stay in the ranks of the ommurgst Pa_rt):
and promises ‘to live up to the conﬁ'dence.theylli extend to hln} ,
we find claborate attempts to reconcile an idea s:tlc Communist
creed with collaboration with the popular Kronstadt move-
ment. A candidate of the Party, possibly one who voted for the
K ronstadt resolution of March 1st, denounces the Government’s
lies about an alleged White-Guardist putsch in Kronstadt ang
writes: “As we now see that we have lost the confidence of the
masses and in order not to provoke the anger of those whom we
claim to represent, we must at once without delay declare:
‘Citizen, take the administration of the state In your own hands,
but give us the opportunity to take part in tl}ls work on equal
terms with the others.” ” Another Part}l candidate asks hlmself
what a Communist idealist should do in tht‘:‘ face of a popular
opposition to the Party leadership’s policy: “Some comrades”,
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he writes, “solve the problem by leaving the Party and becom-
Ing non-party men. But there are such who are firmly attached
to th(j- idea of the Communist revolution and in whom the
Mal:mst ideology has struck deep roots. Such comrades should
—without renouncing their membership of the Party—publicly
declare that they assume no moral responsibility for the action
of the Party bosses directed against workers and peasants and
should apply themselves honestly to assist in putting right all
the shortcomings of which there are all too many in our Soviet
ussia.” Finally a former worker of the Naval Artillery Labora-
tﬁry (who was at the time head of the Financial Department of
the Town Soviet) writes: “While respecting the idea of Com-
g}iﬁlsrﬁl as any other pure idea, I, as a rank and file member
ear] € Tarty and as one who has served the toiling class from my
freely Y't:’.[?.rs, openly appeal to you: Lep the workers breathe
uryé here should be no more domination by any party.
Partie owvf; S Sho‘ﬂd, express the will gf the voters and. not of the
who asr. 1 ¢ must implement the will of the labouring masses
life Wifh °°k”}g for truth and justice, for freedom and a bqtter
and out violence, without torture chambers and shootings
reast rlt)ures, Keeping the pure idea of Communism in my
and nq ccause every pure idea is a belief in a better future,
after tI;One can kill it in a man, I declare at the same time that
Nize th ree years of Party membership I have come to recog-
llreaue 'njustice of the Party bosses who have been infected by
and | tCracy and have alienated themselves from the masses,
in fuy erefore refuse to carry the hallmark of the Party and
ure do not intend to join any other party.”
the f:e?ave no reason to doubt that these letters represented
enin }l;.]gs of the rank and file of the Party in Kronstadt. As
amop. omself admitted, such “moods” were widely spread
the 8 Communists and were the psychological background of
Very Sa?_;kers. Opposition, whose fate was sealed during those
In Mogc ¢ days at the' Tenth Congrpss of the Communist Party
€ncieg oW. Communists who were in sympathy with these ten-
bearin 'n the mentality of the popular masses easily lost their
grud 'is, Whereas, at the Congress they were ready to submit,
In Kmnity and with reservations, to the regimentation of Lenin;
g, at ¢, adt, they ruefully went with the tide of popular feel-
COHViCtiOe same time claiming the sincerity of their theoretical
We rllls and maintaining .tl.1e1r right to profess them. )
Was aljye ave seen, t}_le. ].?rov1s1onal. Revolutionary Committee
SecCtiong to the possibility of obtaining support from certain
of the Communist Party. For the first few days of its
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life, the Kronstadt Izvestia (up to March 6th) did not attack
named individual leaders of the Communist Party and the
Soviet Government, although the ‘“‘degeneracy of the Party
bosses” became an early slogan. On each of these days the
Izvestia reprinted the leaflets dropped on Kronstadt, as well as
monitored radio appeals denouncing the Kronstadt rising as
a White-Guardist, S.R. and Menshevik adventure. Next to
these they printed their own appeal, stressing the Soviet and
proletarian character of the movement which they were head-
ing. Only after the arrest as hostages of the families of Kron-
stadt sailors in Petrograd and the announcement of Trotsky’s
order to crush the Kronstadt revolt by military force did the
Revolutionary Committee launch a violent denunciation of
Trotsky as the main villain in the story. “Field-Marshal Trot-
sky” . . . “this reincarnation of Trepov” . . . “the bloodthirsty
Trotsky” . . . “Malyuta Skuratov” . . . became standard terms
of abuse. He was said to hover like a vulture in the sky above the
heroic town of Kronstadt. Trotsky was also made responsible
for the suppression of the workers’ movement in Petrograd
(Izvestia, March 16th). Next to him spokesmen of the Kron-
stadt sailors attacked Zinoviev, who was responsible for the
action of the Petrograd Soviet. There was no attempt to exploit
the rivalry between the two Communist leaders, although the
Kronstadt Provisional Revolutionary Committee must haye
been well aware of it. It is significant that in speaking of Lenin
the tone of the Kronstadt Izvestia was somewhat different. Tt:ue
to their principle of keeping their adherents completely in-
formed of the Soviet Government’s attitude towards the rising,
the Provisional Revolutionary Committee gave a fair account
of Lenin’s interpretation of the developments as reflected in his
speeches to the Tenth Congress of the Party. The article of
March 14th is worth quoting extensively:

«“One would have expected that at a time when the workers
are rising to defend their downtrodden rights, Lenin would
give up all trace of hypocrisy and speak the truth. Somehow in
the minds of the workers and peasants Lenin has always been
thought of in a different way from Trotsky and Zinoviev. If
nobody believes a word of what Zinoviev and Trotsky say,
Lenin has not yet lost the confidence of the.masses. However

.. at the Tenth Congress of the Communist Party Lenin is
;epeating the usual Communist lies about the Kronstadt rising.
He claims that the movement is carried out under the slogan
of ‘Freedom of Trade’ and adds: ‘It is for soviets, without how-
ever the dictatorship of Bolsheviks.” But he does not restrain
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himself from speaking of White generals and petty bourgeois
anarchist elements. We see that Lenin in uttering these abom-
inations, is contradicting himself and involuntarily admitting
that the movement is basically a fight for a Sovict régime and
against the dictatorship of the Party. In his confusion he de-
clares: This is a counter-revolution of a quite different order
(from the White-Guardist one). It is very dangerous, in spite
of the fact that the small amendments to our policy which it
demands might appear at first sight negligible . . . The words
‘danger’ and ‘dangerous’ re-occur again and again in Lenin’s
speeches on Kronstadt. The chief of the Communists is now
shaken, and appeals for the maximum of cohesion, because the
cleavage concerns not only the dictatorship of the Communists,
but the Party itself. . . . Quite recently Lenin declared at 2
meeting when the trade union question was discussed, that he
was dead tired of it all and would be only too glad to drop it
all and retire, quite apart from considerations of his health.
But his associates will not let him go. He is their prisoner and
must repeat the same slanders that they do. The Party has
embarked on a policy which is opposed by Kronstadt where we
are demanding not freedom of trade but the real rule of the
SOv1ets.”

The theme of the well-intentioned autocratic ruler who is 2
prisoner in the hands of his supporters has always been favoured
n Rus§1an political literature and in Russian popular myth.
Its variations in the Kronstadt Izvestia only prove that the
attack on Lenin had to be conducted on somewhat different

nes from that on Trotsky and Zinoviev. The article quoted
shows how clearly the Kronstadt rebels understood that their
pohpcal demands came first and that the allegation put out by
S Emél, that they were asking for freedom of trade, was just as
" : erous as the bogey of the White Generals. They knew that

en(t:lolnceSSlons of the New Economic Policy proclaimed at the
popul ongress of the Communist Party would weaken the
Sogie tar masses’ determination to demand free clections to the
incipies - Accordingly, the insurgents were eager t0 discredit thﬁ

e zvnt N.E.P. as'soon as it was proclaimed. On March 15t
inten ds‘" fia wrote: “That Lenin, as a benevolent old landowner,
only in to make a number of small concessions to the peasants
Party diol‘der to screw up even tighter the‘ jaws of the vice of
do wi thgtatorshlp is shown by his sentence: ‘of course we cannot
ished a ut coercion, because the country is terribly impover-

nd tired’,” Ip an article, Socialism in Inverted Commas, the

Lzvestia enumerateq a1l the misdeeds of the Party leadership
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which had promised a free rule of labour but which in fact pro-
duced only a “bureaucratic socialism” with Soviets consisting
of officials who voted obediently as they were ordered by the
Party Committee with its infallible commissars. To this Kron-
stadt opposed its programme ‘“‘of a socialism of a different
kind, of a Workers Soviet Republic where the producer himself
will be the full owner and disposer of the produce of his labour”’,

All this is certainly primitive and rudimentary. It shows how-
ever that the opposition of the masses in Kronstadt to the policy
of the Soviet Government was not merely directed against the
malpractices of Soviet bureaucracy, Cheka terror and the sup-
pression of popular democracy, like that practised in Kronstadt
in 1917, but against the spiritual foundations of Communism,
and possibly even against Marxism as such. The popular masses
were beginning to understand that the ideal order towards
which the leadership of the Communist Party was steering the
Soviet State was based on a principle according to which all
efforts of individual members of the community were to be
regimented so as to serve exclusively the needs of society as a
whole. What these needs were was to be determined by the
Communist leadership of the State, which undertook, in ex-
change for their loyalty and total submission to the State and
Party directives, to provide for all mdl_\f}dual citizens those
needs which the leadership considered legitimate. This Marxist
ideal was fundamentally unacceptable not only to the peasantry,
but also to a large part of the town proletariat. They were
ready to assume the direction of State affairs through electefi
representatives. They were ready to ‘n}akf»‘ a terll:porary sacri-
fice of their labour, and indeed of their life, to keep power in
the hands of the labouring masses, but they claimed the right
to dispose of their labour and their individual efforts in generay,
in order to satisfy their own needs and prle}ie for t‘he}r own
subsistence. This opposition to the basic principles of scientific
socialism’ as represented by Marxism was deeply rooted in the
consciousness of the RI.ISS}al:l masses and, l}owever rudimenta
its cxpression in the seml-h.tcrate journalism of Fhe Kronstadt
rebels might appear to us, it deserves the attention of the hjs.
torian as perhaps the most articulate expression of that stifieq
opposition against which the Communist leadership of the
Soviet State has been waging a relentless war for the last thirty
years. . . . . B . N

There is another indirect indication of how alienated the
Kronstadt sailors were from orthodox Mamsm-Lepinism, We
have seen that they were extremely eager to avoid anything
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which the Government propaganda could exploit in support of
the allegation that the rebellion was a White-Guardist move-
ment. Yet they allowed religious ceremonies at the funerals of
those who fell in the skirmishes on the approaches to Kronstadt.
The Izvestia of March 14th announced that a panychyda will
take place in the Chapel of the Military Hospital. The announce-
ment was signed by the chairman of the Revolutionary Com-
mittee of Three of the Naval Hospital. On March 16th Izvestia
announced that there would be a religious funeral service in
the Naval Cathedral for a number of persons who had been
killed or died of wounds. This was certainly a departure from
the Practice of solemn civic lay funerals for ‘“victims of the
revolution” which had been a’ typical feature, in 1917 and
during the Civil War, all over Russia. It is hard to believe that
the return to religious practices was based on a revival gf
l""hglOus.feeling among the rebels. It is more plausible that their
TeSumption was a defiant demonstration of independence from

the spiritual tutelage of the Communist Party.

VII

HISTORICAL INTERPRETATIONS OF
THE KRONSTADT RISING

Thoe account of the events in Kronstadt which we have given
ab : © Was drawn without great difficulty on the basis of avail-
beenewdence; And yet no event in the Russian Revolution has
lying More misrepresented by various interpreters. The under-
Viole conflict which caused the rising was not removed by its
the pre.sul?Pl‘ession and still remains unresolved. Thls.exp!ams
both aJudlceS about Kronstadt among contemporary historians,
POrarymo.ng those who play down this conflict as a2 mere tem-
Munjgy, Itch in the inevitable development tgwards Com-
conflje In Russia, and among those who believe that this

initiat;dmlla in the end, spell the failure of the experiment
Kronstag,’. Lenin. Communist historians have tried to explain

labori(,udt as the last convulsion of the Civil War. They have
vities ofs Y disguised the uprising as a resurgence of the. acti-
ference 1 € pre-revolutionary Russian parties, and of inter-

Y foreign powers. On the other side, almost every
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anti-Communist interpreter has tried to establish a link between
his own political programme and the attitude of the Kronstadt
sailors, and to draw comfort from the fact that at least some of
his aspirations were shared by a spontaneous popular movement
inside Russia.

This picture is made even more confusing by the emergence
of a third party in the ranks of the interpreters. After Trotsky
had suffered his great political defeat and had become an
émigré, claiming to be the victim of the Stalinist Thermidor,
he was faced with the embarrassing task of explaining his vio-
lent action in suppressing 2 movement which had forestalled
him by some years in denouncing the degeneration of the Com-
munist Party and its betrayal of the proletarian revolution.
He did so with his usual journalistic ardour and with his usual
disregard for factual exactitude. His defence is not convincing
and yet it has been accepted by some historians.

The polemics on Kronstadt are interesting not merely as a
modern example of the falsification of history. In them the
battle which the semi-literate Kronstadt sailors fought with
arms against a régime which they had helped to install has
been transferred to an ideological level. And it is by no means
impossible that at some future date the same PﬁlemlCS may
inspire and influence momentous political events.™®

As we have seen, the sailors rose against 2 basic claim of the
Communist Party to assume and to retain the leadership of the
proletarian state, to the exclusion not only of all other soc1a}13t

arties, but also of all spontaneous mass movements Whl.Ch
might arise to protect any group interests not ((::lom}}:auble with
the line laid down by Lenin for progress towarh s the qstabhsh-
ment of 2 Communist society. “Marxism teaches, said Lenip
in a resolution he proposed at the Tenth Copgx:ss, that only
a political party of the working class, thath 1s the Communjgt
Party, can unite, educate and organize suc1 avanguard of the

roletariat and of all the toilers in general as will be ap]e ¢,
withstand the upavmdal?le relapse into proi:essmnal Narrownegg
and prejudices in the midst of the proletariat and at the same
time will be able to control all the ramifications of the prole.
tarian movement, that is the whole of the toiling masses, Witl,.
out such a vanguard a dictatorship of the proletariat i un-
thinkable.” o )

In order to maintain that the Communist Party alope could

Jead the proletarian masses, Lenin had to assume that the vast

18 These lines were written before the events in Berlin in 1953 ang

in Bud
in 1956. apest
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majority of the toiling people accepted this leadership. In fact,
the Soviet Government received considerable support from the
proletariat and the peasantry in the struggle against White-
Guardist movements and foreign intervention during the Civil
War. But, when the Civil War ended it became obvious that
this support could not be interpreted as a mandatc to embark
on social and economic policies which neither satisfied the
e¢xpectations of the masses nor were understood by them. There-
fore, the Communists had to prevent the cmergence of any
ideology which would compete with theirs in seeking the sup-
port of the workers and peasants. This is why non-party con-
ferencqs appeared dangerous and even counter-revolutionary
to Lenin, Any alternative political and social programme mcant
fc_)rthm an implicit denial of the Communist Party’s exclusive
e e e pondencs S e e s
and the disast, fP e o urgeo’ " _
ticularly sp ers of the last three years have given rise to par
and s err}l" Sharp swayings in the moods of the small bourgeois
an allj *"Proletarian masses. At times these swayings go towards
¢ ance of these masses with the proletariat [for which read
res(:(r)r:,z?mSts’*G- K.]; sometimes they are towards bourgeois
that ey éon- All the experience of previous revolutions shows
the vann the slightest relaxation in the unity and strength of
Masses g’llllard of the proletariat and of its influence on the
capit 1,W1 lead to the restoration of the power and property of
Ptalists and landowners and to nothing else.” )
cone eetc ut? to the understanding of such arguments lies in the
eranlge,,o . Semi-proletarian masses whose “enormous prepon-
tarian In Russia was admitted by Lenin. These semi-prole-
and sma?lsses Comprised all landowning peasants, small artisans
iving 1, traders who did not employ labour but made their
privately Means of their own effort and skill in the use of their
Y Owned means of production, land and trading capital.
\® proletarians proper (i.e. those who earned their
connectedw‘?,?kﬁng for capitalists) were to a large extent socially
seasona] factlt the semi-proletarian masses. Many of them were
COmmuneg orﬁ' workers who had not broken with their village
peasant reiar', creas others maintained family ties with their
political for 'ves. It was the emergence of this stratum as a
inevitably re:f Which Lenin feared and which he alleged would
it was contr HOrc Pre-revolutionary conditions in Russia, unless
Olled by the Communist Party.
for the -Soviet Government there was no in-
nouncing the Kronstadt movement as ‘“‘coun-
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ter-revolutionary”; anything which was not Marxist-Leninist
was counter-revolutionary by definition in their terminology.
Lenin, Trotsky and Zinoviev were less honest when they went
further and claimed the movement was White-Guardist. Lenin
gave his personal support to this lie only once, and that rather
evasively. In a speech at the Tenth Congress he referred to the
Kronstadt mutiny, behind which, he said, ‘looms the familiar
figure of a White General’. The Soviet propaganda machine
could not dispense with the story of a White-Guardist move-
ment, because otherwise Government troops would have re-
fused to shoot at fellow semi-proletarians. The legend was
forged as early as February 28th, as testified by Victor Serge,
and a few foreign anarchists who were staying at that time in
Petrograd. It was supported by the weakest and most palpably
fraudulent arguments. It was alleged that a report in the French
newspaper Le Matin of a rising in Kronstadt had prematurely
appeared a fortnight before the event (by an oversight of the
capitalist Press service). In fact, such newspaper stories were
continually appearing in the Western press at that time, and
the one in Le Matin could easily have been inspired by the
rumours connected with the resolution of the Communists of
the Baltic Fleet at their second conference in which they con-
demned the work of the Pubalt (see above, p. I5). After the
suppression of the revolt when its character could no l.onge:r.be
a secret to anybody, the legend of the White-Guardist rising
was nevertheless officially maintained and has gone into all the
popular Communist history te}.\ctbooks. As we have seen, there
was no public trial of the mutineers. Thirteen men were arbi-
trarily selected from the many thousand prisoners and it was
announced that they had been found guilty of mutiny and shot,
The announcement carefully recorded their social status. Amop
them were five nobles and one former priest, aqq the rest were
casants. None of them belonged to the Provisional Revyoly,.
tionary Committee and none, as far as can be_ascertained, had
Jayed any part in political developments during the rebellion,
"Their execution was obviously meant to support the story of the
‘class degeneration” of the Kronstadt garrison. We knoyw how-
ever that at the time these men were.shot a number of the real
jeaders of Kronstadt were being held in Ch.eka prisons. Thys the
Menshevik Dan reports that he was in prison with Perepelkin
a sailor of the battleship Sevastopol who was one of the Originai
five members of the Provisional Revolutionary Committee and
who headeditspropaganda department. Perepelkin wag accord-
ing to Dan, shot; but no announcement of this was maJe public.

35



ST ANTONY’S PAPERS No. 6

The story of the White-Guardist rising, although it remains
on the official record, has not been seriously upheld by those
few Communist historians in the Soviet Union who have been
allowed to publish the results of their detailed research on the
event. The attitude towards it of some Western historians is all
the more surprising. Mr Isaac Deutscher in the first volume of
his Trotsky biography admits that the White-Guardist legend
was not true. However, he finds it necessary to explain the
origin of _the legend by a genuine mistake on the part of the

ommunist leaders. These credulous beings were so used to
assoclating any rising with White-Guardist agitation that they
%gn_ulnely bethed such a monstrous attack on the proletarian
GE:;‘;’ i Russia could only have been instigated by White-
was leldStsi) In fact, according to Mr Deutscher, the rebellion
anarchist Y anarCh}Sts. We shall return to the question of
exist, As i{rlﬁuen(:e in qunstadt and will show that 1t C!ld not
cerned it ar as the sincerity of the Communist rulers 1s con-
Gvuardi’st;1 Is enough to point out that the story of a_‘White-
28th and ﬁflng by General Kozlovsky’ was spread on February
with the ga; f‘t Kalll}ln went to Kronstadt the next day to parley
rulers Wentl ors. Is it COnce}vable that the delusion of the Soviet
take an offiy f{ar as to believe that Kalinin could safely under-
General? cial visit to the headquarters of a White-Guardist
if E}i;ia:;iﬁe;s tobth? Communist leadership we must admit that,
might haye dOt elieve in the White-Guardist story, they at least
Professed g, readed that it could become a reality. Lenin always
of the (o at the only possible alternative to the dlctflt_orshlp
capitaﬁstsmmunlst Party was the restoration of the “régime of

TOnstadt and landowners” and, indeed, of Tsarism. If the
Whiteg th rebels had really wanted to join hands with the
Black e, €Y might possibly have obtained the support of the
gel from, s.2val units, evacuated a few months before by Wran-

izerty, €bastopol and at that time interned by the F rencb in
ton of o ¢ Kronstadt rising had indeed caught the 1magina-
Paris hailedw- ole of the Russian emigration and Miliukov in
liberatioy Hlt as the beginning of a popular movement of
Without i, -C Was ready to accept a programme of “Soviets
Kronstaqy ;n Munists” which he mistakenly believed to be the
aries not tg i?lg;’m and even to warn the Socialist Revolutloq-
tuent Assembflst on their demand for the recall of the ?Onsu-
and tact, w}, Y. Lenin paid tribute to Miliukov’s intelligence
geoisie and en he wrote: “The intelligent leader of the bol_lr-
the landowners, the Kadet MiliukoV, explains
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patiently to the little fool Victor Chernov directly (and in-
directly to the Mensheviks Dan and Rozhkov imprisoned in
Petrograd for their contact with Kronstadt), that there is no
hurry for the Constituent and that one can and ought to join
the movement for a Soviet régime without Bolsheviks.”” Lenin
explains that the White-Guardists, with whom he identified
Miliukov, knew much better than the S.R.s and the Mensheviks
how to drive in the thin end of the wedge to loosen the Bolshevik
hold. Miliukov as the representative of a genuine class conscious
of its interests was not prone to the waverings and verbosity of
the petty-bourgcois parties. Lenin’s belief in Miliukov’s cun-
ning and class consciousness in no way supports his gratuitous
assertion that without the Communist Party power would in-
evitably slip back into the hands of the capital and landowning
classes according to some inexorable law of social dynamics.

In 1921 Lenin drew a clear line between the version of the
Kronstadt uprising which could be published in the press and
the one he was prepared to expound to members of the Com.-
munist Party. To Party members he admitted that in a political
sense, if not in a military one, the Kronstadt uprising was more
dangerous for the Soviet régime than ‘Kolchak, Denikin and
Yudenich put together’.1s He explained to them that the defec-
tion of the semi-proletarian element in Kronstadt from the
cause of the proletariat was due to the influence of the S.R.s,
Right and Left, of Mensheviks camouﬂaged as non-party men,
and of anarchists who had underground links with the remnants
of the Makhno movement in the Ukraine. No real ewdqnce to
support these allegations has ever been produced by Soviet his-
torians. Itis true that all the groups and. parties menuoned.vyere
to a greater or less extent in sympathy with the K.ronst:_ac.lt rising,
and all of them would have been ready to give it political sup-

ort, had there been any time for this. But events took them by
surprise perhaps even more than they did the Soviet Govern-
ment itself. )

As far as the Right S.R.s are concerned, we have seen that
the Kronstadt rebels explicitly repudiated their main politica]
demand, that for the recall of the Constituent ASSembly
Whether or not Lenin was right in alleging that Chernoy had
sent @ persopal emissary to Kronstadt is 1.rrelevant. The insur-

ents’ rejection of the demand for a Constituent Assembly even

pecame a source of embarrassment for S.R. émigrés, Ap § R

publication on the Kronstadt rising issued by the SR, Valyt;

Rossii in Prague in 1921 reports a conversation with some
18 Lenin: Sochineniya (3rd edition) vol. 26, p. 21 4
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members of the Provisional Revolutionary Committee who es-
caped abroad, in which the latter refused to support the demand
for a Constituent Assembly, because they did not trust elections
based on ‘“party lists”. And the S.R. publication makes the
melancholy comment: “This is how the Bolsheviks have suc-
ceeded in discrediting and vitiating the very idea of free clec-
tions on party lists.”” Of course the Party lists, of which there
were dozens during the Constituent Assembly clections in
NOVe.rr:ber 1917, were a bewildering and unpopular feature of
Russia’s only free election. However, the Kronstadt sailors re-
Jected the idea of a Constituent Assembly for simpler reasons,
‘{)thh everyone but the S.R.s understood: they did not want to
oi? Ce:i)rnprormsed by :che bankx:upt ideas of 1917, when a reform
dem:fl::ioral abusgs in the existing Soviets could.satlsfy their
mittee hs éulegatlons that the Provisional Revolutionary Com-
stituent Zs secretly agreed to support the demand for a Con-
forward bSembly in negotiations with Chernov have been put
that the’S ﬁt ?a\je never bgen substqnhated. No.r does the f:fxct
the dispatch emigre executive committee was trying to organiz¢
eVidenEe f of food supplies to the besieged fortress provide any
by them or the theory that the rebellion had been instigated
po'lIi‘*fil:a{;eft S.R.s were certainly much closer in their general
siona] ROutloqk to the programme of the Kronstadt Prowvi-
made 5 evolutionary Comrn.lttee, but few accusations werc
SRst geamSt them, perhaps just because of this fact. The Left
sailorg Bmtsif lyes emphatically denied any connexion with the
enin -also in his speeches at the Tenth Congress and later
stadt Sailoo accused the Mensheviks of having incited the Kron-
shevil Drs to rebellion. In this connexion he named the Men-
etrogradan who had been arrested on February 26th in
With the Dan has since declared that he had nothing to do
of a smaﬁlsmg- In February he was directing the political work
the worke MenShCVik group in Petrograd and was a witness of
Sanguine vrls dernc’nst'rations in the city. He did not share the
crats of theewl of the situation held by some of the.Soc1a1 Demo-
Workerg Wy ekhanov fraction Edinstvo, who believed th,at the
Instructeq < ready to fight for a ‘Constituent Ass.en'}bly . Dan
demangy ; § group to proceed cautiously and to limit political
Soviets’, SuChthelr clandestine press, to ‘free elections to the
and its text ha Menshevik leaflet was dlstn.bute.d in Petrltzgrad,
was expectj as been published by a Soviet historian. an
Ng his arrest any moment and did not try to avoid
1¢ Kornatovsky, op. cit. p. 9
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it. anally, he was taken to the Cheka on February 26th, and
was 1ncarcerated in the Petropavlovsk Fortress with a number of
other Mensheviks and S.R.s. His first intimation of unrest in
Kronstadt (which he had believed to be firmly on the side of
the Government) was the sound of the naval guns, which shook
the prison fortress on March 6th. Dan learned later that some
of his assistants in the Menshevik organization had actually
printed an appeal to the Kronstadt sailors on March 6th, when
the rebellion was in full swing. Dan’s evidence is supported by
the fact that Menshevik influence had never been strong in
Kronstadt, which in 1917 was considered to be a special pre-
serve of S.R.s, anarchists and to some extent of adherents of
Trotsky. Had the Mensheviks expected anything serious to hap-
pen in Kronstadt, Dan would have done more to try to evade
arrest. On the contrary, Dan was so little informed of what was
going on on the island that he believed that the Government
could rely on the Kronstadt sailors to put down any rebellion
in Petrograd. Possibly this error of judgement of his in a critical
situation made him somewhat prejudiced against the Kron-
stadt sailors, whom he later met in prison and whom he accused
of ““anarchist tendencies”. During the few weeks he spent in
Petrograd he seems to have been depressed e}nd demoralized.
He did not believe there was any fight left in the Petrograd
roletariat and he found it difficult to explain how, in this
eneral atmosphere of depression, such an outburst of political
determination could have ever matured. )
The relations between' the leaders of the rebellion and the
anarchists are somewhat more complicated. However, the
uestion has been thrashed over so much that we probably
know more about these relations than about any of the other
olitical complications connected with the Kronstadt rising,
Ttis therefore more than surprising thatin 1954 Mrl. Deutscher
in his book The Prophet Armed states, without quoting any
references, that the Kronstadt rising was leq by anarchists”,
The facts are as follows: in 1917 the anarchists had a strong-
hold in Kronstadt where they had a rCS}dcnj: agitator, a certain
archuk, who was working under the directives of the anarchist
intellectual leader Volin (Eichenbaum).!” The anarchists played
a certain part in the defiant Kronstadt Soviet, where they were
opposed by Trotsky’s followers. In June 1917 a group of

17 Yarchuk described his experiences in Kronstadt in a book Kronsp, .
Revolutsii (New York 1923) translated into several languages. The ro] éag:" ;;[ fru:gko]:
in Kronstadt has been referred to in Soviet literature on 1914 (Flel‘owky Kre (;1 ; ud
v. Oktyabrskoi Revolutsi). > Kronshtadt
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Kronstadt sailors attempted to kidnap the Minister of Agri-
culture, Chernov. These men were anarchists and were carrying
the anarchist black flags. We have mentioned the closure of the
Constituent Assembly. Here again it was an anarchist Kron-
stadt sailor, Zheleznyak (or Zheleznyakov), who in January
1918 helped the same Chernov—the chairman of the Con-
stituent Assembly—rather roughly from his chair, saying that
the men guarding the hall (whom he commanded) were all
tired and needed a rest and that the talking should stop. In the
Civil War years both Yarchuk and Zheleznyak left to fight the
White-Guardists in the south of Russia and neither of them

¢ver returned to Kronstadt.
. Vc\{hel} the Kronstadt rising broke out, most of the anarchist
.caders in Russia, including Volin and Olga Taratuta, were in
Jail. A fortnight before the Kronstadt outbreak the funeral of
la::);;;)tkln took place, on which occasion the black flag, for the
then trl?e, Wwas carried through the streets of Moscow. It‘ was_
o anaatht'he Cheka was forced to release, reluctantly, six of
Tast fon rchist leadc;rs on parole, so that they could make their
turbanCWe}l to their spiritual leader. During the Petrograd dis-
leaflet ¢es in February 1921 the anarchists managed to issuc a
Comm n_which they called for an insurrection against the
‘state umsts,’ 3‘“ they warned the proletariat against seizure of
to thePOWer -18 This, according to the leaflet, would lcad only
plain bre-emergencc of tyranny, as had been recently made
that Yaz-, ﬁ ¢ seizure of power by Communists. It 1s possible
to do Witch uk, who was in freedom at that time, had something
and wag this agitation. But Yarchuk never went to K‘lzonstadt
Wwith the arrested on March 8th. He was accused of “contact
at that ronstadt rebellion”, but all political suspects arrested
Period ame were accused of just this crime. There were at that
Alexange Number of foreign anarchists in Russia, including
quite disilli erkman and Emma Goldmann. They were by then
run by usloned with the way the proletarian state was bcln’g
diary, h: 0 and the Communists. As is clear from Berkman’s
Dot beco, Tfonstadt rebellion took them by surprise. ';.["hey did
and sogy, 1;21“3 dupes of the “White-Guardist rebellion” legend,
Preparatioy, erstood that this slanderous accusation was only a
h«?lchevSky Tol‘ the bloody suppression at the hands of Tuk-
in0viev ) S c for cign anarchists addressed a pathetic appeal to
starting I’le ot‘ng~ him to intervene and prevent bloodshec} by
of six, inclﬁdilatmns, and they offered to appoint a Committee
8o . Dg two anarchists, in order to resolve the differ-

Publisheq in Kornatovsky (ssce Bibliographical note), p. 164.
o
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ences with Kronstadt by peaceful means. The appeal, signed
by Goldmann, Berkman, Perkous and Petrovsky, was handed
to Zinoviev on March s5th and it is not impossible that the
telegram, dispatched to Kronstadt from Petrograd on the 6th
and offering to send to Kronstadt a joint Party and non-
Party fact-finding Commission (which we mentioned on p.
was a direct consequence of the initiative taken by the foreign
anarchists. But even so—the fact that it was rejected by the
Kronstadt Provisional Revolutionary Committee tends to show
that there was no direct contact between the bewildered anar-
chists in Petrograd and the determined leaders of the Kronstadt
sailors and soldiers.

The anarchists were mentioned only once in the Izvestia, of
the Provisional Revolutionary Committee, namely in the text of
the Kronstadt resolution of March 1st. Point 2 of the resolution
demands “freedom of speech and press for workers and peasants,
anarchist and left-wing socialist parties”. The resolution does
not contain the usual anarchist denunciation qf the State. On
the contrary, they claim that the State machinery should be
handed over to the representatives of woykers and peasants.
Nor is there any mention of insurgents fighting unde:r the black
flag either in the Provisional Revolutionary Committee’s pub-
lications or in those of the Communists. True, there are vague
insinuations by Soviet historians that the chairman of the
Provisional Committee, Petrichenko, had anarchist leanings;
but all these amount to are rumours that Petrichenko had spent
a certain period in the Ukraine in an area where Nestor
Makhno’s gangs were operating. This area 1s somewhat larger
than the whole of the British Isles and has a population of some
seventeen million people. ) .

Kronstadt produced a strong impression on the internationa]
anarchist movement. The anarchists were quite outspoken in
their condemnation of the Soviet methods of suppression ang
in their sympathies with the rebels. They en‘{barlged on bitter

olemics with Trotsky on this question, after his exile, and pub-
lished 2 well-informed pamphlet. on the rising. B.ut they always
claimed that they had never led it. In a publication by Russian
anarchists on the persecution of anarchists in Soviet Rygsig
which we have seen in a Bulgarian translation (Sofia ; 923),
there is a list of all the names of anar.chlsts who had been shot,
imprisoned or banished by the Soviet Gover}'lment. The list
includes Yarchuk and Zheleznyak, but contains ng names of
other Kronstadt sailors. Both Berkman and Goldmann deny
having ever instigated or led the Kronstadt rising, Apnq Volin,
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having devoted a chapter to the Kronstadt rising in his La
Révolution Inconnue, deplores the fact that the Kronstadt sailors
could not rise to a full understanding of anarchist ideals. The
furthest one can go in meeting Mr Deutscher’s extravagant
assumption that anarchists led the Kronstadt movement is to
repeat Ida Mett’s cautious estimate: “One can only conclude
that the anarchist influence on the Kronstadt insurrection was
confined to the idea of workers’ democracy, which anarchism
propagated.”

We have seen that the propagation of the idea of a camou-
flaged White-Guardist plot as the motive force behind the
Krons.tadt rebellion had a very understandable practical pur-
pose: 1t was necessary in order to make the reluctant Red Army
men fight against their brothers in Kronstadt. But Lenin’s
theqry_, that of camouflaged collusion (smyckka) on the part of
Socialist Revolutionary, Menshevik and anarchist leaders, who
Planned under the disguise of non-party men to regain their
8T1P on the unstable mass of the semi-proletariat, served no such
PurpOsF-’And it is not borne out by the facts. How did it arise
' Lenin’s mind, and what was his purpose in proclaiming it?
ha tgvas not invented on the spur of the moment. Such ideas
At theeq conceived and promulgated as far back as July 1910.
entit] edtlme, in a communication of the Central Comm‘l‘ttce
Very - All to the Struggle against Denikin, Lenin stated: We

_OrgaWell know. the breeding ground in which counter-revolu-
cieg 'Y enterprises, explosions of pOquar discontent, conspira-
> €tc., are hatched. This is the milieu of the bourgeoisie, of
of theo urgeois intelligentsia, of the rich peasants in the villages,
and 0fn(’n'Party populace everywhere, as well as of the S.R.s
Petty-1, the Mensheviks.” The document vituperates against
viks w.Ollr.gems democracy, headed by the S.R.s and Menshe-
She‘;isrrllth its chronic tendency to sway to and fro between Bol-
“We sh and the counter-revolution of Kolchak and Denikin.
e miSh;)&l 1d not”, the document continues, *“‘allow ourselves to
Persong] 1.0 the words and ideologies of their leaders, by their
biograpy: OResty or hypocrisy. All this is of importance for their
tions g, > but of no political importance as far as the rela-
work “ir:N een classes are concerned.” The Left S.R.s may well
tionarieg o, Rendently” without any agreement with the reac-
allies, p, and /or with Chernov, “but in fact they are Denikin’s
far bette:v Ds in his game’’. The passage ends by saying that it is
active o 0 pick out, imprison and even shoot }_mndrqu of such
railwa wonents of the Soviet régime, including printers and
¥ Wor ers, than to allow a victory of the counter-revolu-
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tionary generals, which would lead to the torture and execution
of tens of thousands of peasants and workers. Those who did not
understand this necessity and who continued to whimper and
complain of injustice should be made a laughing-stock and an
object for public scorn.

Lenin’s interpretation of the role of Mensheviks, S.R.s and
anarchists in the Kronstadt rebellion in 1921 was modelled on
the pattern of these accusations of counter-revolutionary activity
raised against them in 1919. Lenin did not accuse them of
conspiracy (zagovor) with the leaders of the Kronstadt rising, but
of collusion (smychka). And he certainly was ready to apply to
them the repressive methods recommended in the document of
I919. .

The theory of ‘collusion’ could have been applied equally
well to some of the Bolsheviks, in particular to those of the
‘Workers Opposition’. Indeed, one point of the Kronstadt
rebels’ programme closely resembles some points made by the
Workers Opposition in their statements before“the Tenth Con-
gress. The Kronstadt rebels were fighting for a Workers Soviet
Republic”, where “the producer himself will be the supreme
master and manager of the produce of his labour”. The key-
word here is “producer”. It was also the keyword in the pro-
gramme of the Workers Opposition. They proposed to set up an
“All-Russian Congress of Producers”, representing all the pro-
ducing Trade Unions. This Congress was to elect a central body
to which the administration of the whole national economy of
the Republic should be entrusted. It was against this conception
that the resolution of the Tenth Congress On S}"‘ndmahst and
anarchist deviation in our Party” was directed. “The concept
producer”, said the Leninists, “js a dangerous departure from
Marxism which teaches us to draw up clearly the boundaries
between the classes. ‘Producers’ comprise both proletarians
and semi-proletarians whose interests 11 the class struggle are
opposed. By putting forward the slogan of a ‘Congress of
Producers’ the Opposition ignores the primary educational
and organizational task of the Party in its relations with pro-
letarian trade unions. It confuses the relations of the proletariat
with the semi-bourgeois and petty-bourgeois masses, and it thys
undermines the work of the Party. Such ideas have to be fought
relentlessly and systematically and their propagation ig incom-
patible with the membership in the party.”

Another resolution of the same Congress “on the Unity of
the Party” stressed the events in Kronstadt as an example of
how deviations and factions in the Party could be exploited by
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the enemies of the Soviet régime. The resolution ends with a
paragraph which was kept secret for a number of years, author-
1zing the Central Committee to remove from the Committee
and even to exclude from the Party any member who persisted
In practising these vices. Incidentally this paragraph was in-
voked when the expulsion of Trotsky was staged.

However, Lenin did not think it wise or necessary publicly
to charge the Workers Opposition with collusion with the Kron-
stadt rebels. Here Lenin had his own good reasons. The Men-
S,he_"lk§ and S.R.s had demonstrated—at least as far as their
cmigre members were concerned—their admiration for and
Support of the Kronstadt insurgents, whose programme they
could not share and which they were to an appreciable degree
committed to oppose. The Workers Opposition, whose economic
and social aspirations were much closer to those of the Kron-
stadt movement (although politically more claborate and arti-
culate), abhorred the very idea of supporting this movement

Y open political action. They even applauded the violent sup-
pression of the “mutiny” by force of arms. For Lenin to charge
them with collusion would have involved expelling them from
thg Par.ty and driving them underground. Outside the Party,
tar‘y might have provided fresh leadership for the semi-prole-

'an masses who had in fact inspired their political programme.
azﬁ‘?arlng them the accusation of collusion, Lenin securcd their
join gsuPPO}‘t for his policy of suppression in Kronstadt. They
Norih up with the other members of the Congress who went
comm to take part in the final assault on the fortress under th(}
the anl({i of Tukha.chevsky..lt is not-eworthy that a membe}' o
abrOac(l)r‘ €rs Opposmon factlop, Lutinov, who was at tha.t time
an int !0 Berlin, expressed his approval of the suppression in
Ciplin erview with the Press. Such was the power of Party dis-
Were E that thesg Party members who, at that very moment,

arty t‘}fllng_depnvefi of the means for propagating inside the
turn ' fo,. € views which they held to be right were unwilling to
Views anilupport to the masses, whose needs had 1r}sp1red these
to who had shown in Kronstadt their readiness to fight

the death f

i or them.

in aeslinI:: Sl.anaIYSis of the Kronstadt rebellion has been repeated
ment, Plfied form by Trotsky in his writings after his _bamsh-
asked tq €n at that period he was heckled by anarchists qnd
against Igxl?laln his decision, he simply stated that the action
tionary gol“:::nstadt had been a tragic necessity; tlllle }‘evolu-
protecting rnment obviously could not abandon the fortress

Petmgrad simply because a few anarchists and
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dubious Socialist Revolutionaries were leading a handful of
reactionary peasants and rebellious soldiers.

Lenin and Trotsky chose of their own free will to fight the
Kronstadt men as counter-revolutionaries, and were inescap-
ably driven to invent the evidence of connexions between
Kronstadt and all possible counter-revolutionary groups. They
made this choice because the only alternative to it—the tolera-
tion of a proletarian movement developing independently of
Communist tutelage—was unacceptable to them. They claimed
that such a movement would have swept them from power. In
this they may have been right. All available evidence supports
such an assumption. Where they were wrong was in pretending
to believe that their probable downfall would have been the
occasion for a Tsarist restoration. Of course thcy' had no other
choice. They could not admit that the Communist régime was
capable of being threatened by a genuinely proletarian move-
ment, and when such a movement arose, they had to crush it,
and to interpret it to themselves and to the world as a counter-
revolutionary coup.

AFTERMATH

The final attack against the Kronstadt insurgents ended on
March 18th, the day on which the Soviet Press commemorated
the anniversary of the Paris Commune. At the very moment
when the reluctant (Menshevik-influenced) tYPOgra.p’}}ers were
setting pages depicting the horrors of aneral Galifé’s atroci-
ties, Tukhachevsky’s troops were butchering woundec! Prisoners
of war in the streets of Kronstadt. Those who survived filleq
the Petrograd prisons and some of them were shot by the Cheka
many months later. Others were sent to the concentratiop
camp on the Solovetsky Islands, where they lived for years anq
where, if one can trust the report of a fellow-inmate, the

helped to organize the first concentration camp labour force

Those who escaped to Finland were interned by the Finns, Some
of them, including Petrichenko, the leader of the Provisiona]
Revolutionary Committee, published statements in the Ryssian
émigré Press. The S.R. émigrés organized collections to agg sy
them financially. This did not prevent many of the sailoyg who
reached Finland from going back to Russia, lureq by the
promise of an amnesty. Dan reports having met a numper of
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them in the Petropavlovsk fortress, where he was at that time
incarcerated. They were bitter, he says, about having been
fooled once again, for the Cheka kept a firm grip on them, and
they as well were either shot or sent to concentration camps. In
Kronstadt itself the Soviet was never reconstituted. All author-
ity became vested in the Commander of the Naval Fortress.
The troops brought up from various parts of Russia for the
final assault were dispersed, and Tukhachevsky turned to his
next task—the suppression of the peasant rising in the Tambov
and the adjoining provinces, a less-urgent and less-spectacular
‘assignment.

It has frequently been said that the Kronstadt events forced
the hand of the Communist Government and speeded up the
Inauguration of the New Economic Policy. This is certainly not
so. The New Economic Policy was devised at the beginning of
the year and the principal newspapers opened a discussion on it
In the middle of February, before the outbreak of the Petrograd
Tiots or of any major unrest in Kronstadt. The discussion did
not prove particularly fruitful, the political struggle inside the

Oommunist Party being centred mainly on the Trade Union
Pl'qblem and the activities of the Workers Opposition. The reso-
lutions introducing the New Economic Policy were prepared in
ad\{ance for the Tenth Congress and they certainly took the
Majority of the delegates by surprise. But they were linked
with the campaign to suppress any deviational movement in-
side the Party, which might reflect the political mood of which

ronstadt was an instance. The resolutions against factions,

€alt with summarily and under pressure by the Tenth Con-
8ress, should be considered as a much more immediate conse-
quence of the Kronstadt events than the inauguration of N.E. P,
€ entrenchment of the Communists in the government of
Towet Russia was secured by two sets of defensive measures.
tc’he one dealt, so to say, with the outer defences. It put an end
of ?ﬁl Political activity by non-communist partics. The claims
tal Communist Party for exclusive leadership in the Soviet
noa:lte Were emphasized and this time it was clearly stated that
COn{pauy political activity would not be tolerated unless it was
the I‘COHed by the Communist Party and would tend to strengthen
maSSeomml.u.ﬁSt Party’s grip on the swaying semi-proletarian
Pars S. Poht}cal agitation and propaganda were entrusted to a
apaZt °§gamzation_"Glavpolztp(osvet . Althgugh“lt was to be
the s tgt the People’s Commissariat of Education, this link with
from bee apparatus should not prevent the Gl_twpolzfprosvet
Coming by the very es%eglce of its work a direct instru-
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ment (apparatus) of the Party in the system of state organiza-
tions”. As far as its work with non-party masses was concerned,
the “Party should maintain its monopolistic control of non-
party conferences [sic] and congresses, as well as of agitation in
Soviet elections.” This was a clear enough answer to the Kron-
stadt demands for free electoral agitation and the divorce of
political propaganda work from the State. A further detail
1llustrates the desire of the Communist leadership to make the
ban on non-communist controlled political propaganda abso-
lutely watertight. In its resolution on the Glavpolitprosvet, the
Tenth Congress stated that the General Trade Union Council
(V.Ts.S.P.S.) and the Provisional Trade Union Councils
should join their efforts with those of the Glavpolitprosvet and
“should use for their purposes the apparatus and the resources”

of the latter. This meant the complete subordination of the
political and cultural educational work of the Trade Unions to
the control of the Party bureaucratic machinery. At the same
time, the Komsomol (the Communist Youth Organization)

was allowed far more freedom in the organization of its educa-

tional and recreational activities. The Komsomol was merel).r to

co-operate with the Glapolitprosvet. We see that in the mind

of Lenin, who inspired these resolutions, Communist youngsters

could be trusted with running their clubs, organizing their lec-

tures, etc., while experienced Trade Unionist Workers, many of
whom were former Mensheviks or Menshevik sympathizers,

could not, and therefore must be made to use the apparatus of
Party dictatorship. . .

As far as the inner defences of Party dictatorship were con-
cerned, the main task in Lenin’s view was to prevent thg forma-
tion of oppositional groups inside the Party, which might act
as spokesmen for the demands of the non-communist prole.
tariat and semi-proletariat and which might be tempted tq
seek the support of these masses 1 internal party-politica]
strife. In an angry, aggressive speech Lenin shouted that this
was no time for oppositional activity, t?’at the Party had haq
enough of it, that he would “put the lid” on all opposition No
factional activity, no political pressure groups inside the P,y
no inner Party caucus would be tolerated. To enforce this ',
secret clause on sanctions to be taken against deviationistg v\’;as
inserted in the resolution. At the same time Trotsky’s Platform
which was to perpetuate and to develop the policy of War
Communism, was brought under fire. This provided ay oppor-
tunity to make the policy inaugurated at the Tenth Congress

appear not only as one of economic concessions, but of political
67



ST ANTONY’S PAPERS No. 6

moderation as well. But in point of fact it signified the final
abandonment of the 1917 principle, that the Communist
Party would play the same part in the proletarian state as a
parliamentary majority played in a bourgeois democracy. The
resolutions of the Tenth Congress consolidated the triumph of
the theory which was openly stated at the Twelfth Congress of
the Communist Party in 1922, that the dictatorship of the pro-

letariat was impossible without the dictatorship of the Com-
munist Party.1®

!* This formula, which emanated from Zinoviev, was strongly criticized by
Stalin, although never officially corrected. Stalin’s criticism does not affect .the
substance of the formula or attack the principle of the exclusive, all-pervading
control of public life by the Communist Party. It only stresses the importance of
maintaining the make-belicve that the State and the masses are only educated
and guided by the Party, which does not cven possess an instrument of cocrcion.
Dictatorship

s . . . . . . . its
activities by tllieﬂ;’z, rl;yl.l.smess of the Soviet State, which is mercly guided in 1
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EPILOGUE

Lenin seized power in 1914 ; name of the ‘proletariat’.
For those who hag studi2d7hi1;1 I;}lrﬁosophy of histoli'y it might
have been clear thyy by ‘proletariat’ he did not mean any of
the existing Oppressed classes in the Russian Empire, but a
vision of future humam'tv, Those, however, who supported him
in the streets of Petrogr'ad and Moscow in 1917 did not and
could not under_stand the ambiguity of this keyword in Lenin’s
philosophy of hlstory. The Baltic sailors who followed him in
1917 and through the

years of the Civil War believed that they
were the proletariat |

In whose name Lenin was ruling the
country and Preparing the imminent battles of world reyoly.
tion. They were cop

firmed in this mistaken belief by the be-

haviour of the confirmeq leaders, by Trotsky’s adqla;tlons, by
the demagogic €ncouragement of Zinoviev, by Lenin’s publ.lc-
ized warnings to the Party Leadership urging them to renew like
Anteaus their revolutionary powers by keeping 1n touch with
the infallible instinctg of these masses. It was not the fa}ﬂ.t of
the workers and peasants who supported the Soviet Tegime
in the first few years of its existence that they believed its Ppro-
gramme to be an implementation of their _owi'l egonormc, poli-
tical and social aspirations. The Bolshevik leaders had con-
sciously or unconsciously done eveI'Ythmg% to malfl:ltialln t.hl.s
delusion. True, during the three and a hal lyears of the CIV}I
War sacrifices had beep imposed on the popular rnl:ilsses by their
leaders, which they probably had not %ﬂglizsesz_tffoected,
These were, however, explained away by t tfle b 1tes of war
and were to a large extent compensate.d.i?’)’l o ﬂuennge 1}}1'1 socia]
status and the ostensible increase of politica eln'o e which th,
formerly depressed classes seemed nowﬁtot tojtﬁ’é

Awakening from these illusions came r}i ) lpeasants
it did not remain confined to them for :::1 e }fln'g) fﬁ‘ea.SOn
the revolutionary masses who supporte (ti : e_d cc)l sheviks both
in 1917 and in the Civil War were ne\f(e_r dwlt € 1xnto soc1ally
opposed groups. The small strata of industria Workers
Russia was still closely connected with the agr;nan Population
and was to a great extent nothing but an él)_ver1 OW of the Jang.
starved peasantry. No wonder that they disp }:ilyed the lack of
that proletarian class-consciousness which (in the eyes of

) Lenin
alone could qualify representaéwcs of the oppresseq Masses for
9

] bllt
that
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the title of real proletarians and predetermine them (according
to Lenin) to embrace his own revolutionary Marxist faith. In
1917 Lenin had ignored the warning of other Socialists not to
seize power before the emergence of a genuinely proletarian
class after many years of democratic capitalist development.
As it happened he seized power in the name of a proletariat
which did not exist, with the help of revolutionary masses
which were not consciously proletarian (i.e. not ripe to identify
their vital aspirations with the Utopian components of Marxist
doctrine). The opposition that he later met from these masses
should not have come as a surprise to him.

By 1921, however, every political group and organization
which could have given a programmatic expression to the
%conomlc and social aspirations of the revolutionary masses had
. 1iigréfzr_\;shed between the millstones of the opposing camps in
o t}11V1 War. Lenin did his best to bring this about by slander-
" c;gn Tehother ‘socialist _parties as supporters of counter-revolu-
these ¢ Kronstadt rising is the most conspicuous attempt of
as il.a‘l;fievoluuonr«‘\ry ‘masses to come out in defence of their
orpan' ons by putting out a programme and creating an
o g 11z.'¢1‘(1'o.n.of their own, without the leadership of profes-

Onal politicians and intellectuals.

- €y succeeded in formulating their programme. They even
cceeded in the initial stages of creating an organization.
isfx}:lmanaged after three and a half years of bitterness, mutual
mOOdSt f:md wartime discipline to recapture the rapturous
intost of the i:lrst days of the'FebruarY. Revolution, of that
of ¢ cation with the sense of liberty which was characteristic
191 € TGrOst milling in the streets of tl}e. capital in Februa
han?:l.s he unfortunate survivors of the rising who fell into the
althoy, ?lf the Cheka spoke of it to their fellow-inmates, and
hOpedi the record written down by Perepelkin (which he
text of tﬁuld be smuggled out abroad) has since been lost, the
Sufficton e Kronsta(:lt Izvestia and the testimony of Dan.are

R militalproof of this achievement. But they failed to achieve
Populay 5 Ty success which wo}ﬂd have made them }ead?r§ of
inauguraf:éStance to the establishment of the dictatorial régime

ronstady by Lenin and perfected by Stalin. For the people
and as g, }fljnam.ed merely a sxmbol of this popular resistance
1921. For } 1ts significance is just 2;2 greatdnow asblt was in
repressed POliiicsommumSt Party, Kronstadt has become a

1€ ’
Among the Bols Traumea’.

. ; whon
realized that Y heviks themselves there were many ever

ere was a profound gulf between the ““conscious
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proletariat” of the future Communist State and the living mass
of Russian people who were longing for bread, land and peace.
Many of them beliecved that with the fall of the régime of poli-
tical oppression and privilege, nothing would remain to prevent
these oppressed masses from becoming politically conscious, i.e.
instinctively Marxist. The Kronstadt events opened the eyes of
these Bolsheviks to realities which they had refused to see
before. Kronstadt forced them to realize that the popular
masses who had provided them with disciplined troops to fight
against counter-revolution had ceased to be their allies. The
masses had been ready to join the Bolsheviks in their struggle
against legality based on property, so long as property and
legality were the means of enforcing and maintaining social,
political and economic privilege. But once these privileges were
finally abolished the attitude of these masses changed: and they
were ready to rally to the defence of legality and property
in so far as these ensured for the worker and the peasant the
opportunity to take care of his material well-being and the
freedom to decide for himself what he thought was good for
him.

A number of Bolsheviks were in profound sympathy with
these claims of the revolutionary masses. Their sympathies
were rooted in the populist (Narodnik) trend of the Russian
revolutionary movement and had been strengthened by ties of
blood during the Civil War. They must have recognized that
the defection of the Revolutionary masses was an inevitable con-
sequence of by-passing a capitalist stage of development under
a bourgeois democratic régime. These Bolsheviks hoped for a
development of the Soviet State which would replace the one
foreseen by Marx, and saw it coming with the advent of N.E.P,
With the lessening of economic tensions the political opposi-
tion of the masses would diminish, they hoped.

Lenin himself must have shared these Views to a certain
extent. But for him, it was clear that this pohcy of appeasement
inaugurated by N.E.P. should not go hand in hand with an
increase of political influence for the masses. He did not seize
power in 1917 in order to become a propagandist of Communist
ideas before a socially underdeveloped semi-proletariat. He
therefore squarely admitted that he did not expect overwhelm-
ing popular support for himself and the Bolshewk Government.
He asked his followers to accept the fact that it was necessary for
his Government to neutralize the antagonism of the reyolu-
tionary masses by means of economic bribes, by military force,
and finally by slandering the memory of those who had opposed
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him and fallen in the struggle and denouncing them as counter-
revolutionaries. Many of those in the party to whom these
demands were addressed were taken aback by them. But the
astonishing thing is that they had caused no defection in the
ranks of the Bolsheviks. In his memoirs?® Victor Serge looks
back with a mixture of remorse, dismay and self-righteousness
on the moral decision which he made in the Kronstadt days
not to join the protest of the anarchists.

He did not for a moment believe the story of the White-
Guardist plot. Like so many Communists at that time he knew
thatthe Kronstadt rising reflected far better than the programme
of the Bolshevik Party the true mood of the popular masses. He
was, as so many Communists in the opposition groups, in sym-
pathy with these aspirations and yet he decided to give his full
support to the Government just as did the members of the
Workers Opposition who went to fight on the ice of the Gulf
of Finland. Years afterwards he provided the following excuse
for this surprising decision: Although the Kronstadt sailors
were justified in their demands they would never be able to
maintain the proletarian dictatorship. According to him the
defeat of the Bolshevik Government would have led not to
freely elected Soviets, but to Soviets from which the Bolsheviks
would have been excluded. It would have meant the return of

al’ll’iru.pt bourgeois and semi-bourgeois parties, the return of
the €migrés to political life and the end of the social revolution.
Lenin’s government, although doctrinaire and tyrannical, was
the only guarantee against a counter-revolution. “Totali-
tarianism is with us”, Serge admitted.

20 Serge, Victor: Mémoires d’un révolutionnaire (Paris 1951), pp. 145
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BIBLIOGRAPHICAL NOTE

Documentary evidence on the Kronstadt rising is confined to

a very small number of publications. The main source is the

Izvestia on the Provisional Revolutionary Committee reprinted

in full in the Appendix to Pravda o Kronshtadte. Ocherk geroi-

cheskoi borby Kronshtadisev protiv diktatury kommunisticheskoi partii,

published in book form by the newspaper Volya Rossii, Prague |
1921. The text preceding the Appendix gives an account of the

events from the Socialist-Revolutionary point of view, but is

based on interviews with the participants of the rebellion.

A first-hand account of the events has been given by the
Chairman of the Provisional Revolutionary Committee Petri-
chenko in a separate pamphlet Pravda o kronshtadiskikh sobyti-
Jakh, pp. 24, 1921.

The earliest literature on the rising has not been accessible
to the author. Some references to it are contained in M. L,
Lurye: Kronshtadtsky myatezh v sovetskoi i beloi literarure i pechati,
published in Krasnaya Letopis No. 2 (41), Leningrad 1g3i.
Lurye’s work was never completed and only the part dealing
with the Soviet literature appeared in Krasnaya Letopis. A list
of contemporary publications in Soviet periodicals was given
by the same author in the compilation edited by Kornatovsky
.(sec below). Among the works referred to by Lurye the most
Interesting seem to be the following: ,

A. Shepkov: Kronshtadtsky Myatezh (ed. Moskovsky Rabochy)
Leningrad 1g2g4. ) ) .

- Kuznetsov: Is vospominaniy polztrab?tmka, GIZ M.-L. 1930.

Rafail: Kronshtadtsky myatezh, Ukr. Giz, 1921.

The publications on which I had to rely are all connecteq
with the tenth anniversary of the rebellion and have been com.-
posed by Party historians to whom someé archive materia] wag
available. The two main works in book form are:

A. S. Pukhov: Kronshtadtsky myatezh 1921 goda (e‘}l- Molodaya
Gvardiya M.-L. 1g931). (The book was not available to the
author, who used the serialized version 1n Krasnaya Letopis No. 4
(37) 1930, No. 6 (39) 1930 and No. 1 (40) 1931.)

N. Kornatovsky: Kronshtadtsky myatezh. Sbornik state; vospo-
minaniy i dokumentov (ed. Leningradskoye oblastnoe izdatelstyo.
Leningrad 1931). .

far as the military operations are concerned a fy]] analysis
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seems to have been given at an early date in the No. 8 issue of
the military magazine Voennoye znanie for 1921 in articles signed
by Tukhachevsky, Dybenko and Verkhovsky. This was not
available to the author. A fairly detailed account is given in
the contribution by S. Uritsky to the first volume of Grazhdan-
skaya Voina, edited by A. S. Bubnov, S. S. Kamenev and R. P.
Eidemann, Moscow 1928-1930, and some of the reminiscences
in Kornatovsky.

For the political side of the events see the report of the Tenth
Congress of the Communist Party: Stenografichesky otchet desyatogo
syezda, and the resolutions of the Congress in VKP (b) v rezo-
lutsipakh. An analysis of the part played by the delegates to the
Tenth Congress has been attempted by S. E. Rabinovich in
Krasnaya Letopis No. 2 (41), Leningrad 1931, pp. 22-56. For the
Menshevik version see F. Dan, Dva Goda skitaniy, Berlin 1929,
and Shlyapnikov’s speech at the Tenth Congress as well as N, N.
Boldin, Mensheviki v Kronshtadtskom myatezhe in Krasnaya Letopis
No. 3 (42) 1931, Pp- 5-31. The anarchist point of view origin-
ally expressed in Berkman’s The Kronstadt Rebellion and in Emma
Goldma:nn’s My disillusionment in Russia, London 1925, has been
exl}auSUVely summed up in: Ida Mett, La commune de Cronstadt.
Crépuscle sanglant des Soviets, Spartacus, Paris 1949. This contains
also. a reply to some of Trotsky’s belated apologies for his action
against the Kronstadt sailors. Ida Mett gives the chapter and
verse for Trotsky’s statements on this subject. She also gives a
shor!: bibliography of periodicals published outside Russia

ealing with Kronstadt. A much longer list of articles, which
appeared in 1921 in the Soviet Press on Kronstadt, will be
found in Kornatovsky, in an Appendix by M. L. Lurye. After
1931 the Kronstadt rising ceased to be a subject on which Soviet
1storians would engage in (and publish) research, however
conformist or bjased it might be.
he most balanced and ‘well-documented accounts of the
ronstadt events will be found in Fedotoff-White, The Growth
Qf. the Red Army, Princeton 1944, and Leonard Schapiro, T#e
¥ of the Communist Autocracy, London 1954.

© GEORGE KATKOV 1959
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NESTOR MAKHNO






(1)

Nestor Makhno was an outstanding example of the revolu-
tionary peasant. He was a fighting guerrilla leader of rare
calibre, and made an important contribution both to the Bol-
shevik defeat in south Russia in the summer of 1919 and to the
subsequent collapse of Denikin and later of Wrangel. His was
one of the very few revolutionary movements to be led and
controlled throughout by members of “the toiling masses’’; and
he provides the one instance in history where for a period of
months and over a wide area supreme power was in the hands
of professed Anarchists. The importance the Bolsheviks attached
to him is shown by the violence of the vituperation and the
paucity of fact in relevant Soviet writing.

While much contemporary material concerned with the
movement is no longer available, there are four works of par-
ticular interest: Makhno’s unfinished autobiography;! the
“official” history by one of his close associates;* a Soviet
account written in the early twenties and drawing on Security
Service and other archives;® and the memoirs of an Anarchist
intellectual who served as chairman of the Revolutionary
Military Soviet at Makhno’s headquarters.* Further details are
available in V. A. Antonov-Ovseenko’s Zapiski 0 Grazhdansko;
Voine, Vol. IV (Moscow 1933). .

Although Makhno in the course of his campaigns covered a
wide area, his movement was in some respects 2 local one, with
its centre and spiritual capital in Gulyai-POl_YC, a large village
half-way between Ekaterinoslav on the Dnieper and the Sea
of Azov. It was here that Makhno himself was born and t}l‘Ought
up, and it was from the surrounding parts of the Ekatermoslav,
Tauride and Kherson guberniye that came the great majority
of his followers.

These three provinces, sometimes known as the “troika”, POs-
sess characteristics not common to the rest.of the Ukraine. The
troika’s rural population contained appreciable non-Ukrainjap
elements—Great Russians, Germans, Greeks, Bulgariang and

1 Makhno, Nestor: Vol. I, Russkaya revolyutsiya na Ukraine (Paris 1gaq), .
Pod udarami Kontrrevolyutsiye (Paris 1936). Vol. I11: Ukrainskaya reyogz‘kggl.iill’.
dekabr 1918 (Paris 1937) . . -

3 Arshinov, P.: Istortya makhnovskogo dvizheniya 1918-1921 gg. (Berlin 1923)

3 Kubanin, M.: Makhnoshchina (Leningrad n.d.) ) 3

4 Voline, V. M. (Eichenbaum): La Révolution Inconnue (Paris n.d.)
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Tartars, and a number of Jewish agricultural colonies, whereas
In other areas the peasants, all Ukrainians, were confronted
with a landowning class all Polish or Great Russian and with a
merchant class all Jews. The economic pattern differed also
with the development of mining and industry to the north anci
nort}}-east and a somewhat more “capi.talistic” Pattern of
dfming, Tt is significant too that the trotka as a whole, and
lllyal-Polye in particular, had a tradition of turbulence, and
;Vlfz‘e the scene of serious disorders in 1905. It has been pointed
that it was just those villages which had been most unruly

under the AN ‘e to give most trou

BolshevikS:Tsanst régime that were to g ble to the
(i)

Makhno

was born, in October 1889, of an almost destitute
family. From the age of 7 he earned a little money
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minding cattle. At 12 he became a full-time agricultural
labourer, but three years later he left the land to work at a local
foundry. A year or two afterwards as a result of the local reper-
cussions of the 19o5 revolution, he became concerned with
politics.

Anarchists of various groups were then comparatively
numerous in the Ukraine. There were Anarchist-Communists,
Anarchist-Syndicalists and Anarchist-Individualists (the Anar-
chist-Universalists appeared later), but their ideological dif-
ferences were blurred. The group to which Makhno adhered
were nominally Anarchist-Communists, but first and foremost
fighting revolutionaries. Their aims were to “dlspo§c of the
myths of the other parties and lead the social revolution”.s At
Gulyai-Polye the immediate task was to fight, by terrorist
means, against the police repression following the disorders of
1905-1906. Before he was 19 Makhno was arrested and sen-
tenced to life imprisonment for his share in the murder of a
police officer. The next nine years, up to March 1917, he spent
in the Butyrka Prison at Moscow. . .

Here he made friends with a fellow-prisoner, one Arshinov
from Ekaterinoslav, an ex-carpenter in a railway workshop
and editor of an illegal Bolshevik news-sheet and subsequently
a militant Anarchist, who had arrived in the Butyrka at about
the same time as Makhno. Arshinov was a man who had taken
great pains to educate himself, and such political and general
education as Makhno ever acquired was due to his fellow-
prisoner. Not that he was an easy or an apt pupil. He never
learned to speak Russian correctly. All the samé, hs was always
writing, and his fellow-prisoners were “pombarded” by his end-
less manuscripts. When not writing he was arguing. He was
consumed by a restless and turbulent vitality, that earned him
the sarcastic nick-name of Skromny (modest). He was always
in trouble with the prison authorities, and spent much of his
time in irons or in the freezing punishment cells—where he
probably contracted the tubercular trouble that eventually
helped to kill him. He was intensely proud of being an Anay.
chist. He conceived a lasting horror of prisons, and at the height
of his success on capturing a town one of his ﬁ_rst. acts would be
to free the prison inmates and destroy the building.

& Arshinov, op. cit. p. 48
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(iii)

On the release of the political prisoners following the February
revolution of 1917 Arshinov stayed on in Moscow. Makl}no
Teémained only three weeks in order to polish up his ideological
€quipment and to meet the leading Moscow Anarchists. Then
€ returned home to carry on the work of the revolution. His
ultimate aims were simple. All instruments of government were
to be destroyed. All political parties were to be opposed, as all
Ot them were working for some or other form of new govern-
ment in which the party members would assume the role of
a ruling clags, Al social and economic affairs were to be settled
in friendly discussion between freely elected representatives of
€ toilin v
a ngorr‘f::est.he one political prisoner that quyai-Polye
Possessed and he returned as a hero. There was still a small
archist group in the village and they arranged 2 reception
for him, Here he jssued a firm demand for organization, T;s
OCcasioned some demur: to the more meticulous Anarchjgs
OT8anization g such was suspect. Mass action should be spq, -
taneoyg and the only permissible activity was propagang,,
OWever, Makhno had his way, and by the end of March ¢
UI}'ai-Polye Association of Peasants was founded, with hjp,~
€ Ch . .
efore ?lol;lma}rll - had made himself the effective political }qgs
of the diStrictg Ie August the Kornilov affair and the appea] of
Petrogl‘ad.Scr)lviet Iggrovided just the lead he ha_d been Waiting
with * - COMmittee for the Defence of the Revolution was formed
of .2 lnevitably Makhno as chairman, and the expropriatijon
in flll large land holdings, factories and workshops was taken
Ekailé1 4. The representatives of t.het P?ovmlonal Government at
Tingg ss to 1nteriere,
litBy com ?‘were powef:}icvik coup d’état of October created
tle stip Parison the Bo fore i ble to form a
Cleay ;15 It took some weeks before it was possi ) m
befOr; t*}?la as to what had happened; and of course, rrgl‘fe A onger1
in the 12€ new pe trograd régime could exercise effec ontro

¢ asants” and
“F acteys OVinces, But the slogans Land to the Pe an

the
fOr.

Maky, Tes th kers® were perfectly acceptable. To
ng? e Worke ( ! et
pere dgis Peasants jt seemed that the inhabitants of Petrograd

before. 8 just what they themselves had done 2 few weeks
s
' Gulyai~P01ye the toiling masses proceeded, mOre or less
8o
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peacefully if untidily, to consolidate their revolution. The little
factories functioned, or failed to function, under the control of
the workers. The estates were split up, without much incident,
among the peasants. Most of the pcasants, having got their
land, took no further interest in outside affairs. But under the
drive of a few idealists a certain number of agricultural com-
munes were formed, where an elected committee of elders
would allot the work, and then themselves work alongside their
colleagues. Makhno himself became a member of one of them.

Relations with the Soviets of Aleksandrovsk and Ekaterino-
slav remained friendly if somewhat reserved. They were
dominated by Bolsheviks and Left S.R.s, and it was proper to
support these revolutionary parties against the Whites on the
Don and also against the Kiev Rada (regarded by Makhno as
a gang of bourgeois chauvinists). Arms were obtained, with
Bolshevik assistance, and a Gulyai-Polye militia was recruited
and sent off to support the Red forces. At the same time
Makhno’s visits to the neighbouring towns filled him with mis-
givings for the future. From what he had seen of the Bolsheviks
and Left S.R.s in action he felt that they were not loya! to the
spirit of their slogans. There were too many arrests. Whlchever
of the two parties attained ascendency—he was convinced that
sooner or later one would squeeze out the other—was likely to
endeavour to impose its authority “in'the_ harsh sense of the
word”. Lack of unity and lack of organization among the local
Anarchists prevented them from being more than the tail of
the Bolshevik-Left S.R. bloc”.¢ He set his hopes on the Anar-
chist movement in the capitals; but his letters to them asking
for advice and guidance remained unanswered. )

Meanwhile there arose the problem of putting into practice
the basic principle of Anarchist economy—the exchange of
commodities freely arranged between free orgamzations of free
producers. The south Ukrainian peasants had plenty of grain:
what they needed was manufactured goods. Accordingly a
Gulyai-Polye comrade was sent on a tour of the towns. He
seems to have been cordially received by the workers every-
where, and in Moscow he met with tangible success. Two
Moscow trade union representatives arrived at Gulyai-Polye to
fix details. The grain was loaded on rail cars, sent off under a
Gulyai-Polye guard and duly arrived. The Moscow workers
held to their part of the bargain, and a consignment of textiles
and other manufactured goods was dispatched to the south. It
was held up at Aleksandrovsk. There was intense indignation

8 Makhno, op. cit. Vol. I, p. 138
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among the Gulyai-Polye peasants, who threatened to march
on the town. The threat was enough. The Aleksandrovsk Soviet
gave way, and the consignment was duly released and djis-
tributed among its rightful recipients.

The implications of the Brest-Litovsk Treaty were not im-
mediately apparent in Gulyai-Polye. The Kiev Rada propa-
ganda could be countered without much difficulty. But towards
the end of March Ukrainian troops were across the Dnieper,
with, apparently, German and Austrian detachments in sup-
port, and there was no evidence that the Red forces were put-
ting up an effective resistance. The fainter-hearted in the region

egan to waver. At a mass meeting at Gulyai-Polye Makhno
declared that they could now rely only on themselves and myst
fight for their freedom. There was a rush of volunteers. Makhpo
was elected Commander-in-Chief. Local intellectuals were
gingered into organizing 2 medical service. More arms were
obtained, and a sizeable detachment was moved up to reinforce
the Red garrison of Aleksandrovsk.

Meanwhile it was becoming more and more apparent that
there was no cohesion among the Red units. Each was acting
on his own, “often in those sectors where there was no enemy”.7

hen they did meet the enemy they were liable to panic.

akhno was summoned for consultation to the headquarters
of YegOrov, the Commander of the Red Forces. When he
reaChed the rendezvous he found t.hat headquarters had mOVCd
€astwards, so for the next forty-cight hours he followed, over
fountry cluttered with refugees and stragglers and drunken
ands of Red gajlors, after the ever-receding headquarters
Staff. Op ki way news reached him that Gulyai-Polye had been
OCcupieq by the enemy. He made desperate efforts to rally
some_ groups of stragglers to come back with him and liberate
:he Village, But far too few were willing, and his only course was
s(t) on east again to Taganrog, the point for which al] the
hragglers seemed to be making, and collect any of his people
t}fec‘)‘lld find. He went on, he records, full of grief and shame at

T(;OllapsC of his revolutiolf}-B
glers S20T0g was crowded with Red Army detachments, strag-
A deserters and civilian refugees. A fortnight previously, on
Cﬁiﬁ I13th, Moscow had staged its anti-Anarchist drive. The

2 had rajded their premises and arrested several hundred
plac €rs; and haphazard arrests of Anarchists were taking
a m? ™ Taganrog, Makhno himself was not molested; he found

Mber ‘of refugees from Gulyai-Polye and neighbouring

’ Makhn,, op. cit. Vol. I, P- ;3926 8 Ibid. pp. 1977211
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villages, and in late April they held a congress to decide on
future policy.

It would be wrong to consider these refugees as typical of the
south Ukrainian population. The bulk of the peasantry (and,
indeed, the townsmen) stayed where they were. They had their
land. They were not particularly interested in politics. A few
felt themselves good Ukrainians and welcomed the Rada.
Others hoped that the new régime would mean the establish-
ment of peace and order. It was mainly the convinced revolu-
tionaries and those whose recent activities marked them out for
reprisals that had evacuated. The unanimity and bellicosity of
the Taganrog congress are therefore not surprising.

They were determined to re-establish their revolution in
Gulyai-Polye. They now realized that they had little to hope
either from the Bolshevik Government or from the Bolshevik
higher command: they must fight their own battles themselves.
After discussion of ways and means it was decided that late June
and early July, the harvest season, was the best time for sub-
versive work among the peasants. It was therefore agreed that
the congress participants should infiltrate back to the area at
that season singly or in twos and threes. Once back they would
re-establish contacts; spread propaganda; organize clandestine
groups of potential fighters; collect arms; and urgently and
conspiratorially prepare the ground for 2 general peasant
revolt.? .

The time chosen for action meant an i1:1tervql of nearly eight
weeks; and Makhno decided to spend this period going round
the big centres of Soviet Russia. He wanted to find out for him-
self what had happened to the Anarchists, and what they were
intending to do. He wished to see what Bolshevik supremacy
meant in practice, and what was the position and attitude of
the workers in the big factories. He npeded to know i:lrst ha:nd
what help and what obstruction he might expect for his coming
revolution in the south. The account of his Odyssey,.whlch
takes up the second volume of his memouirs, affords a fascinating
worm’s-eye view of Bolshevik Russia in the spring of 1918.

(iv)

Makhno arrived in Moscow in early June after a tour that had
included Tsaritsyn, Saratov, Astrakhan and Tambov. While
en route he heard news of the dispersal of the Ukrainian Rada
® Ibid. pp- 75-80
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and of the installation of Skoropadsky with German backing—
which convinced him of Lenin’s error in accepting the Brest-
Litovsk Treaty. Later came news of the Czech revolt and the
establishment of the S.R.-dominated Government at Samara.
In all these cities administration was confused if not chaotic.
In Saratov, for instance, there was a large force of Red sailors
(from both Kronstadt and the Black Sea) engaged in constant
friction and intermittent shooting with the Saratov Cheka—
each side branding the other as counter-revolutionaries. A
third irreconcilable element was the “Detachment of Odessa
Terrorists”, two hundred and fifty strong, who arrived about
the same time as Makhno and who refused either to be dis-
armed or to go back and fight the Hetman.10
A depressing feature of his tour was to note the general
eclipse of the Anarchist movement. In some centres the groups
had disintegrated. Such groups as still existed had no funds, no
Organization, no will to action. Members were in constant fear
of arrest by the Cheka; and Makhno himself found it wiser to
conceal his political affiliation and only to display his card as
Chairman of the Gulyai-Polye Committee for the Defence of
the Revolution. To the young man from Gulyai-Polye Moscow
appeared as “the capital of the Paper Revolution”, a vast fac-
tory turning out empty resolutions and slogans while one poli-
tical party, by means of force and fraud, elevated itself into the
Position of a ruling class.
ere again the Anarchists seemed cowed and demoralized,
largely concerned with keeping out of trouble. His old friend
shinov had taken on the post of Secretary of the Society for
the Ideological Propagation of Anarchism. Makhno was present
at some of their meetings, and was impressed by their cultural
and theoretical range. But there seemed no urge for action.
..82In and again in his memoirs he comes back to his phrase
iPa-pel.‘ revolution’’, He attended a conference of Anarchists
"Cluding a few like himself from the south, but no one present
Seemed to intend to go back there and fight for his convictions.
Shee .Meeting would not even accept the proposal to ask Bol-
wOl}il(k'permlssion to set up an organization for .undcrground
ot In the Ukraine. There seemcd an unbridgeable gap
mo::’gen what Makhno was burning to do and the general
1 of the movement. Afterwards, when his revolution had
2red up and b xtinguished, his histcrian was to suggest
that th pen ¢ ,g“ i Y g8
€ Anarchist leaders “had overslept” the Makhno move-
ment 11
b Makhno, op. cit. Vol. I, pp, 75630 11 Arshinov, op. cit. p. 18
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During his three weeks’ stay in Moscow he went to the All
Russian Congress of Textile Unions, where ‘“‘were concentrated
the flower of the Socialists then living in the centre of the paper
revolution. They got up one after another, talked, waved their
arms and screamed, each louder than the one before.” He also
attended some Left S.R. meetings. He felt sympathy with the
Left S.R.s: they had, he believed, not approved of the drive
against the Anarchists in April, and they were ashamed of their
impotence vis-d-vis Lenin. He was impressed with Kamkov and
with Spiridonova. But, like the Anarchists, they had “good will
in plenty but not enough strength to tackle t}}? enormous task
of re-orientating the course of the Revolution™.

One episode of Makhno’s Moscow visit gave him pleasure.
As a boy in prison his great hero had been P. A. Kropotkin, and
in spite of all his disappointments with the Anarchist leader-
ship the admiration remained. He made a number of attempts
to see the old man, and at last succeeded.?* They had a long
conversation. No practical guidance was forthcoming; he was
told that even the issue of his return to the Ukramc; was one
which he, Makhno, alone could decide. But he met with a sym-
pathy that he had not before experienced. As he was leaving
Kropotkin said: “One must remember, dear comrade, that
there is no sentimentality about our struggle. But selflessness
and strength of heart and will on our way towards our goal will
conquer all.” Years later, long after the d.cfeat of hls.r.evgluUOn,
when Makhno himself was a dying man 1n the humiliation and
penury of emigration he was to write: “I have always remem-
bered these words of Petr Alekseevich. And when our com-
rades come to know all that I did in the Russian Revolution in
the Ukraine and then in the independent Ukrainian Revol.u-
tion—in the vanguard of which revolutionary Makhnovshching
played so outstanding a role—they will récognize in my act-
vities that selflessness and that strength of heart and will aboyt
which Petr Alekseevich spoke to me. I hope this precept wil]

enable them to develop these traits of character in themselyeg_»

His meeting with Lenin was unplanned and unexpected. He
went to the Kremlin to get himself a billeting card, blundereq
into Sverdlov’s office; and Sverdlov'found the young revoly.
tionary from the south sufficiently interesting to arrange ap,
appointment with Lenin for the following morning.

Makhno was received with a paternal simplicity, Lenin
patted his shoulder, put him down 1n one chair and Sverdloy
in another, told his secretary they were not to be disturheq for

12 Makhno, op. cit.BVol. 11, pp. 107-116
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an hour. All through the interview he talked slowly and clearly,
with frequent repetitions to make sure there was no misunder-
standing in question or answer.

Lenin asked what the Ukrainian peasants made of the slogan
“All power to the local Soviets”. Makhno replied that they
took it literally—assuming they were to have complete control
of all affairs affecting them, and added, 'w"hen Lenin asked him,
that he himself felt this was the correct interpretation.

Lenin: “Then the peasants are infected with anarchism.”

Makhno: “Do you think that is bad?”

Lenin: “I did not say that; it may be to the good if it speeds
up the victory of Communism.”

Lenin went on to observe that mere peasant enthusiasm
would burn itself out—it could not survive serious blows from
the counter-revolution. Makhno said that a leader should not

€ pessimistic or sceptical. Lenin pointed out that the Anarchists
2d no serious organization, they were unable to organize
either the proletariat or the poor peasants, and thus unable to
defend the Revolution.

Lenin showed particular interest in the military perform-
ance of the Red Guards, and questioned Makhno in Very great
detail. Then he asked about the propaganda in the villages, and
Makhno explained that, on the revolutionary side, there was
little of it and what there was was ineffective, ’

enin turned to Sverdlov and said that the true path to vic-
tory was the reorganization of the Red Guards into the Red
A{‘m}’- Then he asked Makhno his plans, and when Makhno
sald he was going home, illegally, commented that the Anar-
chists had plenty of fanaticism and self-sacrifice but they were
short-51ghtcd; they neglected the present for the far distant
uture, Turning back to Makhno he said he must not take this
too hardly: he (Makhno) was a good man, and if only a third
?‘f the ussian Anarchists were like him the Bolsheviks would
On certain conditions” be prepared to go a long way with
them in the free organization of production.
w akhno records that he was uncomfortably conscious of
nimlng under the spell of Lenin’s personality: he was begin-
S'I:I:Ig to feel reverence for the man he knew to be most respon-
1ble fo}‘ the drive against the Anarchists. He protested that
narchists were thorough revolutionaries. Lenin said, “We
d?s(t)w the Anarchists as well as you. They all think only of the
ant future and pay no regard to the practical problems of
the present,” Makhno replied that he was a simple ill-educated
beasant. He could not properly6argue with a man like Lenin.
8
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But it was quite untrue that the Anarchists did not concern
themselves with present realities. The whole revolutionary
struggle in the villages against the Kiev Rada had been carried
on by the Anarchists and a few S.R.s. There were no Bolsheviks
in the villages and if there were any they had no influence. It
was the Anarchists who had done the fighting.

Makhno records his feeling of frustration at this interview—
he realized the enormous opportunities offered to him and he
could not take them. He could not properly express himself.
Finally Lenin asked if he would like help for his journey home;
Makhno said he would, and Sverdlov on Lenin’s instructions
telephoned to a certain Karpenko. Lenin tqld Makhno to take
this as evidence that after all he was not so ill disposed towards
the Anarchists; he should go and see Karpenko who would
help him cross the frontier.

Makhno: “What frontier?” )

Lenin: “Don’t you know that a frontier has been established
between the Ukraine and Russia?” ) .

Makhno: “And you consider the Ukraine as Soviet Russia?”

Lenin: “To consider is one thing, to see is another.” 13

In due course the Bolshevik organization in charge of illegal
frontier crossings provided Makhno with a false passport in
the name of Ivan Yakoliev Shepel, school-teacher apd reserve
officer from near Taganrog. On the 29th June Arshinov came
with him to the station and saw him off. After 2 long slow
journey the train reached Kursk, and then Belenikino, which
was the terminal. The little station was crowded with refugees,
one or two from Gulyai-Polye who told Makhno that in hijg
absence his mother’s house had been bgrned down, one of his
brothers executed and another lodged in éleksandrovsk gaol.
He hired a cab to take him across no-man s-land and reacheq
Belgorod without incident. He found 2 secluded spot and put
on the Ukrainian officer’s uniform that had been given to hjpm,

to match his passport.

v)

Events had seen to it that the date Makhno had fixed by in
Taganrog for his rendezvous with th:a Ukrainian Revolution
was well timed. As has been mentioned, the bulk of the
peasantry, in spite of Makhno’s brave words to Lepjy, had
offered no resistance to the Rada and the Germanp armi:as. .
13 Makhno, op. cit.8Vol. II, pp. 120-135
7
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a large number of villages the invaders had becen welcomed.
Even the return of the landlords in their wake did not in itself
make for large-scale disturbances. Reports reaching Soviet
Russia tended to show that most of the peasants could have
been induced to pay a small rent for the land they had taken
over. But the landlords were greedy: they wanted the harvest,
and the peasants were firmly convinced that the crops they had
themselves sown and harvested were their personal property.
On top of this came the special agreements between Kiev and
the Central Powers for the bulk delivery of grain and other
foodstuffs. The peasants tried to cheat. When that failed they
started burning barns and sabotaging transport. There were
isolated cases of small bands offering armed resistance.14

In their occupation of western Russia German troops held
the northern and central areas, the whole of the territory bor-
dering on Soviet Russia as far as the Don, and the Crimea and

auride province in the south. The Roumanians were west of
Odessa. In between, holding most of the Ekaterinoslav and
Kherson provinces, were the Austro-Hungarians. It was with
the latter that Makhno had mainly to do during the first few
months of his activity.

The final stages of his journey back were precarious. The
authorities got wind of his return and he had to jump the train
to avoid arrest. He made his way on foot to a village some
twenty kilometres from Gulyai-Polye where he had friends who
would hide him, and there established his conspiratorial head-
quarters. On July the 4th he issued his first secret circular,
made out in ten copies and passed by safe hand to peasants he

new he could trust: in it he announced his return and warned
recipients to be ready to act. An immediate reply from Gulyai-
olye urged him not to come back to the village. There was an

Ustrian garrison. The place was full of spics and all members
of the former Soviet were under arrest. The Jews had betrayed
the village back in April, and now it was the young Jews who
Were hunting down the revolutionaries and the Jewish bour-

8eoisie wag encouraging them.
axhno was worried at this evidence of anti-Semitism. His
tEeoplc were making the Jews to be the scapegoat of past mis-
OTtunes and the excuse for present inaction. He wrote that
While the ¢ Jews would naturally side with the invaders
2gaInst the Anarchists the poorer Jews were the peasants’
friends anq allies. He also composed a second circular, dated
July 2nq, Outlining the programme to be undertaken. Peasants

14 Kubanin, oggcit- PP- 33-37
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must first organize, so that every small village and every
quarter of each big village had its own proper fighting squad.
When the squads were formed they should watch for the op-
portunity to start small-scale action against isolated landowners.

He continued to receive messages warning him against
coming to Gulyai-Polye; his presence would inevitably become
known and provoke reprisals on the poorer peasants. But he
was tired of inaction. One night, escorted by two armed peas-
ants, he arrived at the cottage of a widow on the outskirts of
Gulyai-Polye. Children were sent round with messages, and all
through the small hours his old friends collected in the cottage.
There were many absentees—dead, deported or in prison. Of
those that turned up most were dispirited; some of them urged
him to leave; a few were anxious to help. He remained in hiding
for three or four nights and organized some “initiatory groups”
of three to five men under his own orders. But then came news
that in some of the neighbouring villages the recipients of his
first circular had understood it to be a signal to act: peasants
had staged some premature and ineffective attacks on land-
owners’ houses. The authorities were alerted and there was a
wave of arrests and house-searches in Gulyai-Polye itself. The
pessimists seemed to have been justified. Makhno was smuggled
out of the village and went into hiding with some distant
cousins at Ternovka, a village fifty miles away.®

(vi)

If Gulyai-Polye was the Mecca of the Makhnovite movement
Ternovka has some claims to be its Medina. There was plenty
of fighting spirit in the village; also a small stock of arms, left
behind in the spring by the retreating Red Guards and care-
fully hidden. Makhno organized the young men into squads.
A few weeks later, as more and more cvidence came in of
peasant unrest, he issued the slogan “Death to all who with
the aid of German-Austrian-Hetmanite ba_yonets remove from
peasants and workers the conquests of their Revolution”, and
initiated a series of attacks on landlords’ country houses. Some
landlords were killed, as were any guards wl}o might be sta-
tioned there; others abandoned their properties and went off
to the garrison towns to await the restoration of order. Makhno’s
raids covered an ever wider range, more and more volunteers
joined up with his band and in mid-September he felt his
15 Makhno, Vol. III, pp. 5-30
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resources were adequate for an attack on Gulyai-Polye. On the
march towards the village he surprised and disarmed two
Hetmanite detachments and thus came into possession of suﬂ'i-
cient Hetmanite army and militia caps and overcoats to dis-
guise his little army. For four days the Makhnovites operated
in a circle of about thirty miles round Gulyai-Polye. The
Austrian authorities were warned of their approacl}. Punitive
expeditions came after them, missed them, took reprisals on the
villages and the young villagers ran away to join up with the
insurgents. One night Makhno with a fighting patrol ran into
a company of Austrians, who topk them to be Hqtmaplte
militia so that they were able to withold their fire until point-
blank range. The Austrian company commaqdpr was among
those killed. The prisoners included three Galicians who were
sent back to their battalion with a letter dictated by Makhno
and addressed to the Austrian rank and file: these were told to
shoot their officers and make their way home to start a revolu-
tion there—otherwise they would bf: lfllled by the Ukramign
revolutionaries, A problem after this little battle was the dis-
posal of the Austrian corpses, which, if found, would provoke
reprisals on the local villagers; so a squad of peasants were
called out to cart them and dump them on the nearest land-
lord’s Property. .

Peasants were now rallying to Makhno in hundreds, some

with rifles, some without. There were continual councils o
as to the next

to launch an
Instigate a ge

f war
move, and a wide variety of opinion. Some wanted

attack on Gulyai-Polye, others to disperse and
neral rising in the villages all round. The ver
uncertainty and constant change of insurgent plans added to the
difficulties of the Austrian Intelligence, and in the event on the
night the attack was staged most of the troops had been sent off
o various false scents. The attack was successful: only the gar-
Tison headquarters staff managed to get away in the darkness
and confusion, The Makhnovites seized the post office, the
Printing press ang the railway station (which was some miles
out of the centre of the village). Old scores were paid. Hundreds
of leaflet :

S w i the peasants t 1ly to the
revolution, €re rolled off calling on the p nts to rally

It Was one thing to seize Gulyai-Polye, but quite another to
hold it. Some of the hot-heads wished to hold on at all costs,
})ut Makhno realized he had no prospect of successfully defend-
ing the Village against regular troops. When news was received
from the loca] stationmaster of the approach of enemy troop
trains, Makhno moved out his little army; fought a successful

g0
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rearguard action; undertook a forced march of eighty miles and
then paused to refit.1¢

The successful seizure and evacuation of Gulyai-Polye was
Makhno’s first important military operation. The second was
the engagement at Dibrivka which took place a few days later.

While at rest in the forest near this village he was joined by
another insurgent force under one Shchus, whom he had met
during the fighting in the spring and who had attended the
Taganrog congress.

The combined army now totalled nearly 1,500 men. Mahkno
planned a long-range raid (of which he was later to conduct
so many) across the southern Ukraine to the Sea of Azov. One
problem was that a number of Shchus’s men were wounded,
but these had found girls in the village, and when the girls
heard of the proposed expedition they all volunteered to ride
with their men with the army on peasant carts and look after
them en route.

There were busy days of preparation. It was here that the
Makhnovite pattern of feeding the army first took shape. At a
mass meeting the peasants would indicate the richest house-
holds. These (not unnaturally) would agree to provide one
sheep each. All peasants gave bread, according to their capa-
city. There was recruiting: but no volunteers were accepted
over and above those for whom arms were available: the others
were put on a register. And there were continuous mass meet-
ings and speeches at which Makhno was at pains to emphasize
the danger not only from the Hetman and the Germans but
also from the White Generals in the south-east. .

And then one night the Austrians attacked. A few partisans
held up their advance while the wounded were loaded on to
carts and taken off to the forest. The villagers panicked and
implored Makhno not to retreat, but he knew that withdrawal
was essential. All that night and most of the next day his men
hid in the forest. Then, when the enemy were reported to be
on parade in the main square_they launched their counter-
attack. They moved in surreptitiously, in small groups. One
girl tried to give the alarm, but she was caught and knocked on
the head to stop her screaming. The partisans climbed over
the back walls and occupied the shops and houses overlooking
the square. The enemy troops were resting. Their rifles were
stacked; some men were lying down. Makhno opened fire at
eighty yards’ range. It was a massacre rather than a battle.
Some of the enemy got away. Some barricaded themselyes in

16 Makhno, Vol. III, pp. 50-70
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houses, and the houses were set on fire. The village woke up
“like an ant heap”. Peasants swarmed out of the houses with
axes and hammers, chasing after the fugitives and beating the
prisoners. There had been one Austrian battalion, detach-
ments of Hetmanite and German colonist volunteers and a con-
tingent of militia. Makhno saved some twenty Austrians from
lynching, tied up their wounds, fed them and sent them off
to tell the story to their companions. All other prisoners were
killed, as was the girl who had tried to give the alarm. Next day
Austrian reinforcements arrived with a number of field guns.
‘The makhnovtsi were shelled out of the village and shelled again
when they took up positions in the forest. Makhno and Shchus
were both hit, Shchus seriously. Frightened peasants streamed
after them out of the village. But Makhno had no means of
helping the peasants. He had no alternative but to withdraw
again, this time right out of the area. Next night, already miles

away, he could see the glow in the sky from the burning houses
of Dibrivka.17?

(vii)

In the next three weeks Makhno’s raids covered many hundreds
of miles, and were marked by an extreme ferocity. The slogan
was “Death, death, death to all on the side of the Hetman.” He
wrote afterwards that this was “not a slogan thought out by
those that sit in offices . . . but dictated by factual reality”.1®
His detachments operated round Berdyansk, Maryupol and
avlograd, exterminating landlords and militia. His main force
once came up against a Hungarian battalion and was badly
mauled: he told his partisans they would have to learn to fight
like Magyars. But mostly he was able to avoid the occupying
armies who were tending more and more to concentrate in the

urban centres and big railway junctions.
he sphere and scope of his operations widened. He felt him-
self no longer a mere guerrilla leader but, once again, the
Instrument of a social revolution. The policy of vengeance and
de§trucnon was ceasing to be adequate. The revolution must
bl.}lld up its stores of arms, horses, money and essential sup-
phes.. Measures were thought out, and approved at a mass
meeting of the insurgent army, for a system of organized requi-
sitions. Revolutionary Tribunals were set up; public enemies
WEr€ no longer to be shot out of hand but to be executed

17 Makhno, Vol. 111, pp. 71-96 18 Thid. p. g8
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publicly after some show of court proceedings. The main insur-
gent army came to be followed by a long column of carts carry-
ing cash and stores, and it was now possible to offer immediate
relief to any destitute villages on the route.

In carly October the Austrians evacuated Gulyai-Polye and
the insurgent army marched in, this time to stay there, except
for one brief interval, for some months. Makhno’s first act was
to send an ultimatum to the (Hetmanite) Town Commandant
of Aleksandrovsk, demanding the release of all the prison in-
mates. When, eventually, the Gulyai-Polye Anarchists (includ-
ing Makhno’s brother) came back home they were given a
resounding welcome and afforded a much-needed reinforce-
ment of the military and administrative staffs.

Makhno was in the field when the momentous news came
from Kiev that Hetman Skoropadsky was no longer in power
and that a Directory, of the same political colour and largely
of the same personnel as the former Rada, had assumed the
government of the Ukraine. There was much jubilation among
the peasants, but Makhno had misgivings. He regarded the
Directory, as he had regarded the Rada, as an instrument of
bourgeois chauvinism. At the same time there was need for
caution: his infant revolution had already a great many enemies
and not nearly sufficient armed forces. When he returned to
Gulyai-Polye there were days of anxious deliberation as to the
policy to be adopted. Makhno’s own account of thlS. period is
incomplete; he was a dying man when he reached this stage of
his memoirs and there are long gaps in his record.. Bu_t 1t 1s cer-
tain that at one stage a decision was made to maintain, for the
moment, an attitude of cautious neutrality; and that a few days
later the decision was reversed in favour of war. Makhno’s
memoirs give no indication of the reason for this change. Tt
may have been the hope of coming to some working alliance
with the Bolsheviks.

In the late autumn and winter of 1918 the Red Armyg
counter-offensive on the Eastern front of the Civil War carried
Bolshevik power as far as Ufa and Orenburg. But.m the south
the Red offensive against the Cossacks and the White Volunteer
Army petered out: there were disturbances in the Red rear ang
disaffection among certain subordinate Red commanders, 1,
addition the Red troops were badly hit by typhus. In November
Denikin captured Stavropol and a few weeks later the porth
Caucasian Red Army was completely broken.

In the Ukraine the withdrawal of the German and A ystro-
Hungarian occupation armies meant the removal of the one
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force capable of enforcing some kind of order. In the coastal
area and the Crimea a number of weak and transient local
authorities came into being; Denikin sent his representatives to
the main centres, and the French were soon to land in some
force. At Kiev the Directory made desperate efforts to raise
and maintain an army capable of defending its existence. The
Bolsheviks made ready to stage a second invasion. In the
interior, throughout the countryside, there operated a wide
variety of petty war lords and band leaders, some with nation-
alist or political slogans and some mere bandits. Makhno’s posi-
tion was exceptional on account of the strength of his army, of
the hold he had established on the loyalty of the peasants of his
area, and of the nature of his political ideals and programme.

The German-Austrian retirement offered Makhno a unique
opportunity to build up a reserve of arms and stores, and his
memoirs are full of incidents with German retreating units.
There was some fighting. There was a good deal of negotiation,
and a fair amount of double-crossing. These few weeks saw an
appreciable increase both in the effective strength of the

akhnovite Army and in Makhno’s own personal reputation.
This last was no longer merely local. In the Soviet Russian Press
he came to be frequently and favourably featured as a true
revolutionary fighter. In mid-December 1918 he received and
accepted an invitation from the underground Bolshevik com-
mittee at Ekaterinoslav to take part in an attempt to seize the
town from the Petlurist garrison and to assume command of all
the insurgent forces.

Makhno brought up his troops at night to a working-class
suburb on the west bank of the Dnieper, and they came into
town, their arms concealed under their greatcoats, on an early
morning workmen’s train. The station was seized at once.
Some Bolshevik workers’ detaci. .ients and a few S.R.s also
€ame into action. A Petlurist artillery officer changed sides, with
a number of his guns and gun teams. After three or four days
of confused fighting the insurgents had occupied the greater
part of the town. Makhno seized the prison and released the
inmates; he arrested and shot the prosecutor who had secured

1S conviction ten years before; and he issued proclamations for-

lddmg looting. A new Soviet was installed as the governing
authority, but it functioned for only twenty-four hours as the
Petlurists brought up reinforcements and the Makhnovites were
forced to withdraw. A few days later the Red Army pressed out
the Petlurists,

We have an account of the fighting in Ekaterinoslav from

94



NESTOR MAKHNO

a professor of law at the University,® who with his wife occu-
pied one floor in a house overlooking a square that became a
no-man’s land between the opposing forces. Shells screamed
overhead, and spent bullets pattered down on the roof. The
unbellicose occupants of the professor’s house gathered to-
gether in the first floor, which seemed to them to be the least
unsafe, and ‘““waited in silence for death”. On the evening of the
fourth day the shooting died down. Then there was knocking,
and some ten men pushed in through the street door, insisting
that they required the house. The landlord pleaded and
argued: eventually they agreed to take the front rooms and
leave the back to the residents. So the residents retired to the
back, but their visitors pushed in after them and more crowded
in from the street. A meal had been laid on the table and the
partisans sat down to it; the ladies of the house made haste to
serve them. ) .

They were members of a Makhnovite machine-gun section.
Their dress was varied—uniforms of every kind, peasant dress;
some wore expensive civilian fur coats. All were armed to the
teeth and hung about with hand grenades. One, who was very
drunk, kept giving accounts of the bourgeois he had shot.
“They were very stupid,” he said. “They squeaked all the
time.” The men were not unfriendly. One produced a pair of
stockings which he offered to the professor’s wife. Sh’e was con-
vinced they had just been pulled off a dead women's legs and
refused in horror: there was an ugly moment, but the landlord
accepted them on behalf of his daughter. One elderly peasant
was awestruck at the splendour of the first urban interior he had
ever seen, and offered formal thanks between each mouthful.

The commander of the detachment joined them. He would
not eat or drink, but he sat atghe table and Efxlked. He was anti-
Semite. He described his lea. s Makhno as 2 real Commumst,
not like the Petlurists who have sold thems.elvcs to the Jews”.
He went on to explain that when they occupied 2 town Makhno
allowed his men to take one pair of whatever he needed, pro-
vided the man could carry it himself. Whoever took more than
that was shot. Peaceful inhabitants need not be frightened, as
the Makhnovites only killed Germans and Jews; these, after all,
were the main bourgeois. . )

In due course the squad went out to relieve their companions.
The commander gave permission for the door between the
front and back rooms to be bolted. During the night men came
in and rattled at the inner door. In the square in front there was

1 Igrenev, G., in Arkhiv Russkoy Revolyutsii (Berlin 1921) Vol. 111, pp. 234-243
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intermittent shouting and bursts of machine-gun fire. Next
morning all was quiet with the men at their posts in the square.
In the front room a cupboard had been broken open and all
the linen stolen, and a sack of hand grenades was lying under a
bed. The landlord called to a partisan who came and collected
the bombs. When, later, firing began again it was from the
Petlurist reinforcements, and the Makhnovites retreated.

(v

After the fighting at Ekaterinoslav the Makhnovtsi went back to-
wards Gulyai-Polye. For the first few weeks of 1919 the advanc-
ing Red Armies by-passed this areca, where Makhno and his
staff went ahead with their work of military and social organiza-
tlon. This period saw the beginnings of what might be called
the Makhnovite Government in that two Congresses were held,
the first in January at Velikaya Mikhailovka and the second
three weeks later at Gulyai-Polye. They were composed of dele-
gates of peasants, workers and of the insurgent army, and were
Intended to clarify and record the decisions of the toiling masses
and to be regarded as the supreme authority for the liberated
area. This area, for the time being, was exclusively rural and
the workers’ representation was insignificant. Peasant delegates,
however, came in from thirty-two zolosts.

'I:here were rousing revolutionary speeches, and tirades
against European and American imperialists and their instru-
ments such as Denikin, Kolchak and Petlura. There was also
In the general resolution a warning: “With deep regret the

ongress must also declare that apart from external enemies a
Perhaps even greater danger, arising from its internal short-
Comings, threatens the Revolution of the Russian and Ukrainian
Peasants and workers. The Soviet Governments of Russia and
of the Ukraine, by their orders and decrees, are making efforts
to deprive local soviets of peasants and workers’ deputies of
their freedom and autonomy.” The Bolshevik Party, the reso-
t‘ilot‘IS?:ovent on, was “demanding a monopoly of the Revolu-
R;The main civil achievement was the establishment of a
an glonal Revolutionary Military Soviet of Peasants, Workers
initi nsurgents, a permanent committee with no powers to

ate policy but designed merely to implement the decisions
of the periodjc congresses. Otherwise the re-establishment of the
20 Kubanin, op. cit. pp. 52, 53
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former agricultural commune was approved. A resolution was
passed urging the setting up of “free”, i.e. non-political, Soviets
of toilers in all districts; and another urging “direct union”
between peasants in the country and workers in the towns. This
last remained academic; communications were too bad and
there was too great a variety of military occupation to allow
any real contact between villagers and big town labour. But the
Makhnovites did at least make the considerable gesture of dis-
patching a large consignment of grain to the hungry factory
workers of Petrograd and Moscow.?!

However, the main empbhasis of the two Congresses was upon
defence. Makhno had learned the lesson of the spring of 1918:
a social revolution must have an effective military forc'e to protect
it. All through the early weeks of 1919 Makhnovite detach-
ments were fighting the Whites in the south, and this continu-
ous campaigning was bringing home to Makhno the short-
comings of volunteerism. The flow of volunteers did not dry up:
sometimes there were more than he could arm. But it was spas-
modic and unpredictable. Individuals and groups were apt to
get tired of the war and return to their homes. It was essential
to put the man-power question on a regular basis.

Accordingly, at Makhno’s insistence, the second Congress
passed a resolution in favour of “general, vol.untglry and egali-
tarian mobilization”. The orthodox Anarchist line, ‘f‘:xpressed
at an Anarchist gathering of this period, was that “no com-
pulsory army . . . can be regarded as a true defender of the
social revolution”,2® and debate ranged round the issue as to
whether enlistment could be described as ‘“‘voluntary” (what-
ever the feelings of individuals) if it took place as the result of
a resolution voluntarily passed by representatives of the com-
munity as a whole. Makhno gained his point. A Soviet writer
suggests that the issue proved that Makhno knew his peasants
better than did the Anarchist intellectuals: peasants held back
from volunteering because they knew that the Whites shot all
Red volunteers. As mobilized men they would be safer.2?

The first contact between Makhno’s staff and that of
Dybenko, the local Red Army commander, took place at the
end of February. Relations were friendly. Each side needed the
military alliance. Makhno continued to be featured in the
Soviet Press as a champion of the toiling masses. When the Red
Army proposed, in March, a unification of military forces

21 Arshinov, op. cit. pp. 89, 90, 93 _Voline, Op- cit. pp. 545, 550
22 Yaroslavsky: History of Anarchism in Russia (London n.d.) p."67
23 Kubanin, op. cit. p. 45
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against Denikin (now in supreme command of all the Whites
in the south), it took little time to come to an agreement.

This first of the three agreements to be negotiated by Makhno
with the Bolsheviks laid down that the Makhnovite Army was
to maintain its own internal organization, but would be sub-
ordinate for operational purposes to the Red Army Higher
Command, and would furthermore accept Red Army nom-
inees as Political Commissars down to regimental level. It was
to receive, from the Bolsheviks, arms and supplies on the same
level as the neighbouring Red Army units. It was to keep its
name of Insurgent Army [later it was to adopt the title of
“Insurgent Revolutionary Army of the Ukraine (Makhno-
vites)] and to retain its (Anarchist) black flags. Nothing was
said about the civil administration of the areas of Makhnovite
occupation.?24

The agreement with Makhno marked the beginning of a
number of Red successes in the south. In late March Grigoriev
(an ex-Tsarist officer who had served the Petlurists and then
defected with his partisan army to the Bolsheviks) captured
Kherson. In Aupril the French hurriedly evacuated Odessa and
the Reds marched in. The same month the Red Army occupied
the Crimea. But in spite of this, the Bolsheviks were meeting
difficulties in their attempts to assimilate and re-integrate the
newly re-occupied southern provinces. Bolshevik policy, while
approving the distribution to the poorer peasants of some of the

andowners’ estates, laid down that the rest was to be adminis-
tered as State farms. Vineyards and sugar-beet plantations were
to be State property, as was all live stock and equipment belong-
ing to t.he dispossessed gentry. The peasants on the other hand
Maintained that all property of the former landlords was now

Y T1ight their own, as had been arranged at Gulyai-Polye
s akhno’s agricultural communes had been entirely volun-
tar}’)- Furthermore, the Red Armies lived off the country and
rniat meant requisitions and mobilization orders. Red com-
- 0ssars and Cheka officials (who often happened to be Jews)
an N became objects of hatred. Bolshevik Party organization
non_PrPPaga{lda was weak enough in most of the towns, and
ma €Xistent in the r.ural areas. Attempts were already being
. ﬁ’ec(tai to form committees of poor peasants, but these were in-
often ve. Poor peasants had no time for committees which were
for thP"=‘th3d with kulaks. In any case there was little incentive

€ Poorer peasant to co-operate with his new rulers. The

2 Arshinov, op. cit. pp- 93-95 Voline, op. cit. pp. 551-553
ubanin, op, cit. p. 4
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villagers, rich and poor alike, were united in their opposition.-
Some of them believed that a new party had come into power
in Moscow. They were, they proclaimed, for the Bolsheviks who
had given them the land, but they were against the Communists
who were now trying to rob them. 2% Recent experience seemed
to have shown that authority could be successfully resisted and
throughout the area there were refusals to deliver, arsons,
lynchings, and action by armed bands. Trouble began to
spread to the locally recruited Red units. The Second Ukrain-
ian Red Army Division was confidentially reported to be
riddled with indiscipline, drunkenness, card-playing, anti-
Communism, anti-Semitism, pro-Makhno and Black Flag
slogans.2¢

The reference to the Black Flag is not isolated. Anarchist
influence was reported from Aleksandrovsk and other centres.
Anarchists were holding a conference in Kursk at about this
time and in one of their resolutions it was stated that “the
Ukrainian Revolution will have great chances of rapidly becom-
ing Anarchist in its ideas”.2? The position called for renewed
Bolshevik measures against the Anarchists. Nabat, the main
Anarchist newspaper in the Ukraine, was suppressed, and its
editorial board dispersed under threat of arrest. Some of them
came to Makhno at Gulyai-Polye; Voline, the most eminent,
was delayed en route but arrived there in the summer and was
elected chairman of the Revolutionary Military Soviet.
Arshinov had already arrived (in April) from Moscow and had
assumed charge of Makhnovite education and propaganda.
There was some justification for suspecting Gulyai-Polye of
becoming a centre of ideological opposition.

(ix)

Relations between Bolsheviks and Makhnovites were already
deteriorating when in April the Revolutionary Military Soviet
at Gulyai-Polye convoked the Third Congress of Peasants,
Workers and Insurgents. When the Congrcss_wa§ In session g
telegram was received from Dybenko denouncing it as counter.
revolutionary. Makhno was away at the front; but the pey]
arrived intellectuals sent back a long reply arguing out that the
Congress was the expression of the will of the toiling magges.
Meanwhile military co-operation continued. Antonov-Qyseenke
28 Kubanin, op. cit. pp. 62, 63 3¢ Ibid. p. 50
%7 Yaroslavsky, op. cit. p. 65
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paid a friendly visit to the Makhnovite headquarters on April
29th, and S. S. Kamenev on May 4th. Kamenev suggested that
it might be wise to dissolve the Revolutionary Military Sov1‘et:
he was told that unlike similarly titled bodies elsewhere, which
were instruments of a political party, the local R.M.S. was the
creation of the people themselves. 28 )
It was now that favourable mention of M.akhno ceased to
appear in the Soviet Press; an increasingly critical note.becan}e
apparent. Supplies failed to get through to Makhnovite units
and areas. It may be significant that Trotsky (to whom
akhno’s ideas and methods werc bound to be anathema) was
Now paying more personal attention to the southern front. But
In May the whole military position was completely changed
Wwhen Grigoriev, main Soviet commander in the south-:west,
Staged a revolt against his Bolshevik masters and proclaimed
imself Ataman of Kherson and the Tauride. .
. ed garrisons in some centres remained true to Moscow;
1n others they declared themselves neutral. Many Soviet troops
came over to Grigoriev. The peasants (in so far as they counted)
Were anti-Bolshevik. The Soviet south-western front collapsed,
and it seemed possible that if Makhno defected the south-
castern front would collapse as well. On May 12th Kamenev
telegraphed the news of Grigoriev’s revolt to Makhno: “The

€Cisive moment has come—either you stand with the workers
and peasants of all Russia, or you in fact open the front to the
Cnemy , |7 rely on your revolutionary honour.” Makhno
replied that he did not know what were Grigoriev’s intentions:
© Were trying to set up a government he was a common ad-
Veturer, Meanwhile the Makhnovite Army remained “un-
changeably true to the Revolution of the Peasants and Workers,

t not to instruments of violence like your Commissars and

hekas At the same time he issued a general order to his
troops facing Denikin: all at the front should stand fast, M§hout
Tegard to the quarrels between the Bolsheviks and Grigoriev.?®
. OWever, it soon became apparent that Grigoriev was not an
créportant factor. His troops carried out savage pogroms and
unn‘%derable looting: but he had no constructive ability and was
'ttzll le to keep his army together. Within a few weeks he was
gueg {rllore than a bandit leader with some two or three thoflilsand
line,n las, The Bolsheviks once more felt able to take a firmer

‘inov, . 10 20 Kubz}nin op. cit. pp- 86-87
Volme, opol::'itclt. PP- stér‘* Arshlnov: o it po. 137143
$H PP 555 Voline, op. cit. pp. 584-587
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In the latter part of May the Chcka sent over two agents to
assassinate Makhno; one lost his nerve and confessed to the
Insurgent Razvedka. Both were executed. By this time the
secret services both of the Makhnovites and the Soviet autho-
rities were busy penetrating the opposite party—a state of
affairs which lasted till 1921. Makhno received warning not to
venture into any Bolshevik-held town. The Red hold-back of
supplies for the Insurgents developed into a blockade of the
area. Makhnovite units at the front ran short of ammunition.
(Makhno’s people, incidentally, never learned to conserve their
arms or munitions: despite the huge stocks they acquired by
one means or another they were always running short.)

The cause of the open break was a decision to convoke a
Fourth Congress of Peasants’, Workers’ and Insurgents’ Repre-
sentatives at Gulyai-Polye. The deterioration in relations with
the Bolsheviks had coincided with the onset of Denikin’s big
spring offensive: and the R.M.S. announced on the goth May
that the situation was such that ““it could be handled only by
the toiling masses themselves and not by individual persons or
political parties”. The rank and file of the Red Arn}y were
Publicly invited to send representatives on the same basis as the
Makhnovite units.

Trotsky, then at Kharkov, may or may not have been
informed of the text of the convocation when he wrote the
denunciation of Makhnovshchina in his train newspaper Na Puti
on June 2nd. In any case, the approach to the Red Army rank
and file (whose dubious loyalty had been shown up in the
Grigoriev affair) called for far more drastic measures. Order
No. 1824, signed by Trotsky at Kharkov on June 4th, forbade
the holding of the Congress, declared that any participation
amounted to high treason against the Soviet State and ordered
the arrest of all delegates and all concerned with the distribu-
tion of the invitations. There is reason to believe that a further
(secret) order called for the arrest of Makhno.

No copy of.Order No. 1824 was sent direct to Makhno.
Meanwhile the White offensive was gathering momentum.
Gulyai-Polye was captured by Cossacks on June 6th. The fol-
lowing day a Red Army armoured train was sent to Makhno
as a reinforcement, with a message that his units were expected
to resist to the end; and hc himself received an invitation to
come and confer with Voroshilov and Mezhlauk at their head-
quarters. By this time Makhno was in possession of Order
1824 and of a subsequent order under which he wag to hand
over his command. On June gth hc sent off a long telegram to
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Voroshilov with copies to Lenin and to Trotsky. He rebutted the
charges made against him, maintained that the Bolsheviks found
Insurgent methods to be incompatible with their dictatorship,
but added that in view of the gravity of the situation and of
Bolshevik hostility to himself he proposed to resign from his
command.

It is difficult, on the evidence available, to trace the exact
sequence of events in this confused period. But in any casc
Makhno went to Aleksandrovsk and handed over his command
to a Red Army officer temporarily out of touch with Kharkov.
He instructed the commanders of his units in Red Army forma-
tions to remain at their posts. He himself with a small force of
picked cavalry crossed the Dnicper. While on the east of the
river the Bolsheviks were losing successively Ekaterinoslav and
Kharkov, Makhno, on the right bank, was fighting small
engagements with any Red units that opposed him, liquidating
Bolshevik and Cheka organizations in the villages, and encour-
aging the peasants to form free Soviets. Towards the end of the
month he came into contact with Grigoriev.30

Makhno believed Grigoriev to be an adventurer, and there-
fore a counter-revolutionary (as all adventurers were ipso facto
counter-revolutionary). At the same time he was more than ever
obsessed with the necessity of building up his army and he
felt the Grigoriev force contained good potential material. He
therefore agreed to hold a conference, and in mid-July Grigo-
riev arrived at Makhno’s headquarters. He made a bad first
Impression by commenting adversely on the Jews there, and
followed this up by his attitude throughout the conference. The
Ma}ihnovites held that the object of joint action was to fight
against the Whites and the Bolsheviks, but that to fight the
Bolsheviks was a counter-revolutionary act unless this was done
In the name of the Social Revolution. Grigoriev’s line was that
the Bolsheviks and the Petlurists were swine: he had had experi-
ence of them and he knew. He implied it would be admissible
to join up with any ally against the Bolsheviks. As for the

hites, he had had no experience of them and so did not know
what they were like.

The association was a very brief one. Two White Army emis-
saries called at Makhno’s headquarters with a letter for Grigo-
riev. Th_c emissaries were discreetly liquidated, and a few hours
later Grigoriev and his bodyguard were shot at a private meet-
ing by members of Makhno’s staff. A subsequent joint congress

* Voline, op. cit. pp. 562-575 Arshinov, op. cit. pp. 116-128
Kubanin, op. cit. pp. 77-78
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of both armies was harangued by Makhno and his senior
officers, and approved of what had taken place on the grounds
that it was “historically necessary”. All partisan detachments
formerly under Grigoriev were incorporated in the common
Insurgent Makhnovite Army.

The Makhnovite propagandists gave the fullest publicity to
the execution of Grigoriev, and a copy of the circular telegram
announcing the event was sent to the Kremlin in Moscow. The
accretion of military strength was not, howgzvcr, as great as
Makhno had hoped. The Grigorievtsi had seen little serious fight-
ing for many weeks, and unlimited looting, pogroms and
drunkenness had demoralized them. As Voline puts it “they
were ignorant, and, having contracted bad habits during their
time with Grigoriev, they were unable to raise themselves to the

moral level of the Makhnovite partisans”.®!

(x)

The summer of 1919 was one of sustained military disaster for
the Soviet armies in the south. Denikin’s advance was con-
tinuous. In July the Red Army had to be pulled out of the
Crimea. In August Denikin captured Kherson, Nikolaev and
Odessa along the Black Sea coast, and Kiev to the nqrth. Eur-
ther east General Mamontov started his specta‘c‘:u_lar ra}:i behind
the Red lines. Arshinov records Makhno’s “disgust” at Bol-
shevik feebleness. Indeed, the general picturé was réminscent
of the early months of 1918 when the Germans were advancing,
The Red Armies in the south, ineffective and demoralized,
seemed to be disintegrating. In July Makhno sent messages to
his former units now with the Red Armies that they should
return. Most of them joined up with him near Elizavetgrad in
August. A number of Red Arm}’,s,c’ldler.s came w1t!1 them,
Makhno spent a few days reorganizing .hls force, Whlch now
amounted to more than 15,000 with four mfantry brigades, one
cavalry brigade, a detachment of artillery and a special
machine-gun regiment equipped with 500 machine-guns,

The inception of this new phase of his activities was marked
by the issue of his Order No. 1 of August 5th 1919. This laig
down the general principles for Insurgent conduct. Thejr
enemies were listed as the rich bourgeoisie—whether Russian,
Ukrainian or Jewish—furthermore, all those who upheld an

31 Kubanin, op. cit. pp. 79-83 Arshinov, op- cit. pp. 131-134
Voline, op. cit. p. 672
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unjust social order of a bourgeois nature such as Bolshevik
Commissars, the Cheka, or members of punitive detachments.
All these last were to be arrested and sent to headquarters or
shot on the spot if they tried to resist. Insurgents must renounce
any consideration of personal profit: there must be no beating
up or robbing of peaceful Jews; there must be no arbitrary or
independent requisitioning. Behaviour must be orderly and dis-
ciplined. Drunkenness was a crime, especially to be seen drunk
in the streets. An insurgent must always be ready for battle;
but he must be considerate to the local population.32 Following
the issue of this order the Insurgent Army captured Elizavet-
grad from the Whites and pressed on towards Odessa.

There is good evidence that the Whites soon came to regard
Makhno’s new army as_their toughest immediate opponent.
Special troops were detailed for use against him—officers’ bat-
talions and picked cavalry, whose fighting qualities earned
Makhno’s respect. There was a set battle to the north of Odessa
and the Insurgents were beaten: their opponents were in too
great strength, and, as always, they themselves ran short of
ammunition. White pressure increased, and Makhno was forced
to retire northwards and then north-westwards.

Voline, who took part in it, has left a vivid picture of the
retreat of the main column through the heat and dust of an
exceptionally dry autumn. The cavalry were away to the rear or
on the flanks, in almost continuous brushes with White patrols.
The infantry were carried in two-horse peasant carts (tachankas)
—two partisans and a driver on each—the first cart of all bear-
Ing the black flag with the slogans “Liberty or Death” and

Land for the Peasants, Factories for the Workers. There
were innumerable carts carrying wounded, and the column was
swelled by peasant families, with all their belongings and live-
Stock—refugees from White brutalities. 33

ne attempt was made to make a stand, but the enemy were

too strong and the retreat continued. In late September the
column made contact with a strong Petlurist force near Uman
and Peregonovka. The Whites were hard on their heels and the
Position was critical. Negotiations were started with the Pet-
urists, with the inevitable reserves and suspicions on both sides.

agreement was reached by which the Petlurists undertook

to take care of Makhno’s wounded and to observe neutrality as
between him and the Whites. The Makhnovites at once at-
tempted to win gyer the Petlurist rank and file, and leaflets
were hurriedly printed on the portable press and distributed.

%2 Arshinoy, Op. cit. pp. 211-213 33 Voline, op. cit. pp. 578-579
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But before any effect became apparent Makhno received secret
information that the Petlurists were negotiating behind his back
with the White Command. He was completely surrounded.
On September 26th he launched a counter-attack with all
his force against the White positions. It was the bloodiest
engagement of all Makhno’s campaigns. After twenty-four
hours of fighting the Whites were beaten (they lost twenty guns
and a hundred and twenty machine-guns), and the Insurgents
were driving westwards. The speed of their advance, through
the thinly-held White rear, is almost incredible. Within a fort-
night they successively captured Krivoi Rog, Nikopol, Alek-
sandrovsk, Gulyai-Polye; and Melitpol, Berdyansk and Mariu-
pol on the Sea of Azov. On October 20th they took Ekaterino-
slav. There is some justification for the claim tha.t Peregonovka
was one of the decisive battles of the Civil War in the south.34

(x1)

The three or four months from October 1919 marked the peak
of Makhno’s career. Denikin’s White armies were committed
to the supreme gamble of the drive towards Moscow, reaching
Orel, their furthest point north, shortly after Makhno’s break-
out at Peregonovka. But the Whites had failed to build up
reserves, and there were no troops available effectively to hpld
the rear areas. To dislodge Makhno from one centre entailed
withdrawing the garrison from another. Dunng these weeks
many towns changed hands several times. The operations
covered almost the whole area of the White communications.
Huge stocks of stores were seized when Makhno captured the
big railway junctions, and the supply lines from the Black Sea
ports to the Whites in the north were cut again and. again.

Makhno was not the only guerrilla leader operating against
Denikin; there were a number of smaller bands, some proclaim-
ing themselves pro-Makhno, some pro-Petlurist. B_ut these were
insignificant in comparison with the Makhnovites, who for
some months constituted what amoupted to a free republic
covering most of the southern Ukraine. The peasants were
solidly behind Makhno; the State farm system and the enforced
grain collections had made them anti-Soviet, apd tht? behaviour
of the Whites had made them even more anti-Denikin, Sgyiet
attempts to split the peasantry and isolate the kulak haq so far

34 Kubanin, op. cit. pp. 86-87 Arshinov, op- cit. PP 137-143
Voline, op. cit. pp. 584-587
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failed. Back in February the Gulyai-Polyc Congress had
declared it is essential not to split the toilers into parties and
into mutually hostile groups . . . ways and means of our new
agricultural order must be devised by the free and natural
decision and initiative of the peasantry as a whole”. The exist-
ence of Kulachestvo was recognized, but that, it was felt, was a
problem that would solve itself in the course of time. At the end
of the year the general feeling in the villages was still very ready
to support this Makhnovite line.

Makhno and his Revolutionary Military Soviet had no need
for misgivings regarding the villagers. The towns, however,
presented a more complicated, but extremely important,
problem. In early October when Makhno’s partisans were
approaching Berdyansk he issued an order: “Comradc Insur-
gents! Every day that passes sces an extension of the area of
activity of the Revolutionary Insurgent Army. Probably the
hour is not far distant when the Insurgents will liberate some
or other town from the grip of Denikin. This will be a fown
[underlined in the original] set free by the Makhnovite Insur-
gents from any kind of government. This will be a town in
which, under the protection of the Revolutionary Insurgents,’
a free life will spring into being, in which there will grow up 2
free organization of Workers in union with the Peasants and
Insurgents.” A fortnight later, in front of Ekaterinoslav, there
appears perhaps to be a note of anxiety in the order of the day:

e nature of our behaviour in the towns we capture is a
gﬁestlon of life and death for the whole of our movement.” In
ks RS R e R o e
the Makhnovite I P s he time being, occupied PY
soret novite Insurgent Revolutionary Army, a force in the
=) elcz?f no government, no political party and no dictatorship.
agai my’s sole aim was to protect the liberty of the toilers
and nSStbqll. This liberty pf the toilers was their own possession

Pcasarlllt Ject to no restriction 'Yvhatevcr. It was now for the
e s and worl;e;s to organize themselv.es as they wished.
gover my was willing to help and to advise, but would not

N and would not give orders.3®
a tionsecf?(?sti serious Makhnovite attempt to sponsor free organiz-
two tradm ustrial workers took place at Aleksandrovsk, where
held in r‘;fl'ilémon conferences under Ipsurgent auspices were
were there -Octobpr 1919. Both Voline and Arshinov, who

at the time, admit that their practical results were

* I\(,“b,anin, op. cit. pp. 112, 113 Arshinov, op. cit, p. 145
oline, op. cit. pp. 598-599
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negligible. Arshinov suggests that the workers were bewildered
at the novelty of the ideas put to them; also that the town was
too near the front.2¢ Voline speaks of fears that the town would
soon be recaptured either by the Whites or by the Bolsheviks.37
But in fact the workers were primarily concerned with wages.
The railwaymen on the line from Aleksandrovsk to Melitpol
had had no pay for weeks. Makhno advised them to come to an
equitable understanding with those that used the railway, and
recoup themselves out of the proceeds. In point of fact, Makhno
did later allot certain funds seized at Ekaterinoslav to paying
the railwaymen, but workers in other branches were less
fortunate; it was pointless to exhort them to organize a free
economic order from below. The only union that made a
serious attempt to work on Makhnovite lines was that of the
bakers (in which the Anarchists had long had a strong footing):
the union appointed a committee of five to draw up a scheme
for the socialization of bread grains and for the baking of bread
for the whole population. )

There was plain speaking at the workers’ conferences in
Aleksandrovsk and at a further meeting held in Ekaterinoslav.
Menshevik speakers were so critical of the Insurgent handling
of affairs that Makhno referred to them as ‘“‘bourgeois mon-
grels”. The Mensheviks then left the meeting, the S.R.
representatives with them, and a number of trade unions
passed resolutions protesting at the insult to the working class.
Makhno explaincd that he was referring only to the Menshevik
Party.38 :

M};khnovite ideas on industrial affairs were of course utopian
nonsense; but they accentuated their d}fﬁculms with the
workers by their financial measures. The villages could subsist
for long periods on what they produced themselves; but.the
worker, unless in receipt of rations, must be paid a SUﬂimer}t
wage in an acceptable currency to 9nable him to gover'hls
basic needs. It was the general practice of the opposing sides
in the civil war to refuse to recognize the enemy’s currency
(though the Bolsheviks for a time accepted Ukrainian Petlurist
roubles). Makhno proclaimed all Russian currencies as valid,
and when he levied contributions on monied classes and institu-
tions he would accept currencies annulled by the previous
occupant. The result, accentuated by the manceuvres of the
black bourse operators, was a fantastic wave of inflation in

which the town worker was the main sufferer.®
38 Arshinov, op. cit. p. 145 37 Voline, OPp. cit. p, g
38 Kubanin, op. cit. pp. 103-107 3 Jbid. PP- 99-100 3
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At the end of October there took place in Aleksandrovsk a
general Congress of Peasants, Workers and Insurgents. To
prevent manceuvres by the political parties, election campaign-
ing was forbidden. It was hurriedly convened, and the re-
presentation could not claim to cover the whole of the area
under Makhnovite influence. Some three hundred delegates
were present of whom a hundred and eighty were peasants.
There were seventeen worker delegates including eleven Men-
sheviks and two Bolsheviks (one of the latter was subsequently
shot by the Cheka on a charge of spying for Denikin). The
workers® delegates played little part in the proceedings.
Matters dealt with included the perennial question of man-
power; there was the old argument as to whether or not a
“voluntary” enlistment should be enforced. In the end this Con-
gress also accepted Makhno’s plea for a general mobilization
In all liberated areas. The maintenance of the Army was dis-
cussed, and it was agreed that supplies be obtained by means of
free contributions, requisitions from the rich and war booty.
It was decided to hold a further general Congress at an early
date in Ekaterinoslav. Finally a resolution was passed to speed
up by every means, and in every town and village the establish-
ment of free Soviets and of free associations and committees
for the unconstrained and amicable settlement of all social and
economic problems. There were a few doubting voices. A
Peasant from the Melitpol area asked: “If there is a bridge
between two of our villages and the bridge gets broken, who is
to repair it? If neither village wishes to do the work, then we
will not have a bridge and we will not be able to go to town.”
But such objections did not seem worth taking into account.
Voline had Tlaid down months before (in the Kharkov Nabat
Of'March 2nd 1919) that for Anarchists there was “no such
thing as determined possibility or determined impossibility”,
and the simple revolutionaries of the Aleksandrovsk Congress
were flushed with victory and filled with the vista of their
community of free associations spreading ever wider, over the
whole Ukraine, over Soviet Russia, over the West.
. At the fina) session delegates were invited to raisc any ques-
tions they yjshed, not excluding grievances or complaints
against the Insurgent Army. One delegate pointed out the
unsatisfactory state of the mcdicgl arrangements; a commission
10
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was appointed to enquire and to suggest means of improvement.
Another, after some hesitation, complained of irregularities on
the part of the Makhnovite razvedka; again a commission was
appointed. A third speaker went so far as to complain against
no less a person than the commandant of Insurgent troops in
Aleksandrovsk, one Klein, who after pasting the town with
notices demanding sobriety, had himself got publicly and
riotously drunk. A message was sent to ask Klein to appear
before the Congress. Those who knew Klein’s forceful and
violent personality felt anxious. But when Klein arrived he at
once confessed to the charge and expressed his regrets. He was,
he said in mitigation, a simple soldier; an administrative post
in a town made him bored and frustrated; he w1$_hed to go back
to the front. The Congress accepted this explanation, and passe:d
a resolution requesting the Makhnovite staff to transfer Klein
to a combatant post.40 .

The Makhnovites implemented their promuses of freedom of
the Press, and soon after their capture of Ekaterinoslav a
number of papers began to appear, including organs of Right
S.R.s, Left S.R.s and Bolsheviks (zezda). The only restriction
was in the military field: all papers had to follow the communi-
qués of the Makhnovite Put k Svobode. But while expression was
free “the preparation or organization of enforcement on the
masses of any régime affecting their complete freedom” was
forbidden. Any serious work by the local Bolshevik cells had
thus to be conducted conspiratorially.

That such work was in fact undertaken we know frpm the
record of one Miroshevsky,*! a Communist Party oﬁ'imal. sent
to Ekaterinoslav shortly before the Insurgent Army arrived,
Underground work was based on the editorial office of Jvezda.
The task was twofold: to work on “neutral” industrial workers
and win them over to the Soviet cause, and to split the Makhno-
vites. The policy of instigating class struggle in the villages, of
setting the poor peasants against the kulaks was being vigor-
ously and not unsuccessfully pursued in Soviet Russia, and it
was for the little group of Bolsheviks in Ekaterinoslav to Prepare
the ground, not only in the surrounding villages but also in the
ranks of the Insurgent Army. Some progress was n}aﬂf:: secret
Bolshevik cells were formed in the Insurgent Iron Division, and
the Divisional Commander himself, Polonsky, was won over.
But the Makhnovite razvedka discovered what was happening

40 Arshinov, op. cit. pp. 146-147 Kubanin, op. cit. PP- 91-g6
Voline, op. cit. pp. 604-619
41 Miroshevsky, V. in Proletarskaya Revolyutsya, Vol. 9 (1922) PP. 197-206

109



ST ANTONY’S PAPERS No. 6

and Polonsky and others were arrested. The Bolsheviks insti-
gated an appeal for their trial in open court. This was refused
and all were summarily shot. It was the first serious case of
treachery that the Makhnovite movement had experienced.

Altogether Makhno’s brief stay in the provincial capital was
an unhappy one. His hold on the town remained precarious:
the Whites were still on the opposite bank of the Dnieper and
the town was intermittently shelled by their artillery. The pro-
ject of a Second General Congress had to be abandoned. The
town remained throughout under the control of the officer
commanding the troops and the razvedka. Only negligible pro-
gress was made with the formation of free associations. But the
main feature of the occupation was the full impact of the typhus
epidemic upon troops and civilians alike. Makhno himself was
soon to fall sick of it. Doctors were pressed into service and
desperate attempts were made to organize hospitals: but sur-
vivors had nightmare stories to tell of the filth, confusion, lack
of medicines and equipment, and appalling death-rate. On the
approach of the retreating White armies from the north it was
decided to evacuate.4?

Makhnovite apologists like Arshinov and Voline are ex-
tremely sensitive to Bolshevik jibes that neither in Ekaterinoslav
hor anywhere else did the movement show any constructive
achievement. Their answer is that they never had time for it:
they were always being forced out of their centres by some
greatly superior enemy army. Military considerations were
Paramount, and often incompatible with civilian aspirations:
Voline, with his strict Anarchist conscience, went so far as to
ay down that “Every army, of any kind, is an evil.”” 43

. As we have seen, the movement now included some Anarchist
Intellectuals. Arshinov had arrived early in 1919 and started
the newspaper Put k Svobode. In June the Federation of Anarchist
Tganizations in the Ukraine, much harried by the Bolsheviks,
ca.d decided to shift their headquarters to Makhno’s area. This
Olncided with the Bolshevik break with Makhno and with
lelmkln’s summer advance. Voline did not reach Makhno till

%'USt, and some of his colleagues never got through at all.
remajose that did succeed in arriving only Voline and Arshinov
montl?ed onal.to. Makbno to the end; the others, after a ffaw
paru'sas’ fOunq it impossible to reconcile Anarchist theory with
arn ln Practice and left him. But for a time at least the weekly

J al Nabat, the most important Anarchist organ in the
42 Arshing

Kubaniv’ op. cit. p. 156 43 Voline, op. cit. p. 679

n, op, cit. pp. 190-19I Arshinov, op. cit. p. 241
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Ukraine, was edited at the Insurgent headquarters and the new
arrivals did much to improve the quality of the Makhnovite
papers and leaflets.

In one or two areas some progress was made towards the
establishment of schools. The aim was to put into practice the
educational ideas of the Spanish Anarchist, Francisco Ferrer.
Schools were to be the possession of the toiling masses themselves
and to be entirely independent of any influence from Church
or State. Teachers were to receive their livelihood from the
communities they served. We hear of commissions being ap-
pointed, who were to work out plans. There is no available
evidence to show whether such schools actually started to
function. 44 . .

Makhnovite opposition to any form of racial or national dis-
crimination was frequently and clearly expressed. The Pet-
lurists were opposed because they were bourgeois. Makhnovite
ideas on Ukrainian independence were defined by the Revolu-
tionary Military Soviet in a declaration of October 1919: in-
dependence meant the free association of workers and peasants,
and had nothing to do with “independence of a nationalistic
type”. Jews held leading positions in the movement throughout
its existence, and anti-Semitism was regularly denounced in
orders and proclamations and in articles in Put k Svobode. Some
anti-Semitism of course persisted, but cases of ill treatment or of
incitement against Jews were on occasion severely punished.
We hear of Makhno himself shooting 2 partisan of long service
who had chalked up a notice: “Defend the Revolution! Long
Live Makhno! Down with the Jews.” %5 . ..

The Makhnovite attitude to the administration of justice was
laid down in a declaration of the Gulyai-Polye Congress of
February 1919: “On the question of the need to organize a
judicial administrative apparatus we suggest as basic principle
that any rigid permanent court and police machinery and any
definitive codification of laws constitute infringements of the
population’s rights of self defence . . . True justice cannot be
administratively organized but must come as a living, free,
creative act of the community . . . Law and order must be up-
held by the living force of the local community, and must not
be left to police specialists”.4® )

It seems irrelevant to argue the question of .N.Iakhnovite
capacity for constructive achievement. Many of theirideas made
sense to Ukrainian peasants whose one political obsession was

44 Arghi . cit. pp. 176- oline, op. cit. PP: 637-6
Ao, o o, DB Torath Ve B Rbinin, o1 g
IT1
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to be rid of any outside interference. Most of their ideas make
nonsense when applied to any larger or more developed admini-
strative unit. If left to themselves, Makhno and his advisers
might, by trial and error, have so modified their ideas so as to
make possible some more or less workable social order. But they
had too many enemies and were always on the run. They had
no constitutional apparatus. Their supreme authority was the
Congress, but they were often chased out of their centres before
the Congress sessions could be held. The Revolutionary Military
Soviet was merely the instrument of the Congress, and in point
of fact the R.M.S. was largely ignored by the military staff. In
the emotional and physical circumstances of the time Makhno-
ushchina could not be an organized political movement. It was
an army—an outstanding partisan army—with great powers of

?&'ousing peasant enthusiasm and a number of rather muddled
ideas.

(xiil)

There were very wide fluctuations in the numerical strength of
the Insurgent Army. The peak period was late 1919 when
lakhno’s prestige was at its highest and when he had a very
wide area from which to draw recruits. Soviet estimates at this
period vary from 40,000 infantry and 15,000 cavalry to 14,000
mfantry, 6,000 cavalry, 5,000 gunners and machine-gunners:
Makhno then possessed 48 field guns, 4 armoured trains, 4
armoured cars and 1,000 machine-guns. In any case his force
represented at least the same effective fighting strength as an
average Soviet army on the Southern Front.47
O posts of command were held by former Tsarist officers,
°r by anyone of middle- or upper-class birth. Voline lists thirteen
of Makhno’s principal subordinate commanders, of whom
€.even were peasants and two workers. A similar list of eighteen
a:)’elr: by Arshinov breaks down into fourtegn peasants, thl:ee
cor; €18 and one village school-teacher.® Voline gives the racial
Gre Position of the Army as 85 per cent Ukrainian, 8 per cent
Gerat Russian and the remainder Jews, Greeks, Tartars and
pro mans from the southern Ukraine.*® It is agreed that a high
a POrtion of both officers and men came from Gulyai-Polye
€ surrounding areas. The main weapons were sawn-off

v Kubanin cit. pp. 162, 174
:: Volgne, o’p‘.)l():it. pp. 664-667 Arshinov, op. cit. pp. 221-227
Voline, op. cit. p. 677
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rifles and machine-guns—the latter for the most part mounted
on tachankas. Dress was very variegated. A man would wear
what he had till he could take something better. At Ekaterino-
slav. Miroshevsky saw many insurgents dressed in British
uniforms captured from the Whites. He noted that morale at
that time was high and bellicose: the men were determined to
liquidate Denikin, then to liquidate the Moscow Commissars,
and then march westwards against the European bourgeois. 5
The Insurgents were pitiless fighters and gave no quarter to
the Whites, unless there was reason to believe that the prisoners
were willing to change sides. There were incessant orders against
looting and drunkenness, and intermittent drastic punishments:
a Brigade Commander was shot for looting in October 1919
and a Regimental Commander in the summer of 1920. But the
trouble was never eradicated: the peasant insurgents had been
brought up to regard townsmen as their enemies and conceived
it their right to take what they wanted from towns.

The Army was organized into divisions of three brigades,
with three regiments to a brigade and three battalions to a
regiment. Each unit had a Political Commussar, elected by Fhe
rank and file. Makhno nominated the officers commanding
independently operating task forces. Other commanders were
sometimes elected, sometimes nominated. Makhno retained the
right to annul an election if he disapproved of the candidate
selected: at the same time, if a unit was dissatisfied with a
nominated commander the man was usually transferred. In
late 1919 in the war against Denikin the Army operated mostly
as a whole; in 1920 the circumstances of the fighting against
the Bolsheviks brought about an increasing tendency to detach
independent task forces; when these had completed their mis-
sion they would return to a given rendezvous, or await further
orders by courier.

The enforcement of discipline was a matter of €ver-recurring
difficulty, in particular the problem of how to make units obey
unwelcome orders. Here of course the personality of the com-
manding officer was of enormous importance: Makhno issueq
an order in December 1919 laying the blame for certain lapses
upon the commanders. There were cases in which units were
punished for disobeying orders by having their horses and arp;
taken from them. Regimental and battalion mass meetings
played a certain role. We hear of a regimental meeting which
passed a resolution against all card playing and against the
issue of hard liquor either to partisans or to their Commanding

5 Prol, Rev. Vol. 9 (1922) Pp- 200-204
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officers. The same meeting passed a resolution that all orders
must be obeyed provided that the commanding officer was
sober at the time of giving it.5!

Makhno must have shown remarkable judgement in his
selection of his subordinate commanders. The qualifications
were exacting. Apart from acquiring and keeping the absolute
confidence of their troops they needed initiative, resource, flexi-
bility and indefatigable physical toughness. Speed and surprise
were the essence of Makhnovite tactics. Infantry were carried
in carts and both infantry and cavalry could move at twice the
speed of regular army troops. Makhno would seize every oppor-
tunity of getting behind his enemy. If attacked he would retreat,
leave a small unit in front of the enemy to act as decoy, pass his
main body round the flanks, and counter-attack from the rear.
The partisans made use of every trick that peasant cunning
could devise—ambushes, use of enemy uniforms, pretended
surrenders. If surrounded with no chance of a break-out a unit
would bury its arms and stores and disappear, as peasants, into
the surrounding villages, waiting to re-form as soon as the
enemy had passed on. At the peak of Makhno’s hold on village
loyalties it was almost impossible for the enemy to locate Insur-
gent formations: the peasants would not talk. Intelligence and
communications were comparatively simple matters for the
Insurgents.

Though the question of supply was always appearing on the
agenda of Makhnovite Congresses it does not appear that any
serious attempt was made to establish an organized supply
department. There is no record of the setting-up of repair shops
or S.A.A. factories as was done by the Red Army, and even by
most of the partisan movements in Siberia. For one thing the
Insurgents were too frequently on the run; for another, small
amateur workshops could have done nothing to make good the
€normous wastage of small arms and ammunition. In the course
of his career Makhno captured huge quantities of stores of all

nds from his various enemies. Much was distributed to the
local villagers. Of the rest Makhno’s habit was to bury, in great
Sécrecy, such arms as it was not feasible or convenient to carry
away. Later on the Bolsheviks dug up a number of these caches.

€ also hear of Makhno burying gold. Food and horses were
provided by the villages. One secret of Makhnovite speed was
that his men coyld always exchange tired horses for fresh ones
en route. Later on, when the incessant passage of fighting bands
and armies had drained the Ukrainian villages of their re-
51 Kubanin, op. cit. pp- 183-184
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sources, the question of food and horses became more difficult.
Throughout their campaigns the Makhnovites showed extreme
concern for their sick and wounded, and long trains of carts of
wounded and typhus cases followed the main body of the Army:
but their circumstances allowed no opportunity for the setting
up of any effective medical service.52

Of the Makhnovite security services—the Razvedka and the
Kommissiya Protivmakhnovskikh Del—we know very little. Their
excesses were violently arraigned by the Bolsheviks, and
Kubanin cites them as proof of Makhnovite hypocrisy in
vilifying the Cheka. Makhno’s later campaigns are among the
most vindictive and bloody in history, and in the circumstances
one can safely assume that these services were responsible for
frequent injustices and atrocities. Voline is witness to the fact
that they were under no effective control.®? But, like their
opposite numbers the Cheka, they seem to have been not
unsuccessful in carrying out the task which they were set.

(xiv)

Makhno himself at the height of his power retained many of
the characteristics of the young man who, three years bg?erc,
had come home from the Butyrka Prison to make the Ukrainian
revolution a reality. He retained his remarkable physical
vitality. In spite of his lung affection and the aftermath of
typhus and many wounds he could outride and outwork any
of his colleagues. He would never go to bed till the task he had
set himself was finished, and two hours later he would be tap-
ping at the windows of his sleeping staff to bring them back to
their work. He lived like a peasant himself and was always
accessible to his peasants. He would always make time to talk
to peasants, drink with them, take a hand with a flail. He would
book the date two weeks in advance for a village wedding.
Hence his enormous popularity. It was said that some of his
subordinates, Kurilenko in particular, were at least as good
soldiers and probably better administrators than Makhno: but
no one could carry the countryside as .hc could.

He became increasingly engrossed in military matters, and
it was harder and harder to keep him away from the front line
when military operations were in progress. When sick or
severely wounded he insisted on being carried in a cart with
the front troops till he was well enough to ride a horse again.

82 Ibid. pp. 172-173, 189 83 Voline, op. cit. p. 683
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He was daring, persistent and resourceful; whatever the crisis
that faced him he was never nervy or panicky. Nerves only
became apparent in his office. As time went on he grew im-
patient of administrative details, and also of the theoretical
disquisitions of his articulate Anarchist friends. He could not
be bothered with the wordy resolutions of the Revolutionary
Military Soviet. Voline in his deposition when in Bolshevik
hands wrote that ‘“Makhno’s personal attitude to the R.M.S.
was partly to ignore it”. The Nabat Anarchists who left him in
1920 carried a resolution at their conference later that year to
the effect that “Bat’ka Makhno, as leader of the Makhnovsh-
china, while possessing many valuable revolutionary qualities,
belongs, unfortunately, to that class of person who cannot
always subordinate their personal caprices to the good of the
movement.”” Voline in later years was to say of him that “he
had no theoretical or historical political knowledge; he was
thus unable to make the necessary revolutionary generaliz-
ations and deductions”. Arshinov makes the same complaint.

Makhno was a heavy drinker, increasingly so as time went
on. Kubanin quotes a number of extracts from the diary of
his “wife”, Fedora Gaenko (which was alleged to have been
captured by the Red Army and preserved in the archives at
Kharkov), giving instances of his drunkenness. Arshinov dis-
putes the diary’s authenticity, pointing out that his legal wife,
Galina Andreevna (who escaped abroad with him), neither
kept nor lost a diary. There is however plenty of independent
evidence of his drinking habits. Voline considers the influence
of alg:ohol to l}ave been deplorable. “It had little effect on his
physical constitution. But alcohol made him ill-disposed, bad
temPered, excitable, unjust, intractable, violent. How often
during my time with the Army I was in a state of despair when
I left him, having been able to get no sense out of the man
because of his abnormal state. Indeed at certain periods it
almost became his normal state.” Voline goes on: “The second
failing of Makhno and of many of his close associates was their
attitude towards women. These men, especially when intoxi-
cated, could not refrain from behaviour that was improper—
disgusting wogld often be the correct adjective—amounting
almost to orgies In which certain women were obliged to
participate,” 54

Makhr}o became 1€S§ and less inclined to take advice. As he
became increasingly dictatorial he developed a false sense of
security. His decisions were capricious, made on the spur of

84 Voline, op, cit. pp. 681-683
116



NESTOR MAKHNO

the moment. He refused to think things out or to calculate
possible future developments. It would have been easy to fore-
tell the Bolshevik attack at the beginning of 1920, and their
second attack at the end of that year. But in neither case did
Makhno make any counter-preparations.

(xv)

The Red Army captured Kharkov and Kiev in December
1919. They marched into Ekaterinoslav a month after Makhno
withdrew. A few weeks later they took Tsaritsyn and Rostov.
The Whites were decisively beaten: by the epq of March they
had been driven into the Crimea, and Denikin was about to
hand over to Wrangel.

The Red Army advance guard first contacted the Makhno-
vite Army in Aleksandrovsk in December. Relations at first
again were friendly: there was a sense of solidarity in the
victories over the Whites, and there were fraternal meetings
and greetings. But shortly afterwards, at the turn of the year,
the headquarters of the Fourteenth Red Army (under Voro-
shilov) sent Makhno formal instructions that he should pr oceed
with the whole of his Army to take up positions on the Polish
frontier. It is true that there were military reasons for reinforc-
ing this sector, though the Polish war was not to b.reak. out for
another five months. But it is admitted on the Sgwgt side that
this order was primarily “dictated by the necessity” of liquid-
ating Makhnovschina as an independent movement. Only When
he was far removed from his home country would it be possible
to counteract his influence, and to split up and integrate his
partisans into various Red Army formations.

There were other occasions (notably in Siberia) of _the
Soviet authorities solving the problem of difficult partisan
leaders by sending them off to fight on distant fronts. Makhne
and his staff, however, were perfectly aware of the underlying
Soviet motives. A reasoned reply was sent to the Fourteenth
Army: the Insurgent Army, more revolutionary than ap
other army, would stay in the Ukraine where it belonged; the
proposed transfer to the Polish frontier was pointless, and ip
any case impossible until the typhus had abated. At the same
time an appeal was made, over the heads of the Red Command,
to the Red Army rank and file that they should not be party
to this “provocation”. There was no immediate response from
the Bolshevik side. But in mid-January the Central Committee
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of the Ukrainian Communist Party declared Makhno and his
force to be outside the law, and the Red Army attacked. There
followed eight months of the most savage fighting in which
the Makhnovites were ever engaged.55

In their new campaign to assimilate the southern Ukraine
the Bolsheviks were in a far stronger position than they had
been in the spring. With Denikin beaten and the Polish war
not yet started they had far more troops at their disposal.
Trotsky’s reconditioning of the Red Army had had time to take
effect. Subsidiary services, not least the Cheka, had been re-
inforced and improved. Experience of the White Armies had
made the peasants less hostile towards the Reds, and the Soviet
Government were now in a better position to work to a set
policy rather than on a series of hasty improvizations. In

"ebruary regulations were passed to assure a further distribu-
tion of land to the poorer peasants, and within a few months
the unpopular State farms had been cut down by half in
numbers and by two-thirds in acreage. More land was taken
from the richer peasants and handed over to the poorer. An

Intensified drive was undertaken to split the peasantry and to

Secure the active co-operation of the ;
kulaks, p bednyaks against the

The war of 1920 was ot a war of large-scale battles. There
were a few engagements, and Gulyai-Polye changed hands
Several times with considerable bloodshed. Insurgent strength
at this period was certainly less than in late 1919, and Makhno’s
offensives were necessarily confined to surprise attacks on
1solated Red formations. The Bolshevik objective was twofold

—10 round up Makhno, and to eradicate his influence in the

countryside. In the first they failed; in th .
Numberg andnc S o Y ; In the second by weight of

su onsistent ruthlessness they achieved a partial
W:Cesﬁ- Or}e of the first Makhnovite casualties was Voline: he
b S lylng sick with typhus when overrun by the Reds and sent

aCX t0 prison in Moscow.
wouﬁithe Occupation of a village by the Red Army the Cheka

hunt out and hang all active Makhnovite supporters; an
i;nit‘-rrrllable Soviet would be set up; officials would brt):pappointed
dpl?rtegl to organize the poor peasants and to arrange for
left ae Vveries of produce; and three or four Red militia men
. 1 95 armed support for the new village bosses. This method
a rn Ot always work. Though the Sovkhoz system had been
Ppreciably modified, War Communism remained. There were

5 .
eml.‘mOV, op. cit. pp. 157-158  Kubanin, op. cit. pp. 123-124
oline, op. cir. pp- 623-624
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requisitions, mobilization and forced labour. The enforced
deliveries of produce were harsh, haphazard and bitterly
resented. Peasant obstruction and resentment again came into
play. Newly appointed members of Soviets (and even of poor
peasant committees) would sometimes reveal themselves as
kulaks. Bolshevik nominees would be murdered, driven out,
or terrorized into refraining from carrying out their jobs. At
any moment a Makhnovite band might appear, out of the
blue, and all the new bosses would be rounded up and shot.

It is impossible to estimate the casualties involved. Voline
and Arshinov give a figure of 200,000 peasants killed by the
Reds—a large proportion being Cheka executions. The
Makhnovites killed all Bolshevik Party activists they could
catch, all Cheka and Militia members, 'and all officials of
forced delivery and poor peasant organizations. In the military
operations the Bolsheviks shot all prisoners. The Makhnovites
shot all captured officers unless the Red rank and file strongly
interceded for them. The rank and file were usually sent home,
though a number volunteered for service with the Insurgents.
Red Army reports complain of poor morale; certain Red com-
manders and political commissars were arrested for the un-
satisfactory showing of their units. It is certain that numbers of
the Red Army rank and file had little heart in this particular
phase of the civil war. The Reds used a number of Lettish and
Chinese troops to decrease the risk of fratermzation.

The outbreak of the Polish War did not cause a serious
depletion of the Red Army in the southern Ukraine. Red
superiority in numbers continued to be overwhelming. Makhno
and his main body were pursued hither and thither across the
country. On occasion he was brought to fight and was beaten;
but always he would elude his opponent, reform and reappear
to strike a blow when least expected. We hear of his Capturing
half a battery, a supply train, a whole Red infantry regiment,
All the resources of Bolshevik propaganda and musinformation
were called into play. There were frequent reports of his death
or capture. The Cheka staged further abortive attempts to
assassinate him.

However, Bolshevik strength and methods began to te).
Makhno was appreciably weaker in the late summer of 1920
than he had been in the spring. The successive occupation of
village after village by the Red Army and the Cheka meant
the successive elimination (or terrorization) of all anti-Bolshevik
activists. Furthermore, the continued years of fighting and
requisitions had left the villagers exhausted ang destitute.
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They wanted peace, any sort of peace. They had no supplies
or hzrses le‘}t ilz)r even the much-reduced Makhnovite armies.
They had nothing to give, and they resented demands made
on them. The question of horses was all-important for Makhno’s

tactics were based on speed, and speed depended on fresh
horses. 56

(xvi)

As opposed to the Polish War, the Wrangel campaign directly
affected the Insurgent Army. Wrangel was determined to make
use of any available ally. As early as May 13th 1920 he issued
an order that his troops should, where possible, co-ordinate
With Makhno and other anti-Bolshevik groups, whereupon
Bolshevik papers published allegations of Makhno-Wrangel
collaboration. On June 18th the White Command dispatched
2 couple of emissaries (a colonel and a captain) with formal
Proposals to Makhno for joint operations against the Reds.
€ matter was considered at a meeting of the Insurgent
Ommand op July gth: the colonel was shot and the captain
anged with 2 placard bearing the legend “There never was
and never will be any association on the part of Makhno with
W te-Guardists, and if any other White Headquarters wish
to Send a further envoy he will meet with the same fate as this
?ine.  Makhno issued a proclamation stating what he had
One, as refutation of Bolshevik slanders.
can- 3 agreed that the initiative for joint action against Wrangel
3Me from the Makhnovites. Proposals to this end were tele-
gral?hqd by Makhno to Kharkov and Moscow in July and
fogriln In August. Soviet historians suggest that Makhno was
opi neid to make this approach by the pressure of general peasant
if M °n; and Arshinov makes the rather significant remark that
th iakhno had to choose between Wrangel and the Bolsheviks
Bolshe Portant factor was that the masses would prefer the
and ch"lks\it was true that the Bolsheviks had lied to them
Wrar, cated them, but the main enemy of the masses was still
the o 8el.57 K\hanin suggests that Makhno’s aims in making
Sec()nfélfroach were firstly to ensure the defeat of Wrangel, and
- to have the chance to infiltrate into the Red Army,
. Vﬁ}i’n";?‘;,p Op. cit. pp. 159-164 Kubanin, op. cit. pp. 124-147
G’?;g‘gm ;—”S:ti’tﬁ'g; ?;?éffglt gg. (edited Bubnov and others, Moscow 1928-
Arshinov\fglr;.lgi]é’ PSIL
- Pp. 109 120



NESTOR MAKHNO

and subvert and win over an appreciable portion of the Red
troops.58 The second point may be true. But by this time
Makhno was less than ever inclined to work out a long-term
Programme; he may just have blindly relied on his luck. In
any case, it is certain he would have run any risk in order to
annihilate Wrangel. He remained to the end the implacable
enemy of the Whites.

Makhno’s approach to the Reds was left unanswered till
September. Then Wrangel staged his big offensive: Berdyansk
was overrun, then Gulyai-Polye, Aleksandrovsk Sinelnikovo
and Ekaterinoslav. Towards the end of the month a Bolshevik
representative arrived at Makhnovite headquarters: then two

akhnovite delegates were sent to Kharkov and an agreement
was negotiated between October 10oth and 15th. o

he agreement was in two parts, military and political.
The Military Section contained four clauses. (1) The Insurgent
Army would retain its own internal organization, but would
b.? subordinate operationally to the Red Higher Command.
(ii) The Insurgent Army would not recruit or accept as v.olun-
teers any Red Army deserters. (iii) Makhno was to issue a signed
Proclamation to be published and distributed by the SOYlet
authorities, calling upon the population to.take no action
detrimental to the Red Army or to the Soviet Government.
(IV).The families of members of the Insurgent Army living in
Soviet-held arcas were to enjoy the same rights as Red Army
families. ]

. The Political Section contained three clauses. (i) All Makhno-
Vvites and all Anarchists under arrest in Soviet hands were to
be set free forthwith. (ii) Makhnovites and Anarchists were to
have full liberty of expression, subject to the requirements of
mllltary censorship and provided that nothlng was expressed
that tended towards the overthrow of Soviet Power. The
Soviet authorities would provide Makhnovites and Anarchists
with technical facilities for the expression of their views. (iii)
Makhnovites and Anarchists were to enjoy full rights of parti-
Cipation in elections to local Soviets, including t.h.c right to be
elected. They were to have the right to participate in the
organization of the forthcoming Fifth All-Ukrainian Congress
of Soviets. .

There was, in addition, a fourth clause in the Political
Section, which occasioned a great dea} of argument, and which
the Bolshevik negotiators refused to sign, but referred back to
their higher authorities. It was to the effect that in areas

88 Kubanin, op. cit. p. 153
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occupied by the Insurgent Army the population was to create
and maintain its own free and autonomous social and economic
order—these areas subsequently to be federated with Soviet
Russia by means of agreements to be freely negotiated with the
appropriate Soviet Government organs.®®

The Makhnovites pressed for the full agreement to be
published at once. The Military Section appeared in the
Bolshevik papers fairly promptly, but the Political Section only
after some delay. Nothing more came of the draft fourth
political clause which, as Kubanin.pomts out, was obviously
quite unacceptable to the Bolsheviks. But an official Soviet
communiqué was issued to the effect that Makhno had never
helped Wrangel and that allegations that he had done so had
been untrue. And a start was made with the implementation
of the rest of the Political Section. A number of Makhnovites
and Anarchists in Soviet prisons were in fact released. These
included Voline, who came to Kharkov, started up Nabat again
and made preparations for another Anarchist conference to be
held in Kharkov at the end of the year.

The Bolsheviks obviously felt these measures necessary in
order to ensure the full co-operation of the Makhnovite Army.
They did not underestimate Wrangel and they wished to
rally all the resources available for what might prove to be a
hard and prolonged campaign. A Soviet historian writes that
the agreement with Makhno was “justified by the strategic
conditions™.s® But, as Kubanin states flatly, there was never
the slightest intention on the Bolshevik side of keeping to the
agreement once its military value had passed.s* Months later,
When Voline was in prison again, he was told by his Cheka
Interrogator: “When we had need of Makhno we knew how to
make use of him, and when we no longer had need, when in
act he was becoming a nuisance, we knew how to get rid of

m once and for all.”” 82

It would be idle to pretend that there was good faith on the

akhnovite side. They were all perfectly aware that a further
Clash would come, and they were determined that their own
1deas, and not the Bolsheviks’, should in the end prevail. But

€y do not seem to have made any practical plans. The
udly voiced Bolshevik accusations of treachery may well be
ustified on the score of ultimate intention, but not on the

lo
J

** Arshinov, op. cit. pp. 171-173 Voline, op. cit. pp. 631-633

a0 Ubanin, op. cit. pp. 157-158 i

o2 OTazhdanskayg Voina, Vol. 111, p. 512 *! Kubanin, op. cit. p. 650
Voline, op. cit. p. 650
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NESTOR MAKHNO

score of serious conspiratorial work. Makhnovite hopes seem
to have laid on a crescendo of popular feeling in their favour
both in the villages and in the rank and file of the Red Army.
But this needed time, and events moved much too fast for them.

Makhno did not on this occasion accompany his units to
the front. He went back to Gulyai-Polye—his first chance of
returning home in any security after nine months of hard
fighting. With him went his headquarters staff and some 3,000
Insurgents. .

The Red Army counter-offensive against Wrangel was
spectacular in its spced and success. By early November the
Whites had been driven off the mainland and the Perckop
positions defending the Crimea had been forced. In mid-
November news reached Gulyai-Polye that the Red Army,
together with some Insurgent units under Karetnik, were
marching on Simferopol; and a member of Makhno’s staff
remarked: “This is the end of the agreement. Within a week
the Bolsheviks will be attacking us.”

The importance that the Bolsheviks attached to Makhno is
evidenced by the scope, the speed, the thoroughness and the
sccrecy of the preparations they made for his liquidation.
(Voline, on seemingly good authority, reproduces copies of
telegrams showing Lenin’s personal interest.) On November
23rd nine Bolshevik security service agents were captured by
the Razvedka in Gulai-Polye. They confessed under interroga-
tion that they had been sent by the commander of the 42nd
(Red Army) Division, with the assignment to locate and watch
the place of residence and movements of Makhno and his
principal officers: they were to remain there till the arrival of
the Red Army which was expected in a couple of days,
Makhno’s Chief of Staff contacted Kharkov on the direct
telegraph line, made a strong protest and demanded the arrest
of the O.C. 42nd Division and any others responsible. Kharkoy
replied that there must be some misunder.standmg : thﬁy would
institute enquiries. In a further telegraphic conversation a da;
or two later Kharkov promised that the incident would be
settled to Makhnovite satisfaction. When pressed on the
matter of Clause 4 of the Political Agreement (the Makhnp-
vites were impatiently awaiting its approval by Moscow),
Kharkov replied that here too a satisfactory solution vyag
imminent. .

In Kharkov on November 25th Voline secured an interview
with Rakovsky, head of the Ukrainian Soviet Goverpment.
There had been some police persecution of Nabat readers,
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contrary to the agreement of October. Voline also pressed
for a speedy approval of Clause 4. Rakovsky promised early
satisfaction on both counts. That night Voline, together with
other Anarchists, was arrested and MNabat suppressed. The
Makhnovite negotiators of the October Agreement, who were
staying on in Kharkov pending settlement of Clause 4, were
seized, removed to Moscow and there executed.

At Red Army Headquarters at Melitpol on N9vcmbc1: 23rd
Frunze signed Order 00149 requiring complet_c integration in
the Red Army of all Insurgent units. This order was not made
public till mid-December. On the 25th or 26th the commander
of the Makhnovite forces in the Crimea was invited to a Red

my command post where he was seized and shot. The

akhnovite units were surrounded, but 250 cavalry broke
through and eventually joined up with Makhno. )

On November 26th the Red Army attacked Gulyal-Polye in
force.s3 Makhno was completely surrounded. But he fought

is way out of the village, collected some reinforcements,
counter-attacked and recaptured the village. In this engage-
ment the 4ond Red Army Division was routed, losing (accord-
Ing to Arshinov) 6,000 prisoners, of whom 2,000 agreed to
Serve under Makhno and the rest sent to their homes. Three
2ys later Makhno defeated two further Red divisions, again
with g huge haul of prisoners of whom a large proportion
volunteered to join him. This development caused serious
concern to the Red Army aut.hontles, and a special catchment
COTPs was organized, with firing squads, to pick up stragglers
and prevent news spreading. For a few days there was con-
Siderable optimism at Makhnovite headquarters: it was felt
that 5 that was needed was another victory or two and
€ war against the Bolsheviks would be won. But the Red
MYy continued to bring up further reinforcements: twice again
the Insurgent Army was encircled and had to fight its way out,
€ach time the victory was more dearly won. Reports
rought by peasants made it apparent that no less than four
S ed my Corps were being assembled. At a meeting of the
Oviet of Revolutionary Insurgents it was agreed that there
was ng Prospect of being able to hold the Gulyai-Polye area,
and the akhnovite Army retreated northwards.
. Tt wag an extremely severe winter. The Red Army held all
IMmportap¢ road junctions in force, and for the most part the

® Arshingy, op. cit. pp- 180-189 Kubanin, op. cit. pp. 159, 213
Voline, op. cit. pp. 639648
Voline: Nineteen Seventeen (London 1954) p. 158
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Insurgents moved over the frozen fields. Up north, not far
from Kiev, they had to abandon their artillery and heavy
baggage in the snow. In the following eight months of almost
continuous fighting Makhno covered the whole of the Ukraine.
From the Kiev province he struck east, skirting Poltava,
Kursk and Kharkov. It was at this period that, a thousand
miles to the north, the Kronstadt sailors were fighting under
slogans somewhat similar to his own; but we do not know
whether news of Kronstadt ever reached him. He was badly
wounded and when, in early March, he came south again he
had to be carried in a cart. He passed through the Gulyai-
Polye area, reached the Black Sea coast and turned east along
the Sea of Azov. On his way north again he was wounded
once more near Gulyai-Polye; but was sufficiently recovered to
ride a horse at the rendezvous of his troops he had fixed for
April in the Poltava province. ) .

In 1921 the Soviet Armies were still on a war footing, and
there was no external enemy. The whole of the military machine
in south Russia was available for the elimination of Makhno,
and for the support of the State and Party organizations and
Cheka in their work on the integration of the Ukrainian
villages. It was the story of 1920 all over again, but this time
with the scales weighted far more heavily on the side of the
Soviet Power. It is remarkable too that, in spite of the intro-
duction, in early 1921, of the N.E.P. measures to remove most
of the peasants’ grievances, Red Army reports should still
complain of the support afforded to Makhno by the villagers.

Arshinov reproduces a letter written later by Makhno to
a friend in which he describes the “nightmare” of those last
few months. There were victories; more often than not he
got the better of his brushes with the.Bolshewks. Now and
then he captured a small town, when his first move would be
to seize the local printing press and run off leaflets demanding
free Soviets. There were moments of encouragement, as when
a delegation of Chernigov peasants came to one of his columns
to offer their support. But in the unequal struggle his resources
progressively dwindled. He himself in this last period was
wounded six times, twice seriously. Of the thirteen principal
subordinate commanders listed by Voline (who included
Makhno’s closest personal friends), four were dead before the
final break with the Bolsheviks in November 1g2o0. During the
next six months Makhno lost all the nine survivors: two were
seized and shot in the Crimea; two were taken prisoner— their
subsequent fate unknown; one was executed by the Cheka and
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the remaining four killed in battle. Casualties among the rank
and ry heavy. )

O&éigw igc t\;feyintengty of the pursuit and the dlﬁicult’ics
of supply it became necessary to operate in ever smaller units.
Small detachments were sent off to operate mdcpendent!y—-
and mostly disappeared. In early August Makhno realized
he could do no more, and on August 13th he crossed the
Dnieper for the last time, between Orlik and Kremenchug,
making for the West. On the 16th he was cornered. by the
Reds but fought his way out, capturing thirteen Maxims and
three Lewis guns. His own losses were seventeen men. There
was another battle on the 22nd when he was hit again, this
time badly, and had once more to be f:arned on a cart. On
the 26th, almost in sight of the frontier, there was a final
engagement. On the evening of the 28th the Survivors, number-
ing two hundred and fifty men, crossed the Dnieper into

Oumania, 84

(xvii)

Arshinov did not accompany Makhno to Roumania. He went
back to the Anarchist undergrounds of the Ukraine and Great
ussia where he wrote his book. In due course the manuscript
Was smuggled out for publication in Berlin.
oline meanwhile was lodged in the Taganka Prison in
Oscow. In the summer of 1921 he staged a hunger strike
which came to the knowledge of an international Red Trades
nion Congress then in session in Moscow. French and Spanish
narchist delegates made representations on his behalf, in
consequence of which the Soviet Government released him and
€xpelled him from Soviet territory.
Makhno and his little force were disarmed and interned by
the Roumanians, and there followed a series of acrimonious
diplomatic notes from Moscow demanding his extradition.
€re is reason to believe that the Roumanian authorities
Connived at his escape across the Polish frontier. Here he was
arrested apq brought to trial on a charge of ‘“‘anti-Polish
actvities” i the Ukraine. He was acquitted, went on to
aN2ig and was arrested again. All this time international
Darchist organizations had been vocal on his behalf, and he
Was eventually ajlowed to move to Paris and settle there.
84 Kubanin, op. cit. p. 159 Arshinov, op. cit. pp. 189-200

oline, op, cit. pp. 651661
» Op. cit. PP 726
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His final period was an unhappy one. He was miserably
poor. Before leaving the Ukraine he had dug up one of his
hidden stocks of gold, but that was soon spent. His turbulent
life had worn him out and his health was broken. He never
learned to speak any French. Voline speaks of his “difficulty
In adjusting himself to circumstances so very different from
his former way of life”’. He was moody, quarrelsome, subject
to fits of extreme depression. He started to work on his memoirs
and Voline attempted to help set in order his illiterate manu-
script. A first volume was completed and issued during his
lifetime, but then he quarrelled with Voline, and two further
parts, edited by Voline, appeared only after his death. He
died in 1935 and his ashes were buried in the Pére Lachaise
Cemetery. 65

85 Arshinov, op. cit. pp. 253-258 Voline, op. cit. pp. 7-11, 669
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I

The year 1917 had been a most unfavourable one for the Allies.
The losses during the Somme battles in the autumn of 1916,
and in the fighting at Ypres and Passchendaele in the summer
of 1917 placed a severe strain on British and French manpower.
There had been mutiny in the French Army. Italy had suffered
a severe setback, and the entry of Roumania coinciding with the
beginning of the Russian collapse was quickly followed by the
Ooccupation of Bucharest and Constanza by the German Army.

On the extended Eastern fronts some progress had been
made against the Turks in Syria and Mesopotamia. The capture
of Baghdad by a British-Indian force to some extent retrieved
the disaster at Kut some months previously. But Turkey
remained a force to be reckoned with. Turkish pan-Turanian
and pan-Islamic propaganda was not without effect in Persia,
Afghanistan and even in northern India, and contributed, more
than was realized at the time, to developments in the Caucasus
and Russian Central Asia.

_The immediate effect of the October revolution was the
dlsintegration of the Russian Army. By the time a formal
armistice with Germany had been signed early in December,
no effective Russian force remained on any front. German
and Austrian armies were shortly to occupy the Ukraine and
Penetrate into the Caucasus. The Russians had withdrawn from
Kars and other points on the Caucasian front, and were being
withdrawn from Persia, where a force under General Baratov
had been operating on the right flank of the British army in
Mesopotamia. In N.E. Persia, a Russian Cossack force which
had shared with Indian troops the task of screening the Afghan-
Persian frontier was also withdrawn.

The Turks made no secret of their intention to advance
through the Caucasus and Persian Azerbaijan to the Caspian
and beyond. General Nuri Pasha, a half-brother of Enver
Pasha, had been appointed to the command of a newly formed

‘Army of Islam”, the object of which was to seize Azerbaijan
and the Caspian coast of Persia, rally the Moslem population
of the Caucasus, Transcaspia and Turkistan, and threaten India
from the north and north-west. Central Asia with its large
Moslem population, mainly of Turkish stock, seemed to offer a
Prospect for the realization of Turkey’s pan-Turanian plans.
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OPERATIONS IN TRANSCASPIA

There were also economic factors. The Central Powers were
short of oil, cotton, non-ferrous meétals and other commodities,
Baku oil, Georgian manganese, and Turkistan cotton (ac-
cumulated stocks of which were stored at Krasnovodsk and
along the Transcaspian Railway) would inevitably fall into
the hands of the Turks and the Germans unless counter.
measures were taken. With the Black Sea controlled by the
Turks and Germans, and the railways through the Ukraine
under German control, the Central Powers would be assured
of easy access to these supplies. No resistance to their advance
could be expected from the Russu'ins or the population of
Transcaucasia; indeed, it appeared likely tl'{z}.t the autonomous
régimes established in Georgia and Azerbaijan would, if any-
thing, facilitate their progress. ) )

Another factor was the existence in Turkistan of some
35,000 Austro-Hungarian and German prisoners of war, who
had been freed to fend for themselves by the Tashkent Soviet
after the October revolution. Reports reaching the Government
of India suggested that these men might become the spearhead
of an enemy force threatening In(-ila tl}rough Persia ang
Afghanistan if reorganized by an myz}dmg army, possibly
by arrangement with the local authorities whose anti-British
attitude had already been shown. Many of these prisoners had
already been enrolled by the Tashkent Soviet in their Req

Guards.!

II

The decision was therefore taken in January 1918, af er
consultation between London and the Army Commang in
India, to send a small force of armoured cars form Baghdag
under General Dunsterville through N W. Persia tq the
Caspian port of Enzeli, to col}aborate w1tl'§ that part of the
Cossack force under General Bicharakov w}11(:2h had refuseq to
obey the Soviet order to withdraw from Persia.2The Instructiopg
to Dunsterville at that time were to clear the road ¢, the

! Official History of the War (1914-1918) Vol. IV, Mesopotamian Campaigy,

To-c{iclcaol. fi(‘o ?{.{.Articlc in Army Quarterly, Vol. XVI, No. 2 (1 928)3

Etherton, Lt.-Col. P. T.: In the heart of Asia (London 1925)

Brun, Cap. A. H.: Troublous Times (London 1931) .

* The decision to send General Dunsterville to N.W. Persia and the Casp;
was a military one. At that time no definite decision had been arrived 5¢ regarg;:g

British action in Baku. .
Official History of the War (1914-1918) Vol. IV, Mesopotamia Cﬂmpaig,,‘
Dunsterville, Maj.-Gen. L. C.: Dunsterforce (London 1920)
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Caspian to watch developments in the Caucasus, and to
establish contact with any who were able and willing to resist
the Turkish advance. In February, it was further decided to
send small missions to Tashkent via Kashgar, and to Meshed in
Persian Khorasan to establish contacts likely to be useful if
and when the Turkish armies reached the Caspian.

After some delay, two officers of the Indian Political Depart-
ment, Lieut.-Colonel Bailey and Major Blacker, arrived in
Kashgar, where they came under the orders of the British
Consul-General, Sir George Macartney. They did not reach
Tashkent until July 1918, by which time there had been a
revolt in Transcaspia against the Tashkent Soviet, soon to be
followed by an appeal from the new anti-Soviet Government to
the British for help. All this was unknown to Bailey and Blacker,
who had no means of communicating with India; and it natur-
al}y created a most unfavourable atmosphere for negotiating
with the Tashkent Soviet on the disposal of German and
Austro-Hungarian P.O.W.s, cotton stocks and the Turkish
threat to the Central Asian Railway. The Allied landings (in
August) in Archangel and Vladivostock made matters worse,
and.the attitude of the Tashkent Soviet soon became openly
hostile. Macartney, who had joined the Mission, returned to
Kashgar with Blacker, and Bailey went into hiding until the
fo.llovying year, when he succeeded in making his way, in
disguise, through Bokhara to Persia. Bailey’s disappearance
and the failure of the local Cheka to locate him had caused great
concern to the Tashkent Soviet, and had given rise to 2 number
of egends concerning his role in inciting and organizing anti-

ussian and anti-Bolshevik revolts throughout Central Asia.3

I1I

The mission to Meshed under Major-General Malleson, an
Indian Army intelligence officer, arrived at its destination in
early July 1918. Meanwhile, Indian troops had taken over
the Screening duties abandoned by the Russians along the

ghan frontier between Birjand and Meshed. This force,

OWn as the East Persian Cordon, came under Malleson’s
Command, and was responsible for screening the frontier and
Stopping the passage of enemy agents.

? Bailey, Lt..Col, ¥, M.: Mission to Tashkent (London 1946)

Park, A. G ; Bolshevism in Turkistan (New York 1957)

4 EﬂCmy'agents, both German and Turkish, were active in Kabul at this time.
Pan-Turanian and pan-Islamic propaganda was being disseminated by Turkish
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The task of Malleson’s Mission (some half-dozen officers
and a small wireless mobile unit) was to obtain information on
developments in Transcaspia and to establish contacts. If
the Turks were to occupy Baku and attempt to use the Central
Asian Railway from Krasnovodsk to the interior, Malleson,
with the help of any friendly local elements, was to do every-
thing possible to render the railway unusable and to prevent
the stocks of cotton at Krasnovodsk and along the line from
falling into enemy hands.

About the time of the Mission’s arr'ival at Meshed a suc-
cessful revolt against the Bolshevik-dominated Tashkent Soviet
had taken place in Transcaspia. Dissatisfaction had been
developing for some time, partly due to Tashkent’s high-
handed methods, but mainly to the food shortage, following
the cutting by General Dutov’s Orenburg Cossacks of the
railway link with Russia. (The substitution of: cotton for wheat
cultivation, brought about by the Tsarist régime, had made
Turkistan dependent on Russian and Siberian grain.) Bands of
the so-called Bas-machi were active in Fergana and elsewhere,
and there was serious disaffection among the Tekke Turkmen
tribes, both settled and nomad, who formed a large part of
the population of the area between Krasnovodsk, Merv and
Khiva. The Tekkes bitterly resented interference In their
affairs by local Soviets composed mainly of Russians and
Armenians. Their leader, Oraz Sirdar (a former Colonel in
the Tsarist Army, and son of the defender of Goek Tepe against
the Russians in the eighties), was less concerned with pan-
Turanian ideas than with the right of se}fngVCrn{Tlent for the
tribal areas, and the preservation of traditional tribal life,s

The tension had come to a head in June 1918, when the
Tashkent Soviet, faced with increasing local- difficulties and
the Moslem population of Bokhara and Turkistap,

ders, Mahendra Pratap and Barkatulla, wh,

the war, and who had discussed their })lang xfmd
Lenin in Petrograd, were actively engaged m.Ta;lf}kﬁnt with the encouragement of
the local Soviet in anti-British pmpagg)nc{?olmIVg anistan and India,

Offici. ist the War (1914-1910) c .

M@ﬁ‘éﬁoﬁ?&%‘.’-fceﬁ Sir £v in Fortnightly Review, May 1923

51In 1916 a revolt of the Turkmen, Kirghiz and Kazaks took place in Turkistan
following a decision by the Tsarist Government to mobilize the native Population
for labour service at the front. Hitherto they had not been liable for military
service. :

The revolt was crushed with great severity by General Kuropatkin, the militar
Governor of Turkistan. Resentment still smouldered among the Moslem po u).'
lation at the time of the revolution and contributed to their desire tq achielzrepan
autonomous status within a federated Russian republic.

Chokaev, Mustafa: Journal of the Royal Central Asian Society Ng, XVIII (1931)

Hayit, Baymirza: Zurkistan in XX Fahrhundert (Darmstadt 1956) ?
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cut off from Moscow by Dutov, decided to mobilize Turkistan
manpower, and to tighten control over all economic resources,
including the railway workshops at Kizyl-Arvat. Resistance
to these proposals came first from the Transcaspian railway
workers. Meetings of protest took place at Kizyl-Arvat,
Ashkhabad and other centres, where Socialist Revolutionary
and Menshevik members of local Soviets began to organize
resistance to Communists. The head of the Tashkent Soviet,
Kolesov, visited Ashkhabad and declared martial law. As,
however, there continued to be protest meetings and demands
for the withdrawal of the mobilization order and for free
clections to Soviets, Tashkent dispatched a Commissar, Frolov,
with a detachment of Red Guards and instructions to liquidate
the opposition. He started a reign of terror and moved on to
Kizyl-Arvat. Here, however, the railwaymen revolted; the
Red Guards came over to the railwaymen and Frolov and a
number of Bolsheviks with him were seized and shot. A few
days later, on July 14th, the oppositionists set up a new govern-
ment in Ashkhabad consisting of Mensheviks, S.R.s and one
quke Turkmen, which rapidly extended its control along the
rallway from Krasnovodsk to Merv, arresting and sometimes
executing the former Bolshevik bosses.

The new Ashkhabad government, known as the “Ashkhabad
Committee”, had the support of the bourgeoisie and the rail-
way workers (who were strongly represented on it) and enjoyed
at least the hopeful goodwill of the Turkmen. The government’s

most urgent task was to organize a defence position near

Chardjui, where the rail crosses the Am .
Officered by e the railway cross u Darya (Oxus)

€ Russians, most of the troops available were
memans, Turkmen and Caucasians, with a few ex-soldiers of
the former Russian garrison. But they were poorly armed, with
only a few guns and little ammunition, and were no match
even fc.)r. the mixed Red force of ex-P.O.W.s, workers, and
demobilized soldiers sent against them by Tashkent. The

Ashkhahag army was forced back to Bairem Ali, some 30

miles east of Mery.
he Ashkhabad Committee, well aware that their position

f\yas grecarious, in early August appealed to General Malleson
Br elp. Two representatives, Dokhov (Menshevik) al}d
orrer (S.R.), arrived in Meshed to present their case. Dis-

cussions we

A re held and proposals for an agreement were
submitted ¢ Prop &

0 Simla and London.

136



IV

Meanwhile the position in Baku and Transcaucasia generally
had taken a turn for the worse.® Georgia, Armenia and Azer-
baijan had declared their independence in early April and
were attempting to enter into negotiations with the Turks and
Germans. Mutual distrust prevented any continued co-oper-
ation between the three Caucasian states..F riction between the
Moslem and largely pro-Turk Azerbaijanis and the Armenians
was exploited by the Turks, who occupied Batum on April 15th
and were advancing through Armenian territory towards
Azerbaijan. The Georgians established contact with the
Germans, who were now in control of the Ukraine and were
advancing into the Caucasus from Black Sea ports. General
Kress von Kressenstein, the German commander, aimed at
securing Georgian manganese and Baku oil; and a German
mission travelled to Astrakhan (presumably w1th the connivance
of Moscow) to attempt to acquire cotton and oil from the Cas-
pian area. . i

German aims appeared to be mainly economic, although the
High Command was not averse to putting pressure on the
weakest links in the British Imperial armour, India and the
Persian Gulf. There appeared to be little German sympathy
with Turkish pan-Turanian ambitions €XCept In so far as
strategic advantages could be derived from them.?

Despite the promises of autonomy made at the Bolshevik
Party Conference of April 1917 and at the Petrograd Soviet in
the following November, the actual progress of events in the
Caucasus, threatening the loss of Baku oil and Transcaspian
cotton, caused great concern to the hard-pressed Bolshevik
leadership. Several important members of the Party, Including
Shaumyan, soon to play a leading role in Baku, were sent b,
Lenin to Transcaucasia to endeavour to rally local Com-
munists and check the movements for autonomy. Hayip,
failed in Tiflis, Shaumyan and his collea}gues went on to Baky,
where the oil workers were mostly Russian and Armeniap and
the local Communists well organized. A Baku Soviet was
formed with the co-operation of the S.R.s, Menshevyiks and

® Official History of the War (1914-1918) Vol. 1V, p. 159

Dunsterville, op. cit. ) . L
7 vggsdi?lcglr.z?Gencral Freiherr: Qwischen Kaukasus und Sinai (Berlip, 1

Avalov (Avalishvili), Z.: Nezavisimost Gruzii 1918-1921 (Paris 1920)
Dunsterville, op. cit.
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Armenian “Dashnaki”, whose fear of the Turks and the pro-
Turkish Azerbaijanis drove them into the Russian camp. The
Soviet proceeded to nationalize industry, banking and shipping,
and to seize all lands belonging to those considered unfriendly
to the new régime. The Bolsheviks then set to work to undermine
the influence of their S.R., Menshevik and Dashnak partners,
and to secure absolute control of Baku. But the Turks con-
tinued to advance and an Azerbaijan Fifth Column was
actively preparing for their arrival.

By the middle of May the situation in Baku had become
chaotic. Soviet troops sent from Astrakhan were unreliable,
and local levies, with remnants of Caucasian army units, were
militarily useless. Meanwhile in north Persia the Dunsterforce
was advancing slowly and with constantly changing instructions
towards Enzeli. Following a short battle with a Persian revolu-
tionary group, the Jangalis, the port was occuped on June 27th.
Dunsterville, who had already reccived feelers from the Baku
non-Communist leaders, was now authorized to send a recon-
naissance party to Baku.

At this juncture there was an overturn in Baku. Following a
stormy session in the Soviet, all Bolshevik members resigned, and
were promptly arrested by a new government, representing
opposition groups, and calling itself the Centro-Caspian
Directorate. Negotiations with Dunsterville followed quickly.

he greater part of the Caspian merchant marine and several
warships supported the new Baku régime, and a number of
the former placed themselves at the disposal of the British. As
a result of further negotiations, the armed vessels also came
under British control, and were organized into a small Caspian
Flotilla under a British naval officer, Captain Norris, who had

een hurriedly posted to Dunsterforce for the purpose.®
he Centro-Caspian Directorate, conscious of its weakness,
urged Dunsterville to bring up as large a British force as
possible. But even with the reinforcements which had arrived
In Er}zeli from Baghdad, the British commander was unable to
IXOVIdC more than some nine hundred men and a few guns.
reI;cclhby the second week of September, Turkish pressure had
aba C’fd a stage when all hope of holding Baku had to be
S 111 oned. In the course of the final Turkish attacks the
cal forces disintegrated and Dunsterville’s only course was
to extricate and embark his own troops, who had suffered
many casualties, and withdraw to Enzeli.
(l;gfzg;»g )Capt. D., R.N. in Journal of the Central Asian Society, Vols. IX-X
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As has been seen, the events that led up to the Ashkhabad
revolt against Tashkent, the formation of the Ashkhabad
Committee, and the appeal to the Malleson Mission for help,
coincided roughly with a somewhat similar pattern of events
across the Caspian in Baku. :

Malleson’s task, as indicated earlier, was to prevent the Turks
making use of the Transcaspian Railway, and to check their
advance into Central Asia. It was in. no way to promote rebel-
lion, to pave the way for British territorial expansion or exten-
sion of political influence, or to support this or that group on
ideological grounds. The sole aim of the Mission was to take
advantage of favourable circumstances as they arose, to provide
local support where military advantage was to be gained, and
to take all possible steps with one object in view, i.e. to block
the enemy’s advance, and defeat him by all practicable means.

The terms of the agreement reached between Malleson and
the Ashkhabad representatives were inevitably provisional and
contingent on each party being in a position to fulfil the require-
ments of the other. These requirements were not necessarily
matters of common interest. The British objective was milita
and limited to the duration of hostilities; that of the Ashkhabad
Committee was to maintain itself against the Tashkent Soviet,
While the Russian members of the Committee regarded them-
selves as revolutionaries, their position after breaking with
Tashkent left little room for ideological considerations. Thejr
immediate problem was to defend themselves, to pay the rajl.
waymen and other government employees, obtain supplies of

® Soviet publications frequently refer to the existence of an agreement purporteq
to have gegn reached bcm?een a representative of the “Turkistan Mﬂ'taryml.)rl)'gani-
zation” and “The British Govcrnmcnt”,_whercby, in return for assistance, British
Protection would be extended over T'urklstan for 55 years. The origin of this story
seems to be articles which appeared in the newspaper If'ravd.a dated November 22
1922 and June 5 1923. It has been repeated \ylth.vananon's I a number of Sgyiet
books and articles, including the official publication: Trudi, vol. xix, Published by
the Tadjikistan Academy of Sciences, 1954. Also in A. H. abakhodzhaey's
book: Proval anglieskoi agressivnoi politiki v Srednei Asii (1917—;920)’ Tashkent 1955
an interesting but extremely inaccurate account of cvents in Turkistan a¢ that
time. No such agreement ever existed. Schemes of this kind were from time to
time submitted by representatives of counter-revolutionary Organizations but
ret':fived scant at;e!ﬁtiogA * is variously stated by Sovi

he signing of the “Agreement” i oviet write
taken plagcc ing Tashkent, Meshed and Krasnovodsk. No one in any of t}fzs ;op};ag;
would have had authority to negotiate any such agreement on behalf of His
Majesty’s Government.
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food, and await the outcome of the widespread reaction against
Bolshevism, which at that time seemed to have a reasonable
prospect of success. The Ashkhabad representatives accordingly
demanded military supplies, especially artillery and machine-
guns, officers to train and organize their troops, and a small
contingent of troops to stiffen their own makeshift army, money
and credit. The British requirement was co-operation in mining
the harbour of Krasnovodsk, in denying the Central Asian
Railway to the Turks, the apprehension of enemy agents, and
steps to prevent cotton supplies falling into enemy hands.

The agreement with the Ashkhabad government was
reached on the 1gth August 1918, some five weeks after the
Ashkhabad revolt and the assassination of Frolov, and not (as
1s asserted by Bolshevik writers) before that event. It will be
clear from the foregoing that no revolt in Transcaspia would
have had any chance of success had the government of Baku
remained in Bolshevist hands. While the timing of both events
was fortuitous, the coincidence of the fall of the Bolshevik
regime in Baku and the revolt against Tashkent in Transcaspia
undpubtedly influenced Simla and London in their decision
to give provisional support to both governments, and to autho-
rize Dunsterville to secure naval control of the Caspian. The
military resources at the disposal of both Dunsterforce and
ME}llcson’s Mission were too small in themselves to offer serious
Tesistance to the enemy advance, but at least they provided focal
Points for the co-ordination and stiffening of actual and poten-
tial local resistance.

cartened by the agreement with the Mission, the Ash-
F ab_ad Committee proceeded to reorganize. In addition to
untikov (S.R.) and Dorrer (S.R.), its original members, the

Ommittee included several other S.R.s and Mensheviks,

Imen (S.R.), a Merv schoolmaster and Orientalist who became

2Teign Secretary, Belov and Kurilev, both railwaymen (and
o ef:nshev1ks), and Obez Sirdar, probably as a sop to the Turk-
o ln whose horsemen formed a substantial, although unpredict-
T S Part of the Transcaspian army. One Drushkin (? S.R.), a

ashkent lawyer, was later appointed chief of police. Except

liotileZlergen apd Dorrer, the Committee rpembcrs were n‘}cn.of
in out) uiatlon or l.mowledgc of .the outside world, doctrinaire
turne dOo » and without administrative experience. Funqkov
Frol out to be as brutal and unscruf.)ulou.s as the Commissar
OV, whose execution he had organized in July.
€ appointment of a Russian regular officer, General
Kryutin, as Minister of War, brought some order into military
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affairs. Armoured trains were improvised, similar to those pos-
sessed by the Reds, although their guns were of limited range.
The front line near Bairam Ali, covering the Merv Oasis (the
chief source of the food supply), was little more than a railway
strong-point, protected by armoured trains and flanked by
thinly held positions in the desert, mainly occupied by Turkmen
cavalry.

The Tashkent Soviet mobilized reinforcements, and in early
August their troops attacked the Bairam Ali position, driving
the Transcaspian force back to Dushak, 100 miles west of the
Merv Oasis. By this time, one company of the 1g9th Punjabis,
detached from the East Persian Cordon, together with a small
machine-gun unit, had joined the Transcaspians at Dushak,
but were forced, in the face of resolute Red attacks, to fall back
to Kaakha, a few miles farther west. Here the rest of the 1gth
Punjabis, who had crossed the Persian frontier at Artyk, joined
up in time to take part in the fierce but inconclusive battle of
Kaakha.10

The total force under Oraz Sirdar’s command at that time
was less than 2,000 men, of whom more than half were Turk-
men, a courageous but unreliable element. The artillery con-
sisted of four 16-pounder field guns and some antiquated
muzzle-loaders. The impact of a regiment of well-trained
Indian infantry, and efficient machine-gun units, undoubtedly
prevented the complete rout of Oraz Sirdar’s men.1t

The Bolsheviks once back in Merv started on a policy of
vigorous repression with arrests (and frequent executions) of
Ashkhabad sympathizers and those suspected of any complicity
in the July revolt against Tashkent and in the subsequent
killing of the Bolshevik bosses- Meanwhile the loss of the Merv
Oasis—the main granary of Transcaspla—was a severe blow
to the Ashkhabad Committee. There was an acute food short-
age. Requisitioning and other counter-measures added to the
discontent. There were riots and dlsturb'ances, and the genuine
grievances of the poorer classes were skilfully exploited by the

10 K nollys, Lt.-Col. D. E. in Journal of the Central Asian Society Vol. XTII (1g2s)

11 The total strength of British and Indian troops in Transcaspia at thistime was
less than g50 men; at the time of withdrawal, the total was less thap, 1,000, a
third of which number were at Ashkhabad or on lines of communication, Trans-
caspian, Russian, Armenian and Turkmen troops were about double this number.
Apart from a few Infantry and Cavalry belonging to the East Persian Cordon. and
a hundred or so Hazara and Baluchn’!cvmg, General Malleson had no reserves at
his disposal. This was the “‘vast army which, according to some Soviet accounts,
aimed at occupying an area almost as large as Europe, and reducing it to colonial
subjection.

See Appendix.
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Bolshevik underground. Finances were chaotic, with all the
various rouble currencies steadily depreciating. Demands for
higher wages to meet the rising cost of living could not be met.
By the end of October, a revolt of the railwaymen seemed
imminent, and the Ashkhabad Committee again turned to the
British Mission for help. An ingenious financial scheme was
negotiated and put into operation, whereby promissory notes
backed by the British Mission were issued, redeemable in go
days in roubles. At the same time a reserve of silver, provided
by the Mission with the agreement of the Government of India,
was made available to enable the Ashkhabad government to
1ssue rouble notes to an agreed amount, and in due course to
pay off holders of promissory notes issued in advance as a form
of credit by the Malleson Mission.

Y this means the financial crisis was staved off, and the
recapture of the Merv Oasis (after sharp fighting and heavy
Casualties) in November enabled the government to overcome,
at least in part, the shortage of supplies. But the inept handling

Y the Committee as then constituted of so many important
Problems had lost it such popularity as it had ever enjoyed. The
urkrpen were dissatisfied, and the military pressing for more
effectxve. leadership; and a plot was on foot, actively supported
Y. ]-*:'unukov, to stage a coup d’état. In the event Drushkin (with
ritish approval) replaced the former government by a “Com-
mittee of Public Safety”, consisting of himself, Zimen, Belov

2nd Obez Baev. One of the first acts of the new régime was to
arrest Funtikov.

VI

It was before

the Agh the recapture of Merv and the reconstitution of

omm khabad Committee that the incident of the 26 Baku
when tslfars took place. These leading Bolsheviks, arrested
releaseq ? Dlrc;ctora.te as.sumed. power in Baku, were later
sary vy ollqwmg discussions with a Russian Bolshevik emis-
ment ofo arrived in Baku from Astrakhan with a small detach-
sion to ] oviet troops. The Commissars were granted permis-
was disceave for Astrakhan by sea, but were rearrested when it
wit overed that they had made clandestine arrangements,
quant € Connivance of the Soviet Mission, to ship a large
; 1ty of arms and equipment to Astrakhan. They were again
1MPprisoned, and , charge of treachery was laid against them by
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the Directorate, but they were still awaiting trial when the
Turkish Army arrived in the immediate vicinity of the city.

In the ensuing panic the Commissars were once again
released from prison (either with or without the orders of the
Directorate), and allowed to take ship to proceed to Astrakhan
with their families. They accordingly embarked on the S.S.
Turkman on September 14th, the day before the Turks arrived
in Baku. The ship’s crew, however (who had been working
for the Directorate), feared they would be arrested by the
Bolsheviks on arrival in Astrakhan; moreover, some of them
had their families in Krasnovodsk. They therefore insisted on
changing course, on the pretext there was not sufficient oil
fuel to reach Astrakhan, and arrived off Krasnovodsk at dawn
on the 15th.

The Turkman was hailed by the Krasnovodsk guardship,
whose commander, after a short conversation with the captain,
ordered the ship to proceed under escort to Ufra, a few miles
along the coast from Krasnovodsk. Meanwhile a2 message was
sent ashore from the guardship to the Town Commandant,
Kuhn, informing him of the identity of the ship’s passengers.
Kuhn immediately proceeded to Ufra with an armed escort.
When the ship had berthed, the Commissars were disarmed
and placed under arrest, being separated from their far}uhes,

Kuhn, a Caucasian Cossack officer with a reputation for
ruthlessness, was Chairman of the Krasnovpdsk Comttce as
well as Town Commandant. He immediately ngtlﬁed the
Ashkhabad Committee of the arrival of the Commissars, and
asked for instructions. At that time there was no representative
of the Meshed Mission in Krasnovodsk, the only British officer
in the vicinity being a liaison officer, Colqne} Battine, who had
recently arrived from General Dunsterville’s H.Q. at Enzeli
with a small guard. He was neither informed nor consulted by
Kuhn. .

On the 18th of September Malleson was informed by
Dokhov, the Ashkhabad liaison officer in Meshed, of the
arrival of the Commissars in Krasnovodsk and was asked for
his views. Malleson told Dokhov that in his opinion it wag
undesirable that the Commissars be allowed to proceed along
the railway, and urged that they should be handed over to the
British Mission as hostages for the numerous British subjects
who at that time were being detained by the Soviet Goverp.
ment. He offered to provide an escort to take over the Commjs.-
sars at a convenient point, and added that arrangements could
be made for their transportation to India.
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Dokhov agreed that this might be the most desirable course,
but doubted whether it would be possible to hold the Com-
missars while all the arrangements were being made. He under-
took, however, to inform the Committee of Malleson’s views,
but hinted that it might be too late to seek a solution along the
lines suggested.

Malleson, having reported to Headquarters in India, got into
touch by telegram with his own liaison officer, Captain Teague-
Jones, in Ashkhabad, giving him an account of the conversa-
tion with Dokhov, and instructing him to press his (Malleson’s)
views on the Committee. This the liaison officer, who in the
meanwhile had been given some account of the situation by
Zimen, proceeded to do, and requested the Committee (which
was then in Session) to inform him in due course of their deci-
sion. The Committee had already received Dokhov’s report,
and had also received an urgent request from Kuhn to take the

COI}Imissars off his hands as insufficient accommodation was
available in the local jail, and he feared (or affected to fear)
that the pro-Bolshevik sympathizers among the dock and rail-
way workers would attempt to release them by force.
¢ Committee, consisting of Funtikov, Kurilev, Zimen and
orrer, sat until a late hour, apparently without reaching agree-
ment. It subsequently became known that both Funtikov and
Kurilev were in favour of shooting the Commissars, while the
other two members of the Committee, although opposing this
glsctmn, were unable to suggest any practical alternative. There
COHQ Sure evidence as to whether the Committee intended to
tthlder the matter further at a subsequent session, or whether
Y eémpowered Funtikov to act as he saw fit. But in any case
o:lmtl OV sent instructions to Kuhn to execute the Commissars
the charge of having “betrayed Baku to the Turks”.
the his order Kuhn proceeded to carry out. On the night of
the 11 9th-20th September the 26 Commissars, among them
Bakueadmg member§ of t'he former Bolshevik government in
taken’b aumyan, ngpapdze, Korganov, and Fjolctov, were
of Krg Y train to a point in the dese}'t, some 200 kilometres east
S ,Snovodsl.(, and thcr.e summanly‘shot.
the Illnf9rmat10n regarding the shooting was allowed to reach
l‘eacllie d ¢, and no explanation as to how the decision was
ally m Wwas ever offered to the British. Teague-Jones eventu-
—anaged to contact Funtikov late on the night of the 1gth;
miSSar:;;’ who had been dl:inking, stated bluntly that the Con}-
ive ad been shot. Neither then nor later were any details
given. Malleson (who meanwhile had obtained the agreement
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of Simla to his proposals for dealing with the matter), as soon
as he heard what had happened, sent a strong protest to the
Ashkhabad Committee, in which his superiors in Simla fully
concurred.

By its action in executing the Commissars, the Ashkhabad
Committee forfeited any chance that might have remained for
coming to any sort of working arrangement with Tashkent. The
Committee were by no means united and some members showed
a disposition to dissociate themselves from Funtikov’s views
and actions. The Committee became less than ever able to cope
with their tasks and the situation came to a head in the
financial crisis a few weeks later. The subsequent reorganiza-
tion of the government into a Committee of Public Safety has
already been mentioned. .

It seems unlikely that news of the shooting of the Commissars
became known in Moscow until February or March of the new
year, although their disappearance had been the subject of
enquiry to H.M. Government by the Soviet Foreign M1m§ter,
M. Chicherin, towards the end of September.?? At that time,
H.M. Government in London was not aware of the shooting.
A number of British officials in Moscow and the Nortlh Caucasus
had been arrested and were being hp}d by the Soviet Govern-
ment, and it was the desire of the Brltlsh.Govc}'nme.n!; to secure
their release by exchange of Soviet detainees in British hands,
among whom, it was supposed, the Commissars would be
numbered.13 Lo ) .

The first public reference to the incident gppeargd in an
article published in the Baku newspaper, Knamia Trudi, early in
March 1g1g. By this time British forces under the command of
General Thompson were now in occupation of Baku, having
arrived some time previously from Constantinople to ensure
that the terms of the armistice with Turkey were carried out,
The article was written by one Vadim Chaikin, a Socialist
Revolutionary journalist who had visited Transcaspia some
time previously, and had evidently gained some knowledge of
the affair either on the spot from ex-members of the Ashkhabad
government or from persons arriving in Baku from TranscasPia,
One of his main informants may well have been Funtikov hipm.
self: the latter was under arrest at the time of Chiakin’s visit to

12 White Paper, Russia No. 1 (1923) Correspondence between H.M. Government and
Soviet Government. .. . e

13 Reports of the arrest of British subjects and of the conditions in which they
were being held were the subject of exchanges between t}le Soviet Foreign Office
and M. Chicherin at that time, and in the absence of British official representation
in Moscow werc conducted through neutral channels.
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Ashkhabad, and Chaikin claims to have seen him in prison. Itis
very possible that Funtikov and his associates were anxious to
shift from their own shoulders any responsibility for the execu-
tion of the Commissars; this would not be the only occasion
during the Civil War where Allied officers were found to be
convenient scapegoats.

Chaikin, in his articles, placed the blame for the shooting
squarely on the British, suggesting that the action was carried
out by British instigation, and that British officers had actually
been present. Not unnaturally, these articles caused some excite-
ment. A dementi was issued in the Baku Press, and Chaikin was
asked to produce evidence, but declined, except on terms which
were unacceptable to the British commander.14

Chaikin’s articles were shortly afterwards followed by a book
which he published in Moscow, in which he reiterated his
charges, elaborating his previous account by giving a “circum-
Stantial” account of the tragedy, and mentioning the names of
various British and Transcaspian government officials and per-
sonalities a5 having been personally implicated.

,Thc publicatiqn of Chaikin’s book was followed by the trans-
fussion of a Soviet wireless message en clair on the 2grd April,
in whlqh the Soviet Government accused the British of being
responsible for the transportation of the Commissars from Baku,
aclgrcllti(i)rrl tcliu;lr subs.cc.lu’ent arrest and execution. The statements
whola 1ed 1n Chaikin’s book were quoted in evidence, and the
Incident was presented as an example of British perfidy

and callous brutality.
*:hg%w‘ey }?overnmcnt declined to accept any assurance
any resog 1’1_%§1i Government that no British representative had
aky OIP fn51 ity for the evacuation of the Commissars from
this das - or tbelr subsequent shooting; and has con.tmu.ed to
cal aCgom its internal and e;gternal proPagar}da, ar.ld in histori-
edition, u?ts of the revolptmnary penqd, including the two
exactly ag the Qreat S.ov.zet’ Enc_yclopaedza to present the case
26 Copy Stated in Chaikin’s articles and book. The fate of the
revolutiormssars has become part of the epic of the Bolshevik
in Picturn’ and is presented in chapter and verse, no less than
paintiy se and sculpture, as a British-inspired action. (Some
with B fiﬁgo so far as to depict the execution of the Commissars

sh officers standing by with smoking revolvers.)

from

14 Ch e
tatives, abléusn demanded that a mixed commission, including Bolshevik represen-
was rejecte detbuP as a public board of enquiry with safeguards for witnesses. This
merely as Y the British Commander who evidently considered it would serve

2 Platform for propaganda.
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The reoccupation of Merv in November by the Transcaspian
army, now reinforced by two squadrons of Indian cavalry from
Meshed, and a battery of artillery and two companies of in-
fantry from Enzeli via Krasnovodsk, enabled Oraz Sirdar, the
Transcaspian commander, to consolidate his position some
30 miles cast of Merv. Meanwhile the Red forces had been con-
siderably reinforced by troops and military material from
Kushkh, the terminus of the branch line from Merv to the
Afghan frontier. Armoured trains were equipped with heavier
guns. The Red command was reorganized, discipline and
administration were tightened up, and the lessons of the recent
fighting with Indian regular troops were noted and digested.

The surrender of Turkey at the end of October, followed
shortly by that of Austria and Germany, brought about a
change in the political and military situation, bqt some months
were to elapse before the British were able to disengage them-
selves from Transcaspia. A threatening situation ‘bcgan. to de-
velop in Afghanistan, where the enemies of the Emir Habibullah
were plotting his assassination, and the security of the North-
West Frontier of India became a matter of concern.

In the reactionary and still independent state of Bokhara, a
democratic party known as the Young BOk!larans. were in
touch with the Tashkent Soviet with whom their relations were
intermittently good and bad. The Emir of Bokhara, anxious
about his future, was attempting to enlist the support of Kabul
and Teheran, and towards the end of 1918 had even made
tentative approaches to the British Mission in Meshed. A simj-
lar situation had developed in the remote and equally reac-
tionary state of Khiva, whose government was in the hands of
an ex-bandit, and whose relations with the Russian Reds were
no less strained. ;

Tashkent’s relations with Bokhara had been mishandleq by
Kolesov (the Chairman of the Soviet) who, after making
clumsy attempt to overturn the Emir’s government with the
co-operation of the Young Bokharans, was forced to come to
terms, but awaited an opportunity to renew the attack. Meap.
while the general confusion was accentuated.by the intrigues
and manceuvres of a number of anti-Bo]slgew}; elements from
Basmachi groups to underground orgamzations of Ruygsjap
ex-officers who, in spite of their very different origin ang out-
look, found common ground for opposing the Bolsheviks.
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The Emir of Bokhara received little positive benefits from
his approaches to Kabul and to the British Mission. The Emir
of Afghanistan offered sympathy and advice, a few officers to
assist in training the Bokharan Army, and some equipment. The
British Mission, conscious of the military advantage of the
existence of a Bokharan Army as a potential threat to the Turki-
stan Red Army flank, encouraged the Ashkhabad Committee
to keep in contact with the Emir. Early in 1919, in response to
a plea for military equipment, Malleson sent a small consign-
ment of rifles and ammunition to Bokhara by camel train,
accompanied by two Indian Army non-commissioned officers.
But he advised the Emir to avoid, as far as possible, being drawn
into rmht;s.ry operations unless attacked.1®

It was in this atmosphere of uncertainty, with no clear direc-
tives from Simla or London, that the British Mission continued
to provide support to the Transcaspian government and mili-
tary forces after the surrender of the Central Powers. Early in
anuary 1gig, the British force in Transcaspia, now about
1,000 strong, came under the direction of the British Com-
mander-in-Chief Black Sea, General Milne, whose troops had
9cc,i{P1€d Constantinople and were taking over key positions
W lranscaucasia, including Baku. Brigadier Beatty, an Indian
trorélys officer, was plach in command of British and Indian
Com?n atdthe Tx:apscasplar.l front near Annenkovo, the tactical
on Ja r?n remaining nominally W}th Oraz Sirdar. Red attacks
and it lsleary 16th were repulsed with heavy losses to the Reds,
a resolut:r:‘id (lzfrtaln both to Beatty and to Oraz'Slrd.ar. thz}t
back to oL ack on the Red Army would succeed in driving it
owe ardjui on the Amu Darya. .

Ministerver’ by this time it was the policy of the British Prime
territe %erut an end to military commitments on Russian
urllikelliy}{ ith the disappearance of the Turkish threat, and the
any day, ood of the ex-enemy prisoners in Turkistan constituting
keep Bﬁgt:;ar to Indla., there was no longer any military reason to
ghanist: troops in Transcaspia. Moreover, the situation in

N was uncertain and any available troops might well

€ nee . - P
- Sded to deal with possible disturbance from that quarter.
n Saus
stated thac;gc,: accounts of British relations with Bokhara and Khiva, it is frcquen}ly
their forces T‘}‘lmbcr of British officers were sent to both places to train and organize
a dozen to gq . 1umber of these officers is variously stated as being anything from
the two Indiag'Nn fact, no British officers were ever sent to Bokhara, other than
rifles. Genera] Ds O who accompanied the delivery of a small consignment of
poses, but no o unsterville establnshcq contact with Khiva for intclligence pur-
passage through cers were sent to Khiva. Colonel Bailey’s whereabouts and his
hi ival i &0 Bokhara in disguise were unknown to the Meshed Mission, until
1s arrival in Persia in Feb, 1 920.
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Malleson was therefore informed in February of the intention
to withdraw all British and Indian troops from Transcaspia
at the earliest possible date. For the time being, he was in-
structed that British and Indian troops at the front were not to
advance beyond their present positions. Despite the difficulty
of complying with such an order (particularly in the event of a
Red Army attack), Beatty had no alternative but to make the
best of the situation. To announce the intended British with-
drawal before taking steps to safeguard the situation at the front
as well as at Ashkhabad, was to court disaster. Malleson, after
consultation with his military chiefs, obtained permission to
postpone the actual departure until March, by which time it
was estimated the Transcaspian government (warned in con-
fidence) would be able to obtain compensating reinforcements
from Denikin’s forces in the North Caucasus. Meanwhile,
rumours were put into circulation designed to reach the ears of
Tashkent, that the British were planning a large-scale flanking
operation. These rumours were cvic!ently effective as no further
attack on the Transcaspian position took place before the
British withdrawal to Meshed and Baku.

Early in March the intention to withdraw was made public.
Not unnaturally, it caused considerable alarm and despondency
particularly among the Turkmen, with whom British and
Indian officers and men had become extremely friendly. A for-
mal request was made by Turkmen leaders to General Malleson
for British protection to be extended to their tribal areas, a plea
which, of course, could not be entertained.’® Appeals to
General Malleson to delay the departure of British troops were
made by all classes. The actual date of withdrawal was post-
poned until the 1st April, by whic.h.date rcmforcement.s had
begun to arrive from General Denikin. By the 5th April, the
last of the British and Indian troops had left, together with those
officers of the Mission who had been in liaison with the Com-
mittee in Ashkhabad. . L

On the departure of the British, the situation on the Trans-
caspian front remained quiet, except for patrol skirmishes, until

16 Even those Turkmen leaders who looked towards tl'lc advancing Turks for
protection turncd to the British after the collapse of Turkish pan-Turanian plans.
Of all the Turki tribes of Russian Turkistan, the Tekke were the least reconciled
to Russian domination. Lo

From time to time, tentative approaches werc made by individual Basmachi
leaders to the British Consulate-General in Kashgar, but they received little en-
couragement from that quarter, despitc Soviet charges of active collusion,

Etherton, op. cit. Castagne, Jos.: Les Basmachis (Paris 1g925)

Malleson, Maj.-Gen. Sir W. in Journal of the Central Asian Society, Vol, IX-X

(1922-1923)
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May, when the Tashkent Soviet army attacked in force and
reoccupied Merv. During the next few weeks the Trans-
caspians were forced farther westwards, and by the 15th July
they evacuated Ashkhabad. They held on to Kizyl-Arvat for a
few weeks, then retreated to Krasnovodsk, which fell to the
Red Army in the late autumn.

Most members of the Committee found their way to Baku
or crossed over to Persia, where several of the Turkmen leaders,
including Oraz Sirdar, took refuge. Many Turkmen joined the
Khivan irregular force under the ex-bandit leader Djunaid-
Khan, whose bands were a thorn in the flesh to the Bolsheviks
until Turkistan was overrun by the Red Army under Frunze
and Kuibyshev after the defeat of Kolchak. The fate of the
majority of the Ashkhabad leaders is unknown, but it is be-
lieved that several of them were captured in Baku later an
executed.

Thus ended an episode, which by now has become merely
one of the many obscure and incidental side-shows of British
military history—an almost forgotten campaign.

The Malleson Mission remained in Meshed until the spring
of 1920. During the Afghan War, which broke out a few weeks
after the withdrawal from Transcaspia, the Mission, now some-
what Precariously situated, conducted intelligence and counter-
Propaganda activities against the Afghan Government and
thosg: authorities north of the border who were believed to be
seckn}g to exploit the war to their advantage. The confusion
that is reflected in Soviet accounts of the conflict and its sub-
Séquent repercussions in Turkistan may be attributed to some
extent to the success of the Mission’s propaganda activities.
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APPENDIX

BRITISH AND INDIAN TROOPS TAKING PART
IN OPERATIONS IN TRANSCASPIA,
AUGUST 1918 TO APRIL 1919

1. From August 1918 until November 1918.
28th Indian Cavalry, 2 Squadrons
1g9th Punjabi Infantry, 2 Companies

2. From November 1918 until April 1919.
28th Indian Cavalry, 3 Squadrons
1gth Punjabi Infantry, 3 Companies
1 /4th Hampshire Regt., 1 Company
Royal Warwick Regt., 2 Companies
44th Battery, Royal Field Artillery
British and Indian Details, from East Persian Cordon
and Dunsterforce—about 50 officers and other ranks.

Total British strength at time of evacuation: 950 officers
and men.
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